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CHARACTERISTICS OF GEM OF THE STOCK EXCHANGE OF HONG KONG LIMITED (THE
“STOCK EXCHANGE”)

GEM has been positioned as a market designed to accommodate small and mid-sized companies to which a higher
investment risk may be attached than other companies listed on the Stock Exchange. Prospective investors
should be aware of the potential risks of investing in such companies and should make the decision to invest
only after due and careful consideration.

Given that the companies listed on GEM are generally small and mid-sized companies, there is a risk that
securities traded on GEM may be more susceptible to high market volatility than securities traded on the Main
Board and no assurance is given that there will be a liquid market in the securities traded on GEM.

Hong Kong Exchanges and Clearing Limited and the Stock Exchange take no responsibility for the contents of
this report, make no representation as to its accuracy or completeness and expressly disclaim any liability
whatsoever for any loss howsoever arising from or in reliance upon the whole or any part of the contents of this
report.

This report, for which the directors (the “Directors”) of Polyfair Holdings Limited (the “Company”) collectively
and individually accept full responsibility, includes particulars given in compliance with the Rules Governing the
Listing of Securities on GEM of the Stock Exchange (the “GEM Listing Rules”) for the purpose of giving information
with regard to the Company. The Directors, having made all reasonable enquiries, confirm that to the best of their
knowledge and belief, the information contained in this report is accurate and complete in all material respects
and not misleading or deceptive, and there are no other matters the omission of which would make any statement
herein or this report misleading.

ERBEXREZMARATA(EXIF]) GEMBEE

GEMWEMN  NAFPMEAFRE-—ELTHTES  BEQXTALERAMERIALTHNARATERSRERR -
FERENATETRBRENRZEAANEERR YRKBFHEATNZERAFHRERE -

HRGEMLET AT EEAT/NERF  EGEMEENEBHTHERNIRNEE B AZIRANT SR AR
BRELIRIFCGEMEENE SRS RBENTS -

ERRERGEEMERAARBXAMBABENATHRFIEE  BHERM AT BEM TS ARREMRE - LHE
RTBAEEAREEHRIAEABIARMELIERAEZEATMI BN EFEREREETMESE -

FAEENERBIANGEMES LM RA(GEMET R DMAER  EERHEREABRZERERIA(EQFLD
MER FLAFANEE(ESZNERAREABREN G AELZHEE FSESEFE IS EERNERER 5
REMARFGE FAREFBENEREZTANBERTH  RAREAKFRD AYXBBEREMEMBSE
B BUASABERETBEMARELELERE -



Contents

5 &

2-3

6—-15

16—22

23-38

39-53

54—-67

Corporate Information 68-77
DAVEH

Chairman’s Statement 78
ITEHRE

Management Discussion and Analysis 79
IR E 5 A B AT

Biographical Details of Directors and 80
Senior Management
HERSREEEE

Corporate Governance Report 81

TEERRSE
Environmental, Social and Governance 82-179

Report
R -HEkERBE

Directors’ Report 180

EFEHE

Independent Auditor’s Report
B X B R S

Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss and
Other Comprehensive Income

AR kEbE2ERAXR

Consolidated Statement of Financial Position

e MBRR R

Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity

GARBEDE

Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows

RABReRER

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

A mRME

Financial Summary

MBHE

Annual Report 2019 —Z— R EFH{ 1



Corporate Information

DA ER

BOARD OF DIRECTORS EES
Executive Directors HITES

Mr. Chow Mo Lam (Chairman) AR M E(FEE)
Mr. Yu Lap On Stephen (Chief Executive Officer) RYBREE(TTHAAE)
Mr. Wong Kam Man B EE
Independent non-executive Directors BYFHITES
Dr. Lung Cheuk Wah EEFEFHL

Mr. Ng Ka Lok REETE

Mr. Wong Chi Yung FEBXE
BOARD COMMITTEES EEZES
Audit Committee EREE®
Dr. Lung Cheuk Wah (Chairman) BREERLT (FE)
Mr. Ng Ka Lok RR&5%H

Mr. Wong Chi Yung FTEBXE
Remuneration Committee FHEZEE
Mr. Ng Ka Lok (Chairman) RRE 5 E(FE)
Mr. Chow Mo Lam AR Mo £

Mr. Yu Lap On Stephen RYRRAE

Dr. Lung Cheuk Wah EEEHL

Mr. Wong Chi Yung FEBXE
Nomination Committee REZE®
Mr. Wong Chi Yung (Chairman) FTEBEREFEE)
Dr. Lung Cheuk Wah BEEEFHL

Mr. Ng Ka Lok REGEFTH
AUTHORISED REPRESENTATIVES REARRX

Mr. Yu Lap On Stephen RIULZRAE

Ms. Cheng Wing Sze (Appointed on 22 February 2019)
Mr. Chow Mo Lam (Resigned on 22 February 2019)

BiksFZ T (R2019F 28228 B £ )
J& B MR 5 & (PR 20194F2 A22 B B (1)

COMPLIANCE OFFICER EREME
Mr. Chow Mo Lam B R A
COMPANY SECRETARY NEME

Bl ok i% 22+ (201942 A22 B E & 1)
REMEZ L (R2018F12A 4B EZE LR

Ms. Cheng Wing Sze (Appointed on 22 February 2019)
Ms. Cheung Kin Yan (Appointed on 14 December 2018 and

resigned on 22 February 2019) 20192 228 B 1£)
Mr. Wong Kam Yin (Resigned on 14 December 2018) FEHRE K4 (R2018F12 A48 B 1E)
INDEPENDENT AUDITOR B % B

Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu =Y.-EAERAF SR
Certified Public Accountants HEDEAN

COMPLIANCE ADVISER SREMN
First Shanghai Capital Limited FE—LBRMEBERAR
(Appointed on 29 May 2019) (FR2019F 5200 & £ 1£)
Sunfund Capital Limited (Resigned on 7 May 2019) R EARBMRAR(R20195A7A B )

2  Polyfair Holdings Limited = 8 3 i3 5 fR A =)



LEGAL ADVISER
Hong Kong Law
Loeb & Loeb LLP

PRINCIPAL BANKERS

DBS Bank (Hong Kong) Limited
Citibank, N.A., Hong Kong Branch
Nanyang Commercial Bank, Ltd.
Hang Seng Bank Limited

REGISTERED OFFICE

Cricket Square

Hutchins Drive, P.O. Box 2681
Grand Cayman KY1-1111
Cayman lIslands

HEAD OFFICE AND PRINCIPAL PLACE
OF BUSINESS IN HONG KONG

Unit 1206-7, 12th Floor

Fortress Tower

250 King’s Road

North Point

Hong Kong

SHARE REGISTRAR AND TRANSFER OFFICE

Cayman Islands Principal Share Registrar and
Transfer Office

Conyers Trust Company (Cayman) Limited

Cricket Square

Hutchins Drive, P.O. Box 2681

Grand Cayman KY1-1111

Cayman lslands

Hong Kong Branch Share Registrar and
Transfer Office

Tricor Investor Services Limited
Level 22

Hopewell Centre

183 Queen’s Road East

Hong Kong

COMPANY WEBSITE

www.polyfaircurtainwall.com.hk

(information of this website does not form part of this report)

STOCK CODE
8632

Corporate Information

DEEH
EEEE
BB LA
LEERFHRERERRTEY
FEEREBAT

ERBT(EB)ARRA
TEEBITEEDT
MAFRMERTERAR
BAERITAERRAT

At =R

Cricket Square

Hutchins Drive, P.O. Box 2681
Grand Cayman KY1-1111
Cayman lIslands

HEBRBEBITELEX MR

&5

it A&

&2 E2505%
b A 5 A D
1211206-7%

ROBFERE
MEHETEROBFERLE

Conyers Trust Company (Cayman) Limited
Cricket Square

Hutchins Drive, P.O. Box 2681

Grand Cayman KY1-1111

Cayman lIslands

EERDBFERIE
HEBEBLBRAR

B

27 KER1835%

A

2218

YNETE Bl

www.polyfaircurtainwall.com.hk

Ut 48 5 P 0 8 PHRE T 48 B AR 3R 10— 55))
4 R 5%

8632

Annual Report 2019 =& — h F £




4

Chairman’s Statement

ETR®|E

Dear Shareholders,

On behalf of the board (the “Board”) of directors (the “Directors”)
of Polyfair Holdings Limited (the “Company”, together with its
subsidiaries, the “Group”), | am pleased to present to you the
annual report for the year ended 31 March 2019 (the “Reporting
Period”).

REVIEW

The shares of the Company (the “Share(s)”) were successfully
listed on GEM of the Stock Exchange (the “Listing”) on 23 February
2018. It was a milestone for the Group and boosted the confidence
of our stakeholders, enhanced the Group’s corporate profile and
strengthened the Group’s competitiveness.

RESULTS

The total revenue of the Group decreased by approximately
HK$56.0 million or 20.6% from approximately HK$271.8 million for
the year ended 31 March 2018 to approximately HK$215.8 million
for the year ended 31 March 2019. Such decrease was mainly
attributable to the substantial completion of two sizable projects
from which a substantial portion of revenue from these projects
has been recognised prior to the year ended 31 March 2019 and
two of our current projects were delayed due to change of building
design of developer and delayed work progress of main contractor.

FORWARD

Looking ahead, the Group is confident about the prospect of the
facade and curtain wall works solution industry in Hong Kong due
to the expected growth of the construction industry in Hong Kong
driven by the Hong Kong Government’s initiatives to increase the
public housing supply, land supply for private housing as well as
commercial buildings.
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APPRECIATION

On behalf of the Board, | wish to take this opportunity to express
my sincere gratitude to all of our customers, shareholders and
business partners for their patronage. | would also like to express
our sincere appreciation to the Group’s management and staff
for their commitment, contribution and dedication throughout the
years.

By order of the Board
Chow Mo Lam
Chairman

21 June 2019
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Management Discussion and Analysis
EEENWED

BUSINESS REVIEW

We are a subcontractor that provides facade and curtain wall
works solutions in Hong Kong. Our solutions are customised to
meet the technical specifications and performance requirements
of our customers. We generally provide both design and build
services in our projects, ranging from developing designs,
conducting structural calculations, preparing shop drawings,
sourcing and procuring building materials, arranging for building
material logistics and installation works, project management to
post-project completion services. We engage subcontractors to
perform the installation work from time to time.

As at 31 March 2019, the Group had 6 projects in progress with
a total original contract sum of approximately HK$319.3 million,
of which HK$150.0 million was recognised as revenue during the
Reporting Period.

During the Reporting Period, we were awarded three new projects,
namely Sha Tsui Road, Pok Fu Lam Road and Good Hope School,
with a total contract sum of approximately HK$112.4 million. Letter
of award of these three projects were signed and all these three
projects are now at the commencement stage.

Subsequent to the Reporting Period, we were awarded one
new project, namely Kai Tak KT1K, with a total contract sum of
approximately HK$200.0 million.

OUTLOOK

The demand for facade and curtain wall works is driven by
construction of residential and commercial buildings. The
development of residential buildings in Hong Kong has been a
major driver of facade and curtain wall works and the number grew
from 17,791 new units in 2017 to 20,968 new units in 2018.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

Another driver for the facade and curtain wall works industry is
office buildings in Hong Kong where the Hong Kong Government
puts effort in developing areas like Kowloon East as new business
areas. According to The Hong Kong Property Review 2019
compiled by the Rating and Valuation Department, completions of
Grade A offices were 178,500 m?in 2018, representing a slide of
4% from 2017. Majority of the new developments came from Kwun
Tong and Eastern district, contributing 77% of the Grade A office
completions. These buildings included both installation of curtain
wall systems as the envelop system above the podium and the
works for the building entrance, lobby and the associate stores.

Notwithstanding the negative impact from the economic slowdown
driven by the China’s macro-economic conditions, the Group
remains optimistic about its core business as the management
believes that there is a market for quality facade and curtain wall
works in Hong Kong. The Group will further strengthen its sales
effort, closely monitor the status of the projects and carefully
control the cost of services as to expand its customer base and
achieve sustainable business growth and long-term benefits to its
shareholders. We are hoping to be more competitive and able to
compete for more sizeable and profitable projects.

FINANCIAL REVIEW
Revenue

The total revenue of the Group decreased by approximately
HK$56.0 million or 20.6% from approximately HK$271.8 million for
the year ended 31 March 2018 to approximately HK$215.8 million
for the year ended 31 March 2019. Such decrease was mainly
attributable to the substantial completion of two sizable projects
while a substantial portion of revenue from these projects has
been recognised prior to the Reporting Period and two of our
current projects were delayed due to change of building design of
developer and delayed work progress of main contractor.

EEEN WD

EHIIMEREEIRTENS —ANEERES
BHOMIAEFT MEBBRNTERNKNE
RERERERAFHER - BREEZMWE
HEBSHREN(EEMERET2019) - 20184
FAESFTERNENKE A178,500F K » &
2017 TEs% - TERIBEAZRBE
MRE - ERRETEERENTT% - ZF
BFRELEERARERTAENLNE
EER O UREFAD - RERHEBEEHT

12 o

BEXIPEZELBERREXNEER
BRI EHRNERERREBEINEEE
BIRERAE —EMH  MAKEHHE
BRLEBDIHEBRERE - AEEKE—F
R HEENE  BYEEREMNR - EE
26 RIE AR  LAYE KE P BRI 45 34 Al #F
BEBREERBRREEMNZ - RMAFER
SEFEN WERKREZAKBAEHNAED
HE -

Bt %5 O B8
Uy #8

AEBMNBKZHEE2018F3ANBILEF
[E W 4271.88 & & JL R 2 #4156.08 B & T
520.6% £ & £2019F 383 1A IEFEMLD
2158888 L - BARLEEZ AN A
ABEEAMEL AW EERREH
AT - MM ERAEEBAEEREE R
BFRALBADHIRERRKERMAMN
JEFRFTEL o

Annual Report 2019 ZZE—NEF K

7




8

Management Discussion and Analysis

B E S AT

Cost of Sales

The Group’s cost of sales primarily consisted of building material
costs, subcontracting charges, staff costs and other direct costs.
The cost of services decreased to approximately HK$203.4 million
for the year ended 31 March 2019 from approximately HK$234.4
million for the year ended 31 March 2018, representing a decrease
of approximately 13.2%. The decrease referred to a net result of:
(i) the decrease in revenue; and (ii) additional subcontracting costs
incurred when carrying out certain projects.

For two projects at Victory Avenue and Prince Edward Road
West, which were completed as at 31 March 2019, the Group was
informed by the main contractors of each of the projects that the
works performed by a subcontractor was not satisfactory and
was requested to rectify the works within limited time. Under
such tight schedule, the Group engaged other subcontractors and
incurred additional costs to rectify the works. For the rectification
works and variation orders arised from the accusation, the Group
was requested by the original subcontractor to pay the wages
of the original subcontractor’s workers on its behalf temporarily.
Subject to the conclusion of final accounts, all of these costs
and expenses should be reimbursed by the original subcontractor
according to the contract between the Group and the original
subcontractor.

Having discussed with the Company’s legal adviser, the Group’s
management has issued demand letters in February and April
2019 to the original subcontractor requesting payment of
outstanding sums owed by the original subcontractor to the Group.
As at the date of this report, we are waiting for reply from the
subcontractor.

The Group is seeking legal advice to take further steps to recover

the outstanding sums. The Group will endeavour to take all
necessary measures to recover the outstanding amount.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

Gross Profit and Average Gross Profit Margin

The Group’s gross profit decreased by approximately HK$25.1
million from approximately HK$37.5 million for the year ended
31 March 2018 to approximately HK$12.4 million for the year
ended 31 March 2019. The Group’s average gross profit margin
decreased from approximately 13.8% for the year ended 31
March 2018 to approximately 5.7% for the year ended 31 March
2019, representing a decrease of approximately 8.1 percentage
points. The decrease was due to the fact that (i) additional sub-
contracting costs incurred when carrying out certain projects;
and (ii) the average gross profit margin of new projects was lower
than the projects for the year ended 31 March 2018 as a result of
increasing competition from other contractors seeking to tender
projects at lower price.

Other Income, Gain and Loss

Other income, gain and loss increased by approximately HK$1.9
million for the year ended 31 March 2019 mainly due to the fair
value change of life insurance.

Impairment Losses

Impairment losses increased by approximately HK$1.8 million
from nil for the year ended 31 March 2018 to approximately
HK$1.8 million for the year ended 31 March 2019. The increase
was mainly attributable to the adoption of HKFRS 9.

Administrative Expenses

Administrative expenses of the Group increased by approximately
HK$2.4 million from approximately HK$11.8 million for the year
ended 31 March 2018 to approximately HK$14.2 million for the
year ended 31 March 2019. Administrative expenses consisted
primarily of staff costs and Directors’ emoluments, depreciation,
legal and professional fee, rental expenses and other
administrative expenses. The increase was mainly attributable to
the increase in staff costs of approximately HK$1.2 million due to
the increase in (i) unsuccessful tendering cost; and (ii) number of
staff and salary level in Hong Kong during the Reporting Period,
and the increase in rental expenses of approximately HK$1.0
million mainly for the new Hong Kong office.
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Management Discussion and Analysis
B E S AT

Finance Costs

Finance costs increased from approximately HK$3.0 million for
the year ended 31 March 2018 to approximately HK$5.2 million for
the year ended 31 March 2019. The increase in finance costs was
mainly attributable to the increase in average bank borrowings to
finance our business.

Other Expenses

Other expenses decreased by approximately HK$14.5 million from
approximately HK$14.5 million for the year ended 31 March 2018
to nil for the year ended 31 March 2019. The decrease was mainly
attributable to the one-off listing expenses of approximately
HK$14.5 million recognised during the year ended 31 March 2018.

Taxation

The income tax credit for the year ended 31 March 2019 was
approximately HK$0.3 million as compared to the income tax
expenses of approximately HK$3.9 million for the year ended 31
March 2018. Such change was mainly attributable to the losses
incurred for the year ended 31 March 2019 and the recognition of
deferred tax assets arised from expected credit losses.

(Loss) profit for the Year

Loss for the year ended 31 March 2019 was approximately HK$6.6
million as compared to the profit of approximately HK$4.2 million
for the year ended 31 March 2018. Such change was mainly
attributable to the decrease in the gross profit of approximately
HK$25.1 million and increase in administrative expenses of
approximately HK$2.4 million for the year ended 31 March 2019.

LIQUIDITY AND FINANCIAL RESOURCES

On 23 February 2018, the shares of the Company were listed on
GEM of the Stock Exchange (the “Listing”) to raise gross proceeds
of approximately HK$56 million. Details of the use of proceeds are
set out in the paragraph headed “Use of Proceeds” in this annual
report.

Except for the proceeds raised from the Listing, the Group’s
capital expenditure and daily operations during the year ended
31 March 2019 were mainly funded by cash generated from its
operations and external borrowings.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

Cash and bank balances as at 31 March 2019 was approximately
HK$14.8 million, decreased by approximately HK$49.5 million
when compared with HK$64.3 million as at 31 March 2018. The
decrease was mainly due to the cash used in daily operation of
approximately HK$23.6 million and repayment of bank borrowings
(net) of approximately HK$19.8 million.

The pledged deposits, including both the non-current and current
portions, as at 31 March 2019 was approximately HK$32.1 million,
increased by approximately HK$0.1 million when compared with
HK$32.0 million as at 31 March 2018, as a result of the interests
generated from pledged deposits.

As at 31 March 2019, the Group had outstanding borrowings of
approximately HK$94.5 million repayable on demand or within
one year (2018: HK$110.2 million) and outstanding borrowings
of approximately HK$2.9 million repayable after one year (2018:
HK$7.0 million). The Group’s borrowings were denominated in Hong
Kong dollars (“HK$”). The amounts due are based on scheduled
repayment dates set out in the loan agreements. For information
about the interest rate, please refer to note 23 to the consolidated
financial statements of this report.

The current ratio of the Group as at 31 March 2019 was 1.4 times
as compared to that of 1.2 times as at 31 March 2018. The gearing
ratio, being the net debt (defined as bank borrowings less cash
and cash equivalents and pledged bank deposits) divided by
net debt plus total equity at the end of the year, increased from
approximately 23.0% to approximately 45.1% as at 31 March 2018
and 31 March 2019, respectively.

CAPITAL STRUCTURE

The shares of the Company were successfully listed on GEM of the
Stock Exchange on 23 February 2018. There has been no change
in the capital structure of the Group since then. The share capital
of the Group only comprises of ordinary shares.

As at 31 March 2019, the Company’s issued share capital was
HK$8.0 million and the number of its issued ordinary shares was
800,000,000 of HK$0.01 each.
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Management Discussion and Analysis
B E S AT

FUTURE PLANS FOR MATERIAL INVESTMENTS
AND CAPITAL ASSETS

Save as disclosed in the prospectus dated 31 January 2018 (the
“Prospectus”), the Group did not have other plans for material
investments or capital assets as at the date of this report.

PLEDGE OF ASSETS

As at 31 March 2019, the Group’s bank deposits with carrying
amounts of approximately HK$32.1 million (2018: HK$32.0 million),
trade receivables of approximately HK$22.7 million (2018: progress
payments receivable of approximately HK$11.2 million), contract
assets of approximately HK$14.7 million (2018: retention money
receivables of approximately 12.8 million) and the financial assets
at fair value through profit or loss of approximately HK$10.0 million
(2018: payments for the life insurance policies of HK$8.6 million)
were pledged to secure certain letters of guarantee facility and
banking facilities respectively, granted to the Group.

As at 31 March 2019, Mr. Yu Lap On Stephen and two companies
controlled by Mr. Chow Mo Lam or his close family members
(namely, Polyfaith Holdings Limited and Polykind Far East Limited)
had pledged their properties to secure banking facilities granted
to certain subsidiaries of the Group for nil consideration.

CAPITAL COMMITMENTS

As at 31 March 2019 and 2018, the Group did not have any
significant capital commitments.

OPERATING LEASE COMMITMENTS

The Group’s operating lease commitments are primarily related
to the leases of its office and amounted to approximately HK$4.0
million and HK$4.0 million as at 31 March 2019 and 2018,
respectively.

CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

The Group provided guarantees in respect of surety bonds in
favour of customers of certain construction contracts. Details
regarding these guarantees are set out in note 34 to the
consolidated financial statements of this annual report. Save as
disclosed herein, there is no other contingent liabilities that the
Group is aware of.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

SIGNIFICANT INVESTMENTS, ACQUISITIONS AND
DISPOSALS

There were no significant investments held, acquisitions or
disposals of subsidiaries and affiliated companies by the Group
during the Reporting Period. Saved as disclosed in the Prospectus,
the Group did not have other plans for significant investments,
acquisitions and disposal of subsidiaries as at 31 March 2019.

EXPOSURE TO EXCHANGE RATE FLUCTUATION

The majority of the Group’s businesses is in Hong Kong and is
denominated in HK$, Renminbi and United States Dollars (“USD”).
As no material monetary assets or liabilities were denominated in
foreign currencies, the Group is of the opinion that its exposure
to foreign exchange rate risk is limited. Thus, the Group currently
does not have a foreign currency hedging policy. However, the
management monitors foreign exchange exposure closely and will
consider hedging significant foreign currency exposure should the
need arise.

EMPLOYEES AND REMUNERATION POLICIES

As at 31 March 2019, the Group had 87 (2018: 89) employees. Total
staff cost (including Directors’ emoluments) were approximately
HK$36.1 million (2018: HK$31.6 million). The remuneration
package offered to our employees generally included basic
salaries, bonuses and other cash allowances or subsidies. The
Group determines the salary of our employees mainly based on
each employee’s qualifications, relevant experience, position and
seniority. The Group conducts annual review on salary increase
and promotions based on the performance of each employee. The
Group provides on-the-job training to our employees and sponsors
certain employees to attend training courses.

SHARE OPTION SCHEME

A share option scheme was adopted by the Company on 25
January 2018. Please refer to note 31 to the consolidated financial
statements of this report.

COMPLIANCE WITH LAWS AND REGULATIONS

The Group mainly carries out its business in Hong Kong. To the
best of the Directors’ knowledge, the Group has complied with all
relevant laws and regulations in Hong Kong during the year.
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Management Discussion and Analysis
B E S AT

PRINCIPAL RISK AND UNCERTAINTIES

The Group believes that the risk management practices are
important and uses its best effort to ensure it has sufficiently
mitigated the risks present in our operations and financial position
as efficiently and effectively as possible.

- Changes in the cost of building materials and staff as well
as the subcontracting fees may result in cost overrun, which
could materially affect our results of operation and financial
performance;

- The Group may face difficulties in refinancing or increase in
cost of financing;

- Mismanagement or delay of our projects will materially
affect our reputation and also our financial performance as
penalties and/or additional costs may be incurred;

- Cash flow of our projects may fluctuate;

- We rely on subcontractors to complete our projects.
Underperformance of our subcontractors or unavailability
of subcontractors may adversely affect our operations,
profitability and reputation; and

- Our success significantly depends on the key management
and our ability to attract and retain additional facade and
curtain wall design team staff.

For other risks and uncertainties facing the Group, please refer to
the section headed “Risk Factors” in the Prospectus.

USE OF PROCEEDS

The Company has raised gross proceeds of approximately HK$56
million through share offer upon the Listing. After deducting the
listing expenses, the net proceeds were approximately HK$28.2
million.

The actual net proceeds from share offer was different from the

estimate net proceeds of approximately HK$34.2 million as set out
in the Prospectus.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

The Group adjusted the use of proceeds in the same manner
and in the same proportion as shown in the Prospectus, which
is (i) approximately 51.4% of the net proceeds, representing
approximately HK$14.5 million, would be used for strengthening
our financial position to capture emerging business opportunities,
including settling upfront costs of new projects and satisfying
the surety bond requirement of the projects, (i) approximately
39.8% of the net proceeds, representing approximately HK$11.2
million, would be used for expanding our operation teams,
and (iii) approximately 8.8% of the net proceeds, representing
approximately HK$2.5 million, would be used for working capital
and other general corporate purposes.

Analysis of the utilisation of the net proceeds from the Listing Date
up to 31 March 2019 is set out below:
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projects T8 5 B AR 9.2 9.2 9.2

- Satisfying the surety bond -BITHESHNER
requirement of Yue Man Square REBEEK 5.3 5.3 5.3
Expanding our operation teams BRF A & & B B 11.2 6.8 5.6
General working capital —MREEES 2.5 1.9 1.9
Total st 28.2 23.2 22.0
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Biographical Details of Directors and Senior Management

EENGREEERBREFR

EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. Chow Mo Lam, aged 65, is one of the controlling shareholders
(the “Controlling Shareholders”, which has the meaning as cited
under the GEM Listing Rules), an executive Director, the chairman
of the Board and a member of the Remuneration Committee. Mr.
Chow is one of the founding members of the Group and joined
the Group in February 2006. He is primarily responsible for the
overall business strategy, annual budget proposals and major
business decisions of the Group with a focus on our finance. Mr.
Chow was appointed as a Director on 25 May 2017, appointed as
the chairman of the Board on 9 August 2017 and re-designated as
an executive Director on 25 January 2018. He is also a director of
3 subsidiaries of the Company.

Mr. Chow obtained a Master of Business Administration from
the Henley Management College (which is, after merging with
another school, currently known as the Henley Business School)
in the United Kingdom through distance learning in 1995 and a
Master of Laws in People’s Republic of China (the “PRC”) Law
from the Open University of Hong Kong in 2005. Mr. Chow is also
a fellow member of both the Hong Kong Institute of Certified
Public Accountants and the Association of Chartered Certified
Accountants from the United Kingdom. Mr. Chow has around 21
years of experience in the construction industry, and has been a
founder, an investor and a manager of curtain wall companies in
Hong Kong and the PRC. He has been a director of CMD Aluminium
Industry (Shenzhen) Co., Ltd (IRE& 2B & & OFYI) BRAF]) (‘CMD
(SZ7)”), which is principally engaged in the manufacturing of curtain
wall in the PRC and wholesale of construction materials, glass
and aluminium products in the PRC, Hong Kong and Macau, since
February 2003, and gained experience in the curtain wall industry
for over 15 years therein. In February 2006, Mr. Chow co-founded
Polyfair Construction & Engineering Limited (“Polyfair HK”) with
other founding members, aiming to capture emerging business
opportunities within the construction industry in Hong Kong.

Mr. Chow is a proprietor of Albert Chow C.P.A., a certified public
accounting firm incorporated in Hong Kong which, save and except
for providing company secretarial service to Polyfair HK since
our establishment up to 1 September 2017, does not have any
business relationship with the Group.
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Biographical Details of Directors and Senior Management

Mr. Yu Lap On Stephen, aged 61, is one of the Controlling
Shareholders, an executive Director, the chief executive officer
of the Group and a member of the Remuneration Committee.
Mr. Yu joined the Group as an executive officer of Polyfair HK
in April 2009 and was appointed as a director of Polyfair HK in
February 2010. Mr. Yu is primarily responsible for the overall
business strategy, annual budget proposals, and major business
decisions of the Group with a focus on our operation and project
management. Mr. Yu was appointed as a Director on 25 May 2017
and re-designated as an executive Director on 25 January 2018.
He is also a director of 2 subsidiaries of the Company.

Mr. Yu has over 36 years of experience in facade and curtain wall,
aluminium window and entrance door construction, and project
and enterprise management in Hong Kong. Prior to joining the
Group, Mr. Yu co-founded Condo Construction & Engineering
Company Limited (subsequently known as Condo Curtain Wall
Company Limited) and Condo Engineering (China) Limited in 1983
and 1986, which specialised in the design, supply and installation
of aluminium windows, curtain walls, glass walls and metal
claddings in Hong Kong, Macau and the PRC, and worked therein
until December 2002. During his service in these two companies,
Mr. Yu participated in business operations and was responsible
for overseeing the design, supply, installation and quality control
matter of projects.
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Biographical Details of Directors and Senior Management

EENEREEEBERE

Mr. Wong Kam Man, aged 59, is an executive Director and a senior
project manager of the Group. Mr. Wong joined the Group as a
senior project manager of Polyfair HK on 10 August 2012. Mr.
Wong is primarily responsible for project management in terms of
construction programme, supervision of our subcontractors’ work
and implementation of quality assurance and/or quality control
procedures in compliance with contract specifications. Mr. Wong
was appointed as a Director on 9 August 2017 and re-designated
as an executive Director on 25 January 2018.

Mr. Wong is a holder of Certificate in Civil Engineering of the
Hong Kong Polytechnic University. Mr. Wong has over 36 years of
experience in aluminium and metal works construction in Hong
Kong. Mr. Wong worked for various construction and engineering
companies in Hong Kong including Wah Tung Metal Engineering
Co., PMB Cyberwall Ltd. and Chevalier (Aluminium Engineering)
Limited as a site supervisor, project manager and senior project
manager. He participated in numerous construction projects and
he was responsible for, among others, project planning, budgeting
and management, design monitoring, installation supervision,
quality control and coordinating with main contractors. Prior to
joining the Group on 10 August 2012, Mr. Wong worked as a senior
project manager at Wah Tung Metal Engineering Co. from February
2010 to July 2012.
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Biographical Details of Directors and Senior Management

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Dr. Lung Cheuk Wah, aged 68, was appointed as our independent
non-executive Director on 25 January 2018. He also serves
as the chairman of the Audit Committee, and a member of
the Nomination Committee and the Remuneration Committee
respectively. Dr. Lung has been working as a lecturer at the School
of Continuing and Professional Studies of the Chinese University
of Hong Kong since 1996 and as an assistant professor at the City
University of Macau since 2013.

Dr. Lung was employed as a company secretary (November
2002 to October 2009) and financial controller (November
2002 to October 2008) of VST Holdings Limited, a main board
listed company (stock code: 856). He was also appointed as
an independent non-executive director of eprint Group Limited
(stock code: 1884) from November 2013 to August 2016. Dr. Lung
has over 30 years of professional and commercial experience in
company secretary, accounting and finance.

Dr. Lung is a fellow member of The Institute of Chartered
Secretaries and Administrators in the United Kingdom and The
Hong Kong Institute of Chartered Secretaries respectively. He is
also an associate member of The Taxation Institute of Hong Kong.
Dr. Lung obtained a degree of Doctor of Philosophy in Business
Administration from the Tarlac State University in the Philippines
through distance learning in November 2012 and a degree of
Master of Business Administration from the University of Macau
(formerly known as the University of East Asia, Macau) in February
1988.

Mr. Ng Ka Lok, aged 44, was appointed as our independent non-
executive Director on 25 January 2018. Mr. Ng also serves as
the chairman of the Remuneration Committee, and a member
of the Audit Committee and the Nomination Committee. Mr. Ng
received tertiary education in Australia where he obtained a
degree of Master of Finance from Curtin University of Technology
in September 2006 and a degree of Master of Business
Administration from The University of Adelaide in July 2007. He is
currently a practicing member of Hong Kong Institute of Certified
Public Accountants and a member of CPA Australia and has been
a member of The Society of Chinese Accountants and Auditors
since June 2014. He has over 19 years of auditing and accounting
experience.

EENEREEEBERE

BYFHTES

BEEE LT - 6858 ' N2018F1A2HE S
FAERMOBIFERNITES - BNEESE
REESEE REZEBERFHEESK
BB IHI106FR—ETEEEFNKRE
HXEEEERETHERMN - RA2013F8—H
R M AEEFHBEHRE -

EETER —BBEBERLTHESZR
B QAR5 856) T 8 A AR W
£ (20024118 £2009F108) & Bf 7% 48 &5
(2002F 11 A= 2008F108) » # IR 20134
MAZE2016F8A FeprintEE BB R A7 (I
MR 1884) XIEABIIERITESE - 5
BEIHBBRIFRARAME LT HEHE

EEIREBBTUERTRABAERE
ERTWELAGEFEE - BTN EM
BEGLBEEE - BELR2012FNASEA
EBRERERAFREEARREIAZRABIRN
BB LTEAM - FIA1988F2A BRI K
BHEAMREAZ)NBIFEREL

Bz e

RERY R E 4458 M20185F1H25H &
ZERBMOBIUIENTES - REAE
NMEAFWNEZESTREIALEREZES
REZEEKE - REERANEZSE
#E + R20064F9A EL15 Curtin University
of Technology Hy A 7 18 - £ {7 + I %2007
F7AEE R EE S KZE(The University of
Adelaide) ) T BB+ 24 - A AT
BEHMASRFEEERRMNSHMAE
28 BA2014F6ARABT B EAZEA
FE - HRBHRETEERE19

>
Al ]]]E} p.

i

o

Annual Report 2019 ZZE—NEF K

19




20

Biographical Details of Directors and Senior Management

EENEREEEBERE

Mr. Ng is currently a partner of the audit, assurance and risk
advisory division of ZHONGHUI ANDA CPA Limited, and previously
worked at the Treasury of the Government, Town Sky International
Limited and KLL Associates CPA Limited. Mr. Ng was an
independent non-executive director of Season Pacific Holdings
Limited (stock code: 8127) from September 2015 to May 2017 and
an independent non-executive director of China First Chemical
Holdings Limited (stock code: 2121) from November 2018 to April
2019. He was appointed as an independent non-executive director
of Chuan Holdings Limited (stock code: 1420) on 8 February 2018.

Mr. Wong Chi Yung, aged 35, was appointed as our independent
non-executive Director on 25 January 2018. Mr. Wong also serves
as the chairman of the Nomination Committee, and a member
of the Audit Committee and the Remuneration Committee. He
obtained a degree of Bachelor of Business Administration in
Finance and Management from The Hong Kong University of
Science and Technology in 2005. He is currently a licensed
representative under the Securities and Futures Ordinance (“SFQ”)
to carry out Type 6 regulated activity (advising on corporate
finance). Mr. Wong has extensive experience in accounting and
corporate finance.

Mr. Wong was appointed as an executive director of China
Information Technology Development Limited (stock code: 8178)
in April 2015 and re-designated as a non-executive director in
July 2016. He currently remains as a non-executive director of
China Information Technology Development Limited and is the
vice president of INCU Corporate Finance Limited. He was a non-
executive director of China Oil Gangran Energy Group Holdings
Limited (formerly known as Fairson Holdings Limited) (stock code:
8132) from June 2011 to December 2013, and also worked at SMI
Management (HK) Limited, SMI Corporation Limited and Ernst &
Young.
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Biographical Details of Directors and Senior Management

SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Mr. Wong Chi Kan Johnny, aged 52, is a senior design manager
of the Group. He is primarily responsible for general technical
and engineering work, preparing conceptual designs of tender
and ensuring that the use of building materials complies with the
contracts and the Buildings Department’s requirements. Mr. Wong
Chi Kan Johnny is a holder of Higher Certificate in Civil Engineering
of the Hong Kong Polytechnic University. He has over 29 years of
experience in the construction and engineering industry in Hong
Kong. He joined the Group on 1 March 2006 as a senior design
manager.

Mr. Wong Chi Kan Johnny has worked in various construction and
engineering companies in Hong Kong since February 1989 as an
assistant technical manager and later as a senior design engineer.
Prior to joining the Group, he worked in Nuclear Construction and
Engineering Co., Ltd. from January 2003 to February 2006 where
he was responsible for engineering design, and his last position
held was senior design engineer. Before that, he was employed by
Condo Curtain Wall Co., Ltd. as an assistant technical manager
from February 1989 to January 2003.

Mr. Chow Heung Wing, aged 50, is the project manager of the
Group. He is primarily responsible for planning, budgeting, and
managing our projects, and monitoring designs, work progress
and quality. He has approximately 21 years of experience in the
construction and engineering industry in Hong Kong. Mr. Chow
Heung Wing joined the Group on 5 October 2015 as a project
manager.

Mr. Chow Heung Wing has worked in various construction and
engineering companies in Hong Kong since 1986 as a site
supervisor and a project manager. Prior to joining the Group, he
worked in Empire (HK) Engineering Co., Ltd. from June 2014 to
June 2015 where he was responsible for assisting the project
manager on project management, and his last position held was
assistant project manager. Before that, he worked for Far East
Aluminium Works Company Limited as a senior site supervisor
between December 2011 and June 2014, responsible for assisting
the project manager to supervise site installation works.

EENEREEEBERE

EREEE

BXHEE 525 AAEEMNR MR K
B -HIZAEEBRMRIRIE: 88
BIZFANE SR ARBEREZEN S
FAMEGAOREFBENRE ESHL
ERHEEFBEIAREBLARIBSRESE -
REBBHBEERTIRITERAR2FL
B o HMN2006F3ATAMAREE  ETS
MERETHEIE o

ELH A AEBIBIF2AREETBZRE
ERTRARETBIE MR M 1B KT
TR MBFTIRA - AIMAKXEE ZA -
18 72200341 8 £ 20064F 2 A £ Bk 7 Nuclear
Construction and Engineering Co., Ltd. * &
EIREX  EETOBRSASHRT
T2RM o TR 2 AT + 18 7198942 A £ 20034
TABSEREMTRAERAT  EIB
BT AR R o

AmEEEE 505 AASEMEELE -
BEEBEHMEENRE  BELEE -
UREERT IREEREE - FES
BHRERIRBITERBNFER - F
M4 £ R2015F 10 ACHE A K E B -
FIEBKRE -

FRKEEBIBFREGERELREER
TREARECRSEEREELRE - KRMMA
REBZA HR2014F6 AE2015F 6 A1
B 72 Empire (HK) Engineering Co., Ltd. * &
BEMBEEKBETHEERE  KEEEN
BB RBNIBIEBAIE « R Z AT - B 201
FRAZ204FAERNERIETRA
RAR BESKRRISEE  AEWMBHIESR
KRBEEBRSLTETIR -

Annual Report 2019 ZZE—NEF K

21




22

Biographical Details of Directors and Senior Management

EENEREEEBERE

Mr. Ning Gong, aged 31, is the project engineer of the Group. He
is primarily responsible for drafting structural designs of facade
and curtain wall, and preparing submission for the Buildings
Department’s approval. He obtained a degree of Bachelor of
Engineering in Harbour, Waterway and Coastal Engineering from
the Shanghai Maritime University in the PRC in 2010, and further
obtained a degree of Master of Science in Civil Engineering
from the Hong Kong Polytechnic University in 2011. Mr. Ning
has approximately 7 years of experience in the construction and
engineering industry in Hong Kong. He joined the Group on 9
March 2017 as a project engineer.

Mr. Ning has worked in various construction and engineering
companies in Hong Kong since October 2011 as an assistant
engineer and as a project engineer. Prior to joining the Group, he
worked in Chun Sing Engineering Co., Ltd. from August 2014 to
February 2017. His main duties during this employment were to,
among others, coordinate with clients and structural/geotechnical
consultants, conduct structural research, design foundation
system, develop construction methods and interpret and review
design work. His last position held was project engineer.
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Corporate Governance Report

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICES

The Board is committed to achieving high standards of corporate
governance to safeguard the interests of shareholders, enhance
the corporate value, formulate its business strategies and
policies, and enhance its transparency and accountability.

The Company has applied the principles as set out in the
Corporate Governance Code (the “CG Code”) contained in
Appendix 15 to the GEM Listing Rules

For the year ended 31 March 2019, the Company has complied
with the applicable code provisions as set out in the CG Code.
The Company will enhance its corporate governance practices
appropriate to the operation and growth of the business of the
Group.

DIRECTORS’ SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS

The Company has adopted a code of conduct regarding securities
transactions by the Directors on terms no less than the required
standard of dealing as set out in Rules 5.48 to 5.67 of the GEM
Listing Rules (the “Required Standard”) as the code for dealing in
securities of the Company by the Directors.

The Company has made specific enquiry with all Directors and
the Directors have confirmed that they have complied with the
Required Standard for the year ended 31 March 2019.

The Company has also established written guidelines (the
“Employees Written Guidelines”) no less than the Required
Standard for securities transactions by employees who are likely
to be in possession of unpublished price-sensitive information of
the Company. No incident of non-compliance of the Employees
Written Guidelines by the employees was noted by the Company.
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS

The Board oversees the Group’s businesses, strategic decisions
and performance and should take decisions objectively in the best
interests of the Company.

The Board should regularly review the contribution required from
a Director to perform his responsibilities to the Company, and
whether the Director is spending sufficient time performing them.

Board Composition

The Board currently comprises six Directors, consisting of
three executive Directors and three independent non-executive
Directors.

Executive Directors

Mr. Chow Mo Lam (Chairman and a member of the Remuneration
Committee)

Mr. Yu Lap On Stephen (Chief Executive Officer and a member of
the Remuneration Committee)

Mr. Wong Kam Man

Independent Non-executive Directors

Dr. Lung Cheuk Wah (Chairman of the Audit Committee and a
member of the Nomination Committee and the Remuneration
Committee)

Mr. Ng Ka Lok (Chairman of the Remuneration Committee
and a member of the Audit Committee and the Nomination
Committee)

Mr. Wong Chi Yung (Chairman of the Nomination Committee
and a member of the Audit Committee and the Remuneration
Committee)

The biographical information of the Directors are set out in the
section headed “Biographical Details of Directors and Senior
Management” on pages 16 to 22 of this annual report.

None of the members of the Board is related to one another.

Board Meetings

For the year ended 31 March 2019, 6 board meetings were held,
of which, 4 meetings were regular Board meetings. Apart from
regular board meetings, the Chairman also held a meeting with
the independent non-executive Directors without the presence of
other Directors.
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Notice of at least 14 days are given to all Directors for all regular
Board meetings and the Directors can include matters for
discussion in the agenda if necessary. Agenda and accompanying
Board papers in respect of regular Board meetings are sent out
in full to all Directors within reasonable time before the meeting.
Draft minutes of all Board meetings are circulated to Directors for
comment within a reasonable time prior to confirmation.

Minutes of Board meetings and meetings of Board committees are
kept by duly appointed secretary of the respective meetings and
all Directors have access to Board papers and related materials,
and are provided with adequate information in a timely manner,
which enable the Board to make an informed decision on matters
placed before it.

Chairman and Chief Executive Officer

The positions of chairman and chief executive officer are held by
Mr. Chow Mo Lam and Mr. Yu Lap On Stephen respectively. The
chairman provides leadership and is responsible for the effective
functioning and leadership of the Board. The chief executive
officer focuses on the Company’s business development and daily
management and operations generally.

Independent non-executive Directors

For the year ended 31 March 2019, the Board at all times met the
requirements of the GEM Listing Rules relating to the appointment
of at least three independent non-executive Directors,
representing at least one-third of the Board with one of whom
possessing appropriate professional qualifications or accounting
or related financial management expertise.

The Company has received written annual confirmation from
each of the independent non-executive Directors in respect of his
independence in accordance with the independence guidelines set
out in Rule 5.09 of the GEM Listing Rules. The Company considers
all independent non-executive Directors are independent.

Appointment and Re-election of Directors

Code provision A.4.1 of the CG Code stipulates that non-executive
directors shall be appointed for a specific term, subject to re-
election. Code provision A.4.2 states that all directors appointed to
fill a casual vacancy shall be subject to election by shareholders
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at the first general meeting after appointment and that every
director, including those appointed for a specific term, shall be
subject to retirement by rotation at least once every three years.

Each of the executive Directors has entered into a service
agreement with the Company for an initial term of three years
commencing from the Listing Date, and will continue thereafter
until terminated by not less than three months’ notice in writing
served by either party on the other.

Each of the independent non-executive Directors has entered
into a letter of appointment with the Company with an initial
term of three years commencing from the Listing Date subject to
termination in certain circumstances as stipulated in the relevant
letters of appointment.

One-third of the Directors are subject to re-election at the
forthcoming annual general meeting of the Company (“AGM”)
pursuant to the Articles of Association of the Company (the
“Articles”). The term of offices of every Director is also subject to
retirement by rotation at the AGM at least once every three years
pursuant to the Articles.

Responsibilities of the Directors

The Board should assume responsibility for leadership and control
of the Company, and is collectively responsible for directing and
supervising the Company’s affairs.

The Board directly, and indirectly through its committees, leads
and provides direction to management by laying down strategies
and overseeing their implementation,
operational and financial performance, and ensures that sound
internal control and risk management systems are in place.

monitors the Group’s

All Directors,
have brought a wide spectrum of valuable business experience,
knowledge and professionalism to the Board for its efficient and
effective functioning.

including independent non-executive Directors,

The independent non-executive Directors are primarily responsible
for ensuring a high standard of regulatory reporting of the
Company and providing a balance in the Board for bringing
effective independent judgement on corporate actions and
operations.
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All Directors have full and timely access to all the information
of the Company and may, upon request, seek independent
professional advice in appropriate circumstances, at the
Company’s expenses for discharging their duties to the Company.

The Directors shall disclose to the Company details of other
offices held by them.

The Board reserves its right to decide on all major matters relating
to policy matters, strategies and budgets, internal control and risk
management, material transactions (in particular those that may
involve conflict of interests), financial information, appointment
of directors and other significant operational matters of the
Company. Responsibilities relating to implementing decisions of
the Board, directing and co-ordinating the daily operation and
management of the Company are delegated to the management.

The Board also advocates the participation of independent non-
executive Directors and (if any) non-executive directors in various
board committees to safeguard objectivity and independence.

Continuous Professional Development of Directors

Directors shall keep abreast of regulatory developments and
changes in order to effectively perform their responsibilities and
to ensure that their contribution to the Board remains informed
and relevant.

received formal,
comprehensive and tailored induction on the first occasion of

Every newly appointed Director has

his appointment to ensure appropriate understanding of the
business and operations of the Company and full awareness of
Director’s responsibilities and obligations under the Listing Rules
and relevant statutory requirements. The Board and each Director
should have a separate and independent access to and meetings
with senior management of the Company.

Directors should participate in appropriate continuous
professional development to develop and refresh their knowledge
and skills. Internally-facilitated briefings for Directors would
be arranged and reading material on relevant topics would
be provided to Directors where appropriate. All Directors are
encouraged to attend relevant training courses at the Company’s
expenses.
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The Directors have participated in the following training during the
year ended 31 March 2019:

REE2019F3A3BILFE #5052 H
T3

Directors Types of Training Nete BE=x 35 3 3 B
Executive Directors BITES
Mr. Chow Mo Lam A&B A M5 £ AKB
Mr. Yu Lap On Stephen B RIURFEE B
Mr. Wong Kam Man B | XA B
Independent non-executive Directors BUKHITES
Dr. Lung Cheuk Wah A&B BEEEE L AKB
Mr. Ng Ka Lok A&B RRE 5 H AKB
Mr. Wong Chi Yung B FTEERE B

Note: M 5

Types of Training 53128 A

A:  Attending training sessions, including but not limited to, briefings, A HEM@EBEARMNENTE #HE g

seminars, conferences and workshops ERITHEHEEIRE
B: Reading relevant news alerts, newspapers, journals, magazines and B: BMEMEBHEHIRER WK B HER

relevant publications

BOARD COMMITTEES

The Board has established three committees, namely the Audit
Committee, the Remuneration Committee and the Nomination
Committee, for overseeing particular aspects of the Company’s
affairs. All Board committees of the Company are established
with specific written terms of reference which deal clearly with
their authority and duties. The terms of reference of the Audit
Committee, the Remuneration Committee and the Nomination
Committee are posted on the Company’s website and the Stock
Exchange’s website and are available to shareholders upon
request.

The majority of the members of each Board committee are
independent non-executive Directors and the list of the chairman
and members of each Board committee is set out under
“Corporate Information” of this annual report.
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Audit Committee

The Company established the Audit Committee on 25 January
2018 with written terms of reference in compliance with Rules
5.28 to 5.33 of the GEM Listing Rules and paragraph C.3 of the
CG Code. The written terms of reference of Audit Committee was
revised on 12 November 2018. The primary duties of the Audit
Committee are to make recommendations to the Board on the
appointment and removal of external auditors; review the financial
statements and material advice in respect of financial reporting;
and oversee internal control procedures of the Company.

The Audit Committee consists of three independent non-executive
Directors, namely Dr. Lung Cheuk Wah, Mr. Ng Ka Lok and Mr.
Wong Chi Yung. Dr. Lung Cheuk Wah is the chairman of the Audit
Committee.

The Audit Committee held 5 meetings for the year ended 31
March 2019, at which the Audit Committee reviewed the quarterly,
interim and annual financial statements and the related results
announcement, documents and attended various matters or
issues raised by the Company’s auditor, made recommendation
to the Board the re-appointment of the Company’s auditor,
discussed and confirmed with the management the effectiveness
of the Group’s financial reporting process, risk management and
internal control systems, reviewed the risk management and
internal control systems and made recommendation to the Board
and reviewed the Company’s policies and practices on corporate
governance to comply with the CG Code. It holds at least two
meetings and meet the external auditors once a year without the
presence of the executive Directors.

Remuneration Committee

The Company established the Remuneration Committee on 25
January 2018 with written terms of reference in compliance
with Rules 5.34 to 5.36 of the GEM Listing Rules and paragraph
B.1 of the CG Code. The primary duties of the Remuneration
Committee are to make recommendations to the Board on the
overall remuneration policy and structure relating to all Directors
and senior management of the Group; review performance-based
remuneration; and ensure none of our Directors determine their
own remuneration.

The Remuneration Committee currently consists of five members,
namely Mr. Ng Ka Lok, Mr. Chow Mo Lam, Mr. Yu Lap On Stephen,
Dr. Lung Cheuk Wah and Mr. Wong Chi Yung. The chairman of the
Remuneration Committee is Mr. Ng Ka Lok.
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For the year ended 31 March 2019, 2 meetings were held by the
Remuneration Committee, at which the Remuneration Committee
discussed and reviewed the existing policy and structure of the
remuneration for the Directors and senior management and
approved the remuneration packages of senior management of the
Company.

Details of the remuneration of the senior management by band
are set out in note 10 in the notes to the audited consolidated
financial statements of this annual report.

Nomination Committee

The Company established the Nomination Committee on 25
January 2018 with written terms of reference in compliance
with paragraph A.5 of the CG Code. The primary duties of the
Nomination Committee are to review the structure, size and
composition of the Board on a regular basis; identify individuals
suitably qualified to become Board members; assess the
independence of independent non-executive Directors; and make
recommendations to the Board on relevant matters relating to the
appointment or re-appointment of Directors.

The Nomination Committee currently consists of three members,
namely Mr. Wong Chi Yung, Dr. Lung Cheuk Wah and Mr. Ng Ka Lok.
The chairman of the Nomination Committee is Mr. Wong Chi Yung.

In assessing the Board composition, the Nomination Committee
would take into account various aspects as well as factors
concerning Board diversity as set out in the Company’s Board
diversity policy, including but not limited to gender, age, cultural
and educational background, professional qualifications, skills,
knowledge and industry and regional experience etc. The
Nomination Committee would discuss and agree on measurable
objectives for achieving diversity on the Board, where necessary,
and recommend them to the Board for adoption.

In identifying and selecting suitable candidates for directorships,
the Nomination Committee would consider the candidate’s
character, qualifications, experience, independence and other
relevant criteria necessary to complement the corporate strategy
and achieve Board diversity, where appropriate, before making
recommendation to the Board.

For the year ended 31 March 2019, 1 meeting was held by the
Nomination Committee, at which the Nomination Committee
reviewed the Board’s structure, size, composition and diversity,
assessed the independence of the independent non-executive
Directors, and made recommendation to the Board on the
re-election of retiring Directors.
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Attendance Record for Board Meeting, EZ2€E  ZEZEZIRBREK

Committees’ Meeting and General Meeting SHELHE
The attendance record of each Director at the Board meetings, the HE2019F3A3ALFE  FEFHFE
Board Committees meetings and the general meeting for the year EEE EFLZEGEARREREN
ended 31 March 2019 is set out in the following table: WEERIIT

Audit Remuneration  Nomination

Board Committee Committee Committee General
Meetings Meetings Meeting Meeting Meeting
% b R%
Name of Directors EEps EXe8d ZES8E ZES8E ZEEER BRAE
Executive Directors HTES
Mr. Chow Mo Lam (Chairman) BRMEE(EE) 6/6  N/ATEMR 171 NATER 1/1
Mr. Yu Lap On Stephen RUTRE
(Chief Executive Officer) (TTH#H) 6/6  NATHER 171 NATER 1/1
Mr. Wong Kam Man ERX %A 6/6  NATER  NATER  NATER 171
Independent Non-executive BUFHTES
Directors
Dr. Lung Cheuk Wah REERL 6/6 5/5 2/2 171 171
Mr. Ng Ka Lok ;%% Sxx 6/6 5/5 2/2 171 171
Mr. Wong Chi Yung IEBEEE 6/6 5/5 2/2 11 11
Total number of meeting(s) eREy 6 5 2 1 1
Corporate Governance Functions TEERBAE

The Audit Committee is responsible for performing the functions ERZESeEERTCEE A TATAE
set out in the code provision D.3.1 of the CG Code. 3D.3.1F & B e o

RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL CONTROLS B b E R AIPEE =

The Board acknowledges its responsibility for the risk EFeARAEYHEAREERANITEZRR

management and internal control systems and reviewing their BE UEBERNZFHENK - ZF
effectiveness. Such systems are designed to manage rather than ARMEEE fiﬁﬁiF HBRARBEEKNEBER
eliminate the risk of failure to achieve business objectives, and MER MERERLTEEEKRN 5%,\ BR

can only provide reasonable and not absolute assurance against ﬁﬁiﬁ?&{’ﬁﬂjé\ﬁﬁﬁ# BEHBIRE
material misstatement or loss.

The Board has overall responsibility for evaluating and EEerHARTHREEASEENRE
determining the nature and extent of the risks it is willing to take BMEENMRAEEMANRRIEERER - I
in achieving the Group’s strategic objectives, and establishing BULHEFAEERERNRAREE KA
and maintaining appropriate and effective risk management and BEIERA o

internal control systems.
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The Audit Committee assists the Board in leading the management
and overseeing their design, implementation and monitoring of the
risk management and internal control systems.

The Group has adopted a three-tier risk management approach
to identify, assess and manage different types of risks. As
the first line of defence, business units are responsible for
identifying, assessing and monitoring risk associated with each
business or transaction. The management, as the second line
of defence, defines rule sets and models, provides technical
support, develops new system and oversees project management.
It ensures that risks are within acceptable range and that the
first line of defence is effective. As the final line of defence, the
independent consultant assists the Audit Committee to review the
first and second lines of defence.

The Group is committed to the identification, evaluation and
management of risks associated with its business activities
through ongoing assessment of a risk register, by considering
the likelihood and impact of each identified risk. The Group
has implemented an effective control system which includes
a defined management structure with limits of authority, a
sound management system and periodic review of the Group’s
performance by the Audit Committee and the Board.

As the corporate and operation structure of the Group is not
complex and a separate internal audit department may divert
resources of the Group, the Group currently does not have an
internal audit department. However, the Group has engaged an
independent third-party internal control consultant to, on an
annual basis, review and provide recommendations on improving
its internal control system in order to manage our business
risks and to ensure our smooth operation. The review covered
certain operational procedures. No significant control failings
or weakness have been identified by the consultant during the
review. The Board and the Audit Committee would review the need
for an internal audit function on an annual basis.

The management has reported to the Board and the Audit
Committee on the effectiveness of the risk management and
internal control systems for the year ended 31 March 2019. The
Board and the Audit Committee considered the risk management
and internal control systems effective and adequate. No
significant areas of concern that might affect shareholders were
identified.
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Whistleblowing procedures are in place to facilitate employees
of the Group to raise, in confidence, concerns about possible
improprieties in financial reporting, internal control or other
matters of the Group.

The Company has developed its disclosure policy which provides
a general guide to the Directors, officers, senior management
and relevant employees of the Company in handling confidential
information, monitoring information disclosure and responding to
enquiries.

Control procedures have been implemented to ensure that
unauthorised access and use of inside information are strictly
prohibited.

Procedures and internal controls include:

i) Only designated persons are authorised to communicate the
Company’s corporate matters with investors, analysts, the
media or other members of the investment community;

i) Directors should report to the Chief Executive Officer
any potential or suspected inside information as soon as
possible for him to consult the Board for determining the
nature of developments, and if required, making appropriate
disclosure; and

i) Disclosure of inside information must be made in a manner
that can provide for equal, timely and effective access by
the public to the disclosed inside information.
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DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITY IN RESPECT OF
THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The Directors acknowledge their responsibility for preparing the
consolidated financial statements of the Company for the year
ended 31 March 2019.

To the best knowledge of the Directors, the Directors are not aware
of any material uncertainties relating to events or conditions that
may cast significant doubt upon the Company’s ability to continue
as a going concern.

The statement of the independent auditor of the Company about
their reporting responsibilities on the consolidated financial
statements is set out in the Independent Auditor’s Report on
pages 68 to 77.

AUDITOR’S REMUNERATION

The remuneration paid to the Company’s external auditor of
the Company, Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu, in respect of audit
services and non-audit services for the year ended 31 March 2019
amounted to HK$1,050,000 and HK$18,000 respectively.

An analysis of the remuneration paid to the external auditor of the
Company in respect of audit services and non-audit services for
the year ended 31 March 2019 is set out below:

EENGSUBRRARENER

EEARKEBEEAEREARFTHE2019
FIAZAILFENGEAMBRE -

REEMM  BEFALSMBAEMAEMFEMN
MR H AR B BLENENELE
REBEHNEAXTHBRARE -

ARBVELZEENAE @S MK P R
BEMNZERHNECSE77H ) B % HAD
WEA -

B BY T B

HZE2019F3A3MBILFE + KRR RZER
BRIEZEREEN A QR INEIZ BN EE .
BMEMR A LMITHES 5 541,050,000
7 7T 518,000/ JT °

B E22019F3A3MBIEFE B EBRE KL
IEAZ BR TS B AR R INEE A BUET O BN &
DT

Fees Paid/Payable

B EAER

(HK$)

Service Category BR 7% %8 5Bl (& T)

Audit Services ZE R 1,050,000
Non-audit Services IEZ BRI

- Profits tax service - MR 18,000

1,068,000
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COMPANY SECRETARY

On 14 December 2018, Mr. Wong Kam Yin resigned his positions
as the financial controller and company secretary of the Company
(the “Company Secretary”) and Ms. Cheung Kin Yan (“Ms. Cheung”)
was appointed as the Company Secretary.

On 22 February 2019, Ms. Cheung resigned as the Company
Secretary and Ms. Cheng Wing Sze (“Ms. Cheng”) was appointed
as the Company Secretary. Ms. Cheng was nominated by ComSec
Team Limited ("ComSec Team”) to assume such office and ComSec
Team has been providing certain corporate secretarial services
to the Company pursuant to an engagement letter entered into
between the Company and ComSec Team. The primary person at
the Company with whom Ms. Cheng has been contacting in respect
of company secretarial matters is the financial manager of the
Company.

Ms. Cheung holds a Master’s degree in Corporate Governance
from The Hong Kong Polytechnic University. She is a member
of both The Hong Kong Institute of Chartered Secretaries and
The Institute of Chartered Secretaries and Administrators in
the United Kingdom, and also a member of the Association
of Chartered Certified Accountants. She has over 10 years of
experience in accounting, audit, company secretarial and finance
fields. Prior to the joining of the Company, she worked for various
listed companies in Hong Kong for over 8 years.

Ms. Cheng serves as a corporate secretarial director of ComSec
Team Limited. She has over 16 years of experience in corporate
secretarial field. Ms. Cheng is a fellow member of both The Hong
Kong Institute of Chartered Secretaries and The Institute of
Chartered Secretaries and Administrators in the United Kingdom.
She is also a member of The Institute of Public Accountants
in Australia and The Institute of Financial Accountants in the
United Kingdom. Ms. Cheng obtained her Postgraduate Diploma
in Corporate Administration from The Hong Kong Polytechnic
University. She also obtained her degree of Master of Business
Administration from The University of Adelaide, Australia, and
her degree of Master of Accounting from Curtin University of
Technology, Australia (now known as Curtin University).
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For the year ended 31 March 2019, the Board has access to the
advice and services of Ms. Cheung (before 22 February 2019) and
Ms. Cheng (from 22 February 2019) at all time in accordance with
Code Provision F.1.4 of Appendix 15 to the GEM Listing Rules. Both
Ms. Cheung and Ms. Cheng has taken no less than 15 hours of
professional training for the year ended 31 March 2019 pursuant
to Rule 5.15 of the GEM Listing Rules.

SHAREHOLDERS’ RIGHTS

To safeguard shareholders’ interests and rights, separate
resolution should be proposed for each substantially separate
issue at general meetings, including the election of individual
Director. All resolutions put forward at general meetings will be
voted on by poll pursuant to the GEM Listing Rules and poll results
will be posted on the website of the Company and of the Stock
Exchange after each general meeting.

Convening an Extraordinary General Meeting and
Putting Forward Proposals at General Meeting

According to article 58 of the Articles, any one or more
Shareholders holding at the date of deposit of the requisition not
less than one-tenth of the paid up capital of the Company carrying
the right of voting at general meetings of the Company shall at
all times have the right, by written requisition to the Board or the
company secretary of the Company, to require an extraordinary
general meeting to be called by the Board for the transaction of
any business specified in such requisition.

If a shareholder wishes to propose a person other than a retiring
Director for election as a Director of the Company at a general
meeting, pursuant to article 85 of the Articles, the Shareholder
(other than the person to be proposed) duly qualified to attend
and vote at the general meeting shall send a written notice, duly
signed by the shareholder, of his/her intention to propose such
person for election and also a notice signed by the person to
be proposed of his/her willingness to be elected. These notices
should be lodged at the Company’s head office or the office of
the Company’s branch share registrar. The period for lodgement
of such notices shall commence on the day after the despatch of
the notice of such general meeting and end no later than 7 days
prior to the date of such general meeting.
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Putting Forward Enquiries to the Board and
Contact Details

Shareholders may send their enquiries as mentioned above to the
following:

Address: Anli Financial Communications Limited
Room 1901-02, 19/F,
Shanghai Industrial Investment Building
48-62 Hennessy Road, Wanchai, Hong Kong

Tel: (852) 2325 6661
Fax: (852) 3956 4350
Email: Polyfair@anli.com.hk

Shareholders are also welcome to make enquiries via the
online message form available on the Company’s website at
www.polyfaircurtainwall.com.hk and are reminded to lodge the

questions together with their contact information for the prompt
response from the Company if it deems appropriate. The Company
will not normally deal with anonymous enquiries.
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COMMUNICATION WITH SHAREHOLDERS AND
INVESTORS/INVESTOR RELATIONS

The Company considers that effective communication with
shareholders is essential for enhancing investor relations and
investor understanding of the Group’s business performance and
strategies. A shareholder’s communication policy was adopted by
the Board at the Board meeting held on 25 January 2018 aiming
to provide to the shareholders and potential investors with ready
and timely access to balanced and understandable information
of the Company. Extensive information about the Company’s
activities is provided in its interim report, quarterly reports and
this annual report, which are sent to shareholders of the Company.
The Company endeavours to maintain an on-going dialogue with
shareholders and in particular, through annual general meetings
and other general meetings. At the annual general meeting,
directors (or their delegates as appropriate) are available to meet
shareholders and answer their enquiries. The notice of the annual
general meeting is distributed to all shareholders at least 20 clear
days before the meeting. Separate resolutions are proposed at
general meetings on each separate issue and voting of which is
taken by poll pursuant to the GEM Listing Rules. Results of the
poll are published on both the GEM website and the Company’s
website. All corporate communication with shareholders will be
posted on the Company’s website for shareholders’ information.

The Company has not made any changes to its Articles for the
year ended 31 March 2019. An up-to-date version of the Articles is
also available on the Company’s website and the Stock Exchange’s
website.
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Environmental, Social and Governance Report

ABOUT THE REPORT

The Company is pleased to present this Environment,
Social and Governance Report (the “ESG Report”) on the
environmental, social, and governance (the “ESG”) aspects
with the initiative of outlining selected key performance
indicators (the “KPI(s)”), in accordance with the guidelines of
Appendix 20 of the GEM Listing Rules.

In this ESG Report, the Company strives to disclose its
policies and practices towards the ESG aspects of the Group
in Hong Kong during the Reporting Period. All information
and data disclosed herein were based on formal documents
and internal statistics of the Group.

During the Reporting Period, the Company is principally
engaged in investment holding. The principal activities of
the Group include provision of facade and curtain wall work
solutions in Hong Kong.

ESG POLICIES

The Group incorporated corporate, environmental and
social responsibilities into its business strategies to
promote healthy entertainment to and integration of
society, contribute to environmental sustainability, achieve
healthy and harmonious developments of its staff as well
as continue to create long-term value for its stakeholders.
During the year ended 31 March 2019, the Company has
implemented relevant ESG policies, which:

. are in compliance with the requirements of the relevant
laws and regulations on corporate ESG that have a
significant impact to the Group’s business;

. continue to facilitate social integration by actively
“eliminating racial
discrimination and building a harmonious society”;

implementing the concept of

. encourage the employees to raise their awareness

towards “energy and resource savings”, support
and promote energy saving and emission reduction

measures;
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RIE -HERERERS

. integrate green philosophy into the development of the
Group and ensure the Group is in compliance with the
environmental laws and regulations; and

. strive to establish healthy and harmonious
relationships with its employees, shareholders,
suppliers and other stakeholders.

STAKEHOLDER ENGAGEMENT

The Company consistently values the stakeholders that are
influenced by the Group’s operational activities including
clients, suppliers, employees, community groups and
government bodies, etc. We communicate irregularly through
various communication channels with each other in order
to build up a mutual understanding of each other’s vision
and expectation on environmental and social responsibility.
With reference of these, the Company develops a designated
environmental and social responsibility framework and sets
long-term objectives for the sustainable development of the
Company.

ENVIRONMENTAL ASPECTS

The Group aims to protect the environment by minimising
environmental adverse impacts in daily operations, such as
energy saving and recycling of office resources. The Group
will continue to seek for better environmental practices
and promote the right environmental attitudes within the
organisation. In general, the Group endeavours to:

. comply with relevant laws and regulations and target
to achieve beyond minimum requirements;

. avoid or minimise air and greenhouse gas emission,
discharges into water and land, and generation of
hazardous and non-hazardous wastes;

. make efficient use of resources;

. minimise negative impact of the Group’s activities on
environment; and

. promote the stakeholders to go green and re-assess
their operations environmentally.
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A1 EMISSION

Emissions refer to air and greenhouse gas emissions,
discharges into water and land, and generation of hazardous
and non-hazardous wastes.

As the Group is principally engaged in provision of facade
and curtain wall work solutions in Hong Kong, there were
neither significant levels of pollutants discharged into
water and land nor significant generation of hazardous
and non-hazardous wastes during the Reporting Period.
The main contributor to the Group’s carbon footprint is
greenhouse gas emissions caused indirectly from electricity
consumption in office.

We promote energy efficiency and emission reduction in all
operation processes. Nevertheless, the Group is committed
to protect environment by seeking to reduce the impact
on the environment especially regarding the reduction of
greenhouse gas emission and preservation of resources.

To achieve this, the Group has adopted various measures to
lower waste and consumption levels in our office and other

facilities:

- limit air-conditioning hours and maintain suitable
indoor temperature;

- switch off photocopiers, printers and computers after
office hours;

- unplug all equipment chargers and adapters when they
are not in use so as to reduce power consumption;

- clean the air conditioning and ventilation system
regularly; and

- arrange efficient use of executive passenger vehicles

There are no relevant laws and regulations applicable to the
Group’s businesses on this aspect.
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RiE #HgRERHRS

As minimum environment impact results from the Group’s
operation, KPIs Al.4 and A1.6 are immaterial to the Group’s
operation and have not been disclosed in this ESG Report.
In addition, as there is no substantial hazardous waste
produced from the Group’s operation, KPI A1.3 is not
applicable to the Group and has not been disclosed as well.

For the year ended 31 March 2019, the Group’s greenhouse
gas emission from energy indirect emissions (Scope 2)
resulting from electricity consumption were approximately
34.6 tonnes of carbon dioxide (“CO,”). The greenhouse gas
emissions were approximately 34.6 tonnes of CO, in total and
approximately 397kg of CO, per employee.

Emission

HHE

HRASENZEMELANRRETE
BN ?Elﬁ%i MIBFALAR AL E AR
SENZEVTEEERXE  WARE -
ié&ﬁxuiﬁ%T%ﬁaﬁ N R =2
RASEHEELERETYEELANE
BEBRY BREMEZMITE
ARAEER  BHABETTTRE -

EHE2019F3A31RAIEFE - REMK
BREMaIBMEEEREZEREH
W (B E2) 4 A34.6HF — bk - A=
REBIENELN A34.6H — ALK
BHEBH AT G

A1.2 Greenhouse gas emission

Year ended 31 March 2019

AL2E ERE R BE2019F3ANALEFE
Scope 2 -~ indirect emission — CO, 34.6 tonnes
BWE2 - MEHFER - ALK 34.6f

A2 USE OF RESOURCES A2E R 2 F

The Group has implemented paperless concept in the
internal human resources management processes. [t
includes paperless employee pay advice, leave application
form and company internal notice. In addition, the use
of recycled paper for printing and copying, double-
sided printing and copying have become the Group’s
internal practices. These practices greatly reduced paper
consumption and cost. The Group regularly collects and
evaluates printer usage data to monitor the effectiveness of
the paperless environment.

In order to reduce unnecessary usage and improve efficient
use of resources, the Group has established the “energy and
resource savings” policy, under which:

. lights and electronic appliances in workplace must be
turned off when they are not in use;

. the temperature of the air conditioners shall be
maintained at 25.5°C;
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. computers, photocopy machines, printers and other
office equipment must be turned off when the staff are
off duty or on leave;

. turn off lighting and air conditioning when the guest
room is vacant; and

. use of recyclable resources e.g. recycle paper,
washable tableware, water recycling shall be used.

The Group will continuously monitor and manage the use of
resources in order to reduce its operating costs as well as
the carbon footprints.

As there is no issue in sourcing water, KPl A2.4 has not been
disclosed in this ESG Report. Further, as only immaterial
water and packaging material were consumed in the Group’s
operation, KPI A2.2 and KPI A2.5 are not applicable to the
Group and has not been disclosed in this ESG Report.

Use of resources
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ENERGY CONSUMPTION-Electricity Year ended 31 March 2019
RERHEE-BN HE2019F3ANBLEFE

Total Electricity consumption (kWh)
BEhEEE(TREF)

Total Electricity consumption per employee (kWh)

BRrREEENREE(TER)

ENERGY CONSUMPTION

BERE

Total energy consumption-Electricity (MJ)
gEReEE -EHNOKER)

Total energy consumption per employee (MJ)

SHEEERAEEECLER)
PAPER CONSUMPTION
R

Total office paper consumption (kg)

MmoRAeREE(TR)

Total office paper consumption per employee (kg)

BREERAMAERE(TR)

around 43,000kWh
#)43,000F K B

around 500kWh
#1500F

Year ended 31 March 2019
B E£201953A31BLFE
around 155,000MJ
#7155,000 K £ H

around 1,800MJ
#91,800KEH

Year ended 31 March 2019
B E£2019F3A3MBLFE
around 3,500kg
493,500 F %%,

around 40kg

#40F 5=

Annual Report 2019 ZZE—NEF K

43



44

Environmental, Social and Governance Report
RIE -HERERERS

A3 ENVIRONMENT AND NATURAL RESOURCES

The Group promotes environmental awareness among
our employees and encourages them to work in an
environmentally responsible manner. To further promote
environmentally friendly office conditions, the following
methods are used:

1. all used printer cartridges are returned to the supplier
for recycling;

2. recycling bins are placed in the offices’ common areas
to separately collect waste paper for recycling;

3. employees are encouraged to print double-sided
documents to reduce paper usage; and

4. make sure its business operation comply with the
environmental law in Hong Kong and its operating
locations.

SOCIAL
B1 EMPLOYMENT

As at 31 March 2019, the Group had a total number of
87 employees in Hong Kong and the PRC. The Group is
committed to providing a fair and respectful workplace for
our employees. The Group ensures our human resources
policies are in compliance with all applicable laws and
regulations and with reference to the general practice
and benchmark of the industry. A comprehensive system
of remuneration, incentive and performance management
system has been established to attract and retain talents
for our long-term and stable growth. The system consists
of basic salary, legal and extra benefits (i.e. mandatory
provident fund, medical and other insurance, annual leave,
sick leave and various subsidies), and monetary rewards
(i.e. discretionary bonus and sales commission) for the
employees.
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Environmental, Social and Governance Report

The Group understands that the employees are its most
important asset. The Group has established a human
resource policy, under which:

. employees are reviewed annually on a performance
basis with reference to the market standards for
consideration of promotion and/or reward;

. in order to promote a harmonious and mutual respect
working environment, a staff manual is established to
govern the recruitment, promotion, discipline, working
hours and leaves. The staff manual also stipulates the
anti-discrimination policies and employees’ code of
conducts;

. clear work processes according to professional
and ethical labour practices have been clearly
communicated to all employees. Certain policies
to govern employees’ affairs such as payroll,
attendance and termination are clearly set out in
staff appointment letters in compliance with the
Employment Ordinance (Chapter 571 of the law of Hong
Kong); and

. diversity of workforce are promised, including in terms
of age, gender and nationality, as well as a culture of
equal opportunity. The management regularly reviews
the Group’s remuneration policy in relation to relevant
market standards.

During the Reporting Period, the Group is not aware of
any non-compliance with relevant laws and regulations
that have a significant impact on the Group relating to
compensation and dismissal, recruitment and promotion,
working hours, rest periods, equal opportunity, diversity,
anti-discrimination and other benefits and welfare.
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B1 EMPLOYMENT

As at 31 March 2019, all of the employees of the Group
are permanent staff and the distribution of workforce is

summarised as follows:

18-30
= 18-305%

As at 31 March 2019, the employee turnover of the Group is

Age distribution

30-40

summarised as follows:

F o

41-50

m 30-405% m 41-508%

51-60

Environmental, Social and Governance Report
RIE HERERESE

Over 60

51-60B% = 60k AL

B1{E &

MN2019F3A31H * "EB A B
BERET BRI MEBMaoT

Gender

=321

Male Female

=B fegiis

R2019F3A31H  "EERE R
BT

81

Number Rate
A [5i
LOCATION ih B
Hong Kong BB 12 34%
The PRC (excluding Hong Kong) FE(FE BRI 23 66%
AGE DISTRIBUTION FRoM
18-30 18-307% 13 54%
31-40 31-408% 16 53%
41-50 41-508% 4 27%
51-60 51-605B% 1 8%
Over 60 603% A £ 1 20%
GENDER % 5l
Male B 29 41%
Female e 6 38%
Total w@at
Employee turnover BB mAk=E 35 40%
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B2 HEALTH AND SAFETY

The Group always emphasises the importance of
occupational health and safety. Workplace health and
safety policies have been established in compliance with
applicable local laws and laws in the mainland China.
Assessments on these policies are conducted regularly to
keep our standards updated and practical. For any potential
problems that may jeopardise our employees’ health and
safety, the Group implements protective and improvement
measures to minimise any incidents. The measures taken are
listed below:

. provide auxiliary tools e.g. trolley, pump-action water
dispenser, ladder, etc;

. set up safety warning signs, banners and slogans in
the work sites;

. organise a series of trainings in relation to
occupational safety;

. conduct emergency response drills regularly;

. install fire extinguishers, sprinklers, hose reels and
smoke detectors;

. prohibit smoking and drinking liquor in the workplace;

. arrange regular pests control; and

. support team members to achieve a healthy work-life
balance.

Appropriate measures will be continuously taken by the
Group to improve safety and health of the employees in
workplace.

RiE #HgRERERSE
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RiE #HgRERHRS

During the Reporting Period, there were no material
accidents in the course of our business operation which gave
rise to any claims and compensation paid to our employees
and the Group is not aware of any non-compliance with
relevant laws and regulations that have a significant
impact on the Group relating to providing a safe working

environment and protecting employees from occupational

BEX

RBEHE AEEREHLEBRRE
hEEEEEAERERN
HRRABEEXMNHEE: FAANBE
REZE2TERERRERER2E
FieETETETENHEAEERS
FENHEBERRERNBR

BT

hazards.

Year ended

31 March 2019

BZ2019%F

INDICATORS EE 3A3MBLEFE
Number of reportable injuries’ ATHHEIGRE 0
Injury rate?’ T 5tk =2 0
Number of reportable occupational discases ZBATFHHEBMERTE 0
Occupational disease rate® BB 25 9% Eb R 0
Number of lost days* BAIEAH 0
Lost day rate® BARIEAELL R 0

Note:

Reportable injuries refer to work-related accidents to
employees resulting in incapacity for a period exceeding
three days in HK or PRC.

The injury rate is calculated based on the number of injuries
per 200,000 hours worked (100 employees working 40 hours
per week for 50 weeks).

The occupational disease rate is calculated based on the

number of occupational diseases per 200,000 hours worked.

Lost days refer to the days that could not be worked as a
consequence of a worker being unable to perform their usual
work because an occupational accident or disease.

The lost days rate is calculated based on the number of lost

days per 200,000 hours worked.

Polyfair Holdings Limited E# R ER A A
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B3 DEVELOPMENT AND TRAINING

Being a facade and curtain wall work solutions provider
in Hong Kong, the Group recognises the importance of
professionalism and competence of its staff. The main
objective of training and development in the Group is to
help develop key competencies which enable individuals to
perform current or future jobs successfully.

The training and development programmes will be geared
towards the following objectives:

- strengthening the job skills/knowledge of employees;

- improving operational efficiency and productivity; and/
or

- developing the potential of employees for maximising
mutual benefit to individuals and the Group.

Types of training or development activities conducted

- employee-initiated training/development activities
may include external programmes that are organised
by external training institutes, or by the Group; and

- employer-initiated programmes may take the form of
offering sponsorship for employees to attend external
programmes or organising such programmes in-house.

During the Reporting period, the Group made full use of
internal resource to organise various forms of training
covering management, customers service, financial, etc. to
the employees.

RiE #HgRERERSE
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B4 LABOUR STANDARDS

The Group fully understands that the exploitation of child
and forced labour are universally prohibited, and therefore
takes the responsibility against child and forced labour very
seriously. The Group prohibits any child and forced labour
in its operations. A system of comprehensive recruitment
processes is established requiring background checks
to be conducted on candidates and formalised reporting
procedures to address any exceptions found. The Group
also performs regular reviews and inspections to detect the
existence of any child or forced labour in the operations.
At the meantime, the Group also avoids engaging vendors
of administrative supplies and services and contractors
that are known to employ child or forced labour in their
operations.

The Group is not aware of any material non-compliance with
the relevant laws and regulations that have a significant
impact relating to preventing child or forced labour on the
Group during the Reporting Period. In addition, no non-
compliance with relevant laws and regulations that resulted
in significant fines or sanctions had been reported in the
Reporting Period.

B5 SUPPLY CHAIN MANAGEMENT

The Group’s general business suppliers include providers of
fabricated products, aluminium and steel, glass, installation
work and design services for construction projects.

The Group believes that the quality of its products and
services as well as its reputation will be influenced by
the work with its suppliers. Therefore, the Group has
established procurement policy to maintain high level of
ethical standards for choosing the right supplier through
careful selection and continuous measurement. The Group
conducts review on key suppliers annually so as to provide
an opportunity to suppliers to enhance their services and
products quality, which improves both the suppliers and our
procurement management effectively.
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B4% T 2|

RNEBRPS R FIH ZE T kA
BT HAUUBREEEFRETEET
RoGHIBETHEMR - AKEZFHE
BEREAEMNEIRAGS T AEH
EREV—AEEERBEESENTE
BEEFREREGEETMAER
BISMERBERBMERF - BINTE
B hlE LEHEERPELRF
FEAEMETISKRGIST - 8t R -
AEENBEREZEDNELEERER
BETIRHSTHTEARRREH
FER A R ABE -

RBEHE  NEEHTMBED L
BIgARWSIHEREEREIMMY
AEBBEAZENHRERLIER
B o b RS HEBEZR
AAETHBEZZILEZRMERKER
SR REANHBAER

BoitFE@EEE

AEEN-REBGHEBRREEER
BFERENHER MRkl BH %
KIRMRRBOEHRR -

AEEHEEEMRRBREEENARE
EXHMERNIEZE - Bl - K
SEEHTRERET  SHRHFEKE
REFETESHENEER  NgEFS
IKFEBIZE -AEEGFERETE
HER BERESEHRERARBRE
mMEE HERSEARESHERK
HEERE -



Environmental, Social and Governance Report

In selecting new suppliers, the Group compares at least
three different companies and emphasises the legal
compliance and integrity culture of suppliers’ operations,
beyond cost considerations. On-site inspections and
research are conducted before the commencement of
business with suppliers, followed by annual examination and
evaluation in various aspects including occupational health
and safety, employee rights protection, environmental
protection and corporate social responsibility to ensure
suppliers operated in compliance with the national
standards or relevant requirement, and there are no child
labour or forced labour issues. The examination and
evaluation results will be used as the basis for continuation
or termination of cooperation in the future.

B6 PRODUCT RESPONSIBILITY

A high priority for the Group is to ensure customer
satisfaction in terms of our products and services.
Strenuous efforts are made to ensure compliance with the
relevant laws and regulations relating to product health
and safety, advertising, labelling and privacy matters of
the jurisdictions in which the Group operates. The Group’s
code of conduct requires its employees to comply with
applicable governmental and regulatory laws, rules, codes
and regulations.

RiE #HgRERERSE
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The Group is not aware of any non-compliance with relevant
laws and regulations that have a significant impact on the
Group relating to health and safety, intellectual property
rights, advertising, labeling and privacy matters relating
to services provided and methods of redress during the
Reporting Period. The Group has in-house rules governing
the work procedures for the projects in order to ensure
work quality. The Group considers that the quality of
works generally depends on the quality of building
materials supplied and installation works performed by
subcontractors at construction sites, which in turn are
generally controlled by the Group’s quality control measures
on suppliers, including: (i) ensuring sufficient planning
prior to executing the project to ensure that quality control
measures and procedures are in place; (ii) maintaining a
list of approved suppliers and only engaging those on the
list; and (iii) conducting sample inspections on building
materials supplied based on the technical specifications of
the relevant projects. Building materials that are defective
or that do not meet the specifications will be returned to
the suppliers. During the Reporting Period, our Group did
not receive any material complaint or demand for any kind
of compensation from the customers or subject to any
deductions, withholding, counter-claim or set-off due to the
quality issues in relation to the products and services.

B7 ANTI-CORRUPTION

Corruption, bribery or fraud in any form is strictly prohibited.
The Group’s anti-corruption policies set out standards of
conduct to which all employees are required to adhere in
order to promote the integrity of the workplace.

To combat corruption and to govern conflicts of interest,
ICAC seminars available to all Hong Kong staff on anti-
corruption have been conducted. In addition, unless with
prior approval from senior management, employees should
not give or accept any gifts, gratuities, favours or benefits
that are beyond common courtesies with accepted business
practices or any excessive entertainment. Breaches are
subject to disciplinary actions, including the termination of
employment contracts where necessary.
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We aim to maintain the highest standards of openness,
uprightness and accountability and all our staff are
expected to observe the highest standards of ethical,
personal and professional conduct. We do not tolerate
corruption, bribery, extortion, money-laundering and other
fraudulent activities in connection with any of our business
operations.

The Group adopted a whistle-blowing system for reporting
any improprieties in financial reporting, internal control,
suspected or actual fraud or other matters. Whistleblower
can drop an email directly to the Audit Committee. If they
prefer, they can choose to use an anonymous email address
to report the matters.

The chairman of the Audit Committee can call for a meeting
with the Board to investigate the reported matters.

The Board may also decide whether the Group needs to
appoint an external consultant (including professional
parties, ICAC or police, etc.) to deal with the reported
matters.

The Group is not aware of any potential or confirmed
cases regarding corruption practices brought against
the Group or its employees during the Reporting Period.
No whistleblowing disclosures were received during
the Reporting Period. The Group is not aware of any
non-compliant with relevant law and regulations that have a
significant impact on the Group relating to bribery, extortion,
fraud and money laundering.

B8 COMMUNITY INVESTMENT

The Group is constantly aware of the needs of the community
and is ready to try its best to contribute to the community
by participating in and sponsoring community activities.

In addition, the Group encourages and supports its staff to
participate in volunteer services at the leisure times.
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Directors’ Report

EEERE

The Directors are pleased to present this Directors’ report and the
audited consolidated financial statements of the Group for the
year ended 31 March 2019.

CORPORATE REORGANISATION

The Company was incorporated in the Cayman Islands under the
Companies Law of the Cayman Islands as an exempted company
with limited liability on 25 May 2017.

In preparation for the Listing, the Group underwent corporate
reorganisation (the “Reorganisation”). The Reorganisation was
completed on 19 January 2018, and the Company became the
holding company of the Group.

Details of the Reorganisation are set out in note 1B to the
consolidated financial statements of this annual report. The
Shares were listed on GEM on 23 February 2018 by way of share
offer.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The Company is an investment holding company. Since 2006,
the Group has mainly engaged as a subcontractor that provides
facade and curtain wall works solutions in Hong Kong. Details
of the principal activities of the Group’s subsidiaries as at 31
March 2019 are set out in note 36 to the consolidated financial
statements of this annual report. The Group’s revenue for the year
was derived mainly from activities carried out in Hong Kong. An
analysis of the Group’s revenue for the year is set out in note 5 to
the consolidated financial statements of this annual report.

BUSINESS REVIEW

A review of the business of the Group for the year ended 31
March 2019, assessment of the principal risks and uncertainties
faced by the Group, particulars of important events affecting the
Group that have occurred subsequent to the end of the year as
well as indication of likely future development in the business
of the Group are set out in the section headed “Management
Discussion and Analysis” of this annual report. In addition, the
Group’s environmental policy, compliance with the relevant laws
and regulations that have significant impact of the Group and key
relationships with its stakeholders are set out in this Directors’
Report.
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RESULTS AND APPROPRIATIONS

The results of the Group for the year ended 31 March 2019 are set
out in the consolidated financial statements on pages 78 to 179
of this annual report.

The Board does not recommend any payment of final dividend for
the year ended 31 March 2019 (2018: nil).

RESERVES

Details of the movement in the reserves of the Company and the
Group during the year are set out in note 38 to the consolidated
financial statements of the Group and in the consolidated
statement of changes in equity on page 80 of this annual report
respectively.

DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES

As at 31 March 2019, the Company’s reserves available for
distribution to Shareholders amounted to approximately
HK$23,393,000. Such amount represented share premium net of
accumulated losses of the Company, which may be distributable
provided that immediately following the date on which the dividend
is proposed to be distributed, the Company will be in a position to
pay off its debts as and when they fall due in the ordinary course
of business.

USE OF PROCEEDS

The net proceeds amounting from the Listing on 23 February 2018
(the “Listing Date”) after deducting the underwriting fees and
other listing expenses in connection with the Share Offer were
approximately HK$28.2 million.

RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS AND
CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS

Details of significant related party transactions undertaken by the
Group during the year in the ordinary course of business are set
out in note 35 to the consolidated financial statements.

The following transaction between certain connected persons (as
defined in the Listing Rules) and the Company had been entered
into or are ongoing for which relevant announcement, if necessary,
had been made by the Company in accordance with Chapter 20 of
the GEM Listing Rules.
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EEEHRE

As at 31 March 2019, Mr. Yu Lap On Stephen and two companies
controlled by Mr. Chow Mo Lam or his close family members
(namely, Polyfaith Holdings Limited and Polykind Far East
Limited), had pledged their properties to secure banking
facilities granted to certain subsidiaries within the Group for nil
consideration.

Pursuant to Rule 20.88 of the GEM Listing Rules, such transaction
is exempted from shareholders’ approval, annual review and all
disclosure requirements under Chapter 20 of the GEM Listing
Rules. The Company has complied with the requirements in
Chapter 20 of the GEM Listing Rules in respect of the above
financial assistance received.

Save as disclosed above, none of the related party transactions
set out in note 35 to the consolidated financial statement
constitutes connected transactions or continuing connected
transactions under Chapter 20 of the GEM Listing Rules.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Details of the movements in property, plant and equipment of the
Group during the year are set out in note 14 to the consolidated
financial statements of this annual report.

SHARE CAPITAL

Details of movements in the share capital of the Company during
the year are set out in note 27 to the consolidated financial
statements of this annual report.

SHARE OPTION SCHEME

Prior to the Listing, the Company had conditionally adopted a
share option scheme (the “Share Option Scheme”) which became
unconditional and effect on the Listing Date. Particulars of the
Share Option Scheme are set out in note 31 to the consolidated
financial statements of this annual report. No share option has
been granted under the Share Option Scheme since the Listing
Date, nor was there any share option outstanding as at the date
of this annual report.

Save as disclosed above, no rights to subscribe for equity or debt
securities of the Company have been granted to or exercised by
any Directors or their associates since the effective date of the
Share Option Scheme.
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PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There is no provision for pre-emptive rights under the Articles or
the laws of the Cayman Islands which would oblige the Company
to offer new shares on a pro rata basis to existing shareholders.

FINANCIAL SUMMARY

A summary of the published results and assets and liabilities of
the Group for the years ended 31 March 2016, 2017, 2018 and
2019, is set out on page 179 of this annual report. This summary
does not form part of the audited financial statements.

TAX RELIEF AND EXEMPTION

The Company is not aware of any tax relief and exemption available
to the Shareholders by reason of their holding of the Shares.

DIRECTORS

The Directors for the year ended 31 March 2019 and up to the date
of this report were:

Executive Directors:

Mr. Chow Mo Lam (Chairman)
Mr. Yu Lap On Stephen (Chief Executive Officer)
Mr. Wong Kam Man

Independent non-executive Directors:

Dr. Lung Cheuk Wah
Mr. Ng Ka Lok
Mr. Wong Chi Yung

In accordance with Article 84 of the Articles, Mr. Chow Mo Lam
(executive Director) and Dr. Lung Cheuk Wah (independent non-
executive Director) shall retire and, being eligible, will offer
themselves for re-election at the forthcoming annual general
meeting of the Company.
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TERMS OF OFFICE FOR THE INDEPENDENT NON-
EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

All the independent non-executive Directors (“INEDs”) were
appointed for a specific term of three years commencing on
23 February 2018 and subject to the relevant provisions of the
Articles or any other applicable laws whereby the Directors shall
vacate or retire from their office.

The Company has received from each INED an annual confirmation
of his independence from the Group, and as at the date of this
report still considers them to be independent pursuant to Rule
5.09 of the GEM Listing Rules.

DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS

Each of the executive Directors has entered into a service
agreement with the Company for an initial term of three years
commencing from the Listing Date, and will continue thereafter
until terminated by not less than three months’ notice in writing
served by either party on the other.

None of the Directors proposed for re-election at the forthcoming
AGM has an unexpired service contract with the Group which is
not determinable by the Group within one year without payment
of compensation, other than statutory compensation.

Particulars of the emoluments of the Directors on a named basis
for the year are set out in note 10 to the consolidated financial
statements of this annual report.

MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS

During the year ended 31 March 2019, the Company did not enter
into or have any management and administration contracts in
respect of the whole or any substantial part of the business of the
Company.
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DIRECTORS’ MATERIAL INTERESTS IN
TRANSACTIONS, ARRANGEMENTS OR
CONTRACTS OF SIGNIFICANCE

Save as disclosed in this report, there were no other transactions,
arrangements or contracts of significance in relation to the
Group’s business to which the Company or any of its subsidiaries
was a party, or in which a Director or its connected entities had a
material interest (whether directly or indirectly) subsisted at the
end of the Reporting Period or at any time during the Reporting
Period.

DIRECTORS’
BUSINESSES

As at the date of this report, none of the Directors and their
respective close associates (not being the INEDs) are considered
to have interests in the businesses which compete or are likely to

INTERESTS IN COMPETING

compete with the businesses of the Group pursuant to the GEM
Listing Rules.

PERMITTED INDEMNITY PROVISION

Pursuant to the Articles, the Directors and every one of them
is entitled to be indemnified out of the assets of the Company
losses, damages
and expenses which the Directors or any of them, shall or may

from and against all actions, costs, charges,

incur or sustain by or by reason of any act done, concurred in or
omitted in or about the execution of their duty, or supposed duty
in their offices or otherwise in relation thereto provided that this
indemnity shall not extend to any matter in respect of any fraud
or dishonesty which may attach to any of the Directors.

The Company has taken out and maintained Directors’ liability
insurance throughout the Reporting Period which provides
appropriate cover for legal actions brought against the Directors.
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DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVES’ INTERESTS
AND SHORT POSITIONS IN SHARES, UNDERLYING
SHARES AND DEBENTURES

As at 31 March 2019, the interests or short positions of the
Directors and the chief executive of the Company or their
respective associates in Shares,
debentures of the Company or its associated corporations (within
the meaning of Part XV of the SFO) which are required to be
notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to
Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of the SFO, including interests and/
or short positions which they are deemed or taken to have under
such provisions of the SFO, or which will be required, pursuant to
section 352 of the SFO or as otherwise notified to the Company
and the Exchange pursuant to Rules 5.46 to 5.67 of the GEM
Listing Rules were as follows:

underlying Shares and

(@) Interests in shares of the Company

%%&E%?ﬁkﬁ#ﬁﬁ*ﬁ
B R 0 & E & E

M2019F3A31H A AR EER &S THK
ABEBESENBEAREARRRLEME
BAB(EEREBEZNESTIERE 5N
BEPIEXVER)BRG - BERMDREES
FoBBREBEESRPEERAEXNVTEIR
BN BAMERRARIRBRATMER AR
(BIER EIRIEE #&Hﬁiﬂwumﬁﬁﬁﬂxx
WEERERBEENER &K
HIRBEEFESFLAE 1|7,<15\J’5f€3521|%2,\ua)\§21w
FrissmfmEmsixs  RIEGEM £
MBI E5.46E5.67KREBITHEARARAR
B ESIABEHINAT :

(@) RERTRDEE =S

Percentage of

Number of shareholding in

Name of Director Capacity Long/short Position shares held the Company

RAERATHN

E=ps &6 HRr/ KRR FERmEE REBDL

Mr. Chow Mo Lam Interest of controlled Long position 600,000,000 75%
corporation Shares (Note)
J& A 5 A EEHEAEE R A 600,000,000 %
[ 5 ()

Note: 600,000,000 Shares are directly held by C.N.Y. Holdings MfEE: 600,000,000 D AKEBZERE

Limited, a company incorporated in British Virgin Islands with
limited liability, which is owned by Mr. Chow Mo Lam (“Mr.
Chow”) as to 83% and by Mr. Yu Lap On Stephen (“Mr. Yu”) as
to 17%. Both Mr. Chow and Mr. Yu are executive Directors. By
virtue of the SFO, Mr. Chow is deemed to be interested in the
600,000,000 Shares held by C.N.Y. Holdings Limited. Each of
Mr. Chow, Mr. Yu and C.N.Y. Holdings Limited is regarded as
a Controlling Shareholder.
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(b) Interests in shares of the associated (b) RAQTHE LERMDHWER
corporation of the Company

Percentage of
shareholding in

Name of associated Number of the associated
corporation Name of Director Capacity Long/short Position shares held corporation
RIEH LB
HHZEER EEpg g} He/%e FEROYE REBDHL
C.N.Y. Holdings Limited ~ Mr. Chow Mo Lam Beneficial Owner  Long position 83 shares et 83%
KEBERERRAA BB 5 A& EREBA e 83 it =)
C.N.Y. Holdings Limited ~ Mr. Yu Lap On Stephen Beneficial Owner Long position 17 shares (ot 17%
KEERBRRA RURESE ERBEA e 178 R ()

Note: 600,000,000 Shares are directly held by C.N.Y. Holdings MisF: 600,000,000 A& 15 A7k BEHE R A
Limited, a company incorporated in British Virgin Islands with RAR(—EREBEAZESEM
limited liability, which is owned by Mr. Chow Mo Lam (“Mr. MK BERABEZFEAR MK
Chow”) as to 83% and by Mr. Yu Lap On Stephen (“Mr. Yu”) as BIEREBR AR HRBRMKEE(TE
to 17%. Both Mr. Chow and Mr. Yu are executive Directors. By EEDRRIRAE(NREE]D 5
virtue of the SFO, Mr. Chow is deemed to be interested in the RIBEAEBI% N 17% IR » FhA R
600,000,000 Shares held by C.N.Y. Holdings Limited. Each of REEHEHTESE - BEZFH
Mr. Chow, Mr. Yu and C.N.Y. Holdings Limited is regarded as REGED - BEEwWEERKE
a Controlling Shareholder. P i% B R 2 R #5F §9600,000,000

B EAEER - AXE R
FEFRKAZERERITEBR
BRERRER -

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 March 2019, none of the B EXXETH EE SN - R2019% 128318 © #
Directors or the chief executives of the Company or their BANFESTAESTBRAELESESTEAN
respective associates had any interests and short positions in AR A S AT AR R E B ARG
the shares, underlying shares, convertible notes or debentures of ~ KR HD - TR KR ZiEkEEEF  BE
the Company or any of its associated corporations as recorded in R2019F 12 ASMHE R AXRR B IRIEFEH K
the register maintained by the Company pursuant to section 352 HYE i 1) 5 35216 17 & /Y & 50 1 89 1 (] 4 &
of the SFO or otherwise notified to the Company and the Stock R#KkBE S AEMTXNAGARRA KR
Exchange as at 31 March 2019. FTEE R KRR -
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SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS’ INTERESTS AND
SHORT POSITIONS IN SHARES

Save as disclosed in the paragraph headed “Directors’ and Chief
Executives’ Interests and Short Positions in Shares, Underlying
Shares and Debentures” in this report, as at 31 March 2019, so far
as was known to any Directors or chief executive of the Company,
the interests which would fall to be disclosed under Divisions 2
and 3 of Part XV of the SFO, or of whom were deemed to be directly
or indirectly interested in 5% or more of the issued capital of
the Company, or which were recorded in the register of interests
required to be kept under Section 336 of the SFO or have been
notified to the Company were as follows:

FTERRRRONEZR KA

BRARESEERESTTBRABRKRS - A
ARDEEEENER R AR —BRAKE
E O FRA2019F3A31H » AR R EME
ERERTBEABNM  BEZFHFRBEK
BIEXVEHE2R3D EAW BEM R - W
EEEESMERERARBEITRASY
AR KIRBEESRBAERNE
I ATEMESECMATE S ER
FEMEARRIMEZELOT

Percentage of

Number of shareholding in

Name of Shareholders Capacity Long/Short position Shares held the Company

RAERATN

BRRERB HH g7} BR/ KR RO HEE REBDL

C.N.Y. Holdings Limited Beneficial owner Mt¢" | ong position 600,000,000 Mote 1 75%
KBERBRAR EmER AW o) 600,000,000/%
% 5 ()

Ms. Hau Pak Sui Interest of spouse M2 [ ong position 600,000,000 MNete 2) 75%

FEAEX L 7 {88 #E 25 2) N

600,000,000 4%

P& 1y (M iE2)

Notes:

1. 600,000,000 Shares are directly held by C.N.Y. Holdings Limited, a
company incorporated in British Virgin Islands with limited liability,
which is owned by Mr. Chow Mo Lam (“Mr. Chow”) as to 83% and by
Mr. Yu Lap On Stephen (“Mr. Yu”) as to 17%. Both Mr. Chow and Mr.
Yu are executive Directors. By virtue of the SFO, Mr. Chow is deemed
to be interested in the 600,000,000 Shares held by C.N.Y. Holdings
Limited. Each of Mr. Chow, Mr. Yu and C.N.Y. Holdings Limited is

regarded as a Controlling Shareholder.

2. Ms. Hau Pak Sui is the spouse of Mr. Chow and she is deemed to be
interested in the 600,000,000 Shares, in which Mr. Chow is deemed
interested by virtue of the SFO.
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Save as disclosed above, and as at 31 March 2019, the Directors
were not aware of any persons (who were not Directors or chief
executives of the Company) who had an interest or short position
in the share capital of the Company which would fall to be
disclosed under Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV of the SFO, or which
would be required, pursuant to Section 336 of the SFO, to be
entered in the register referred to therein.

ARRANGEMENTS TO PURCHASE SHARES OR
DEBENTURES

At no time during the Reporting Period was the Company or any
of its subsidiaries a party to any arrangements to enable the
Directors to acquire benefits by means of the acquisition of shares
in, or debentures of, the Company or any other body corporate with
the exception of granting of share options to subscribe for Shares
under the Share Option Scheme.

DIRECTORS’ RIGHTS TO ACQUIRE SHARES

Save for those as disclosed in the above paragraph under
“Directors’ and Chief Executives’ Interest and Short Positions in
Shares, Underlying Shares and Debentures” and “Share Option
Scheme” in this Directors’ Report, at no time during the year were
rights to acquire benefits by means of the acquisition of shares
in or debentures of the Company granted to any Directors or their
respective spouse or minor children, or were any such rights
exercised by them; or was the Company, or any of its subsidiaries
a party to any arrangement to enable to the Directors to acquire
such rights in any other body corporate.

NON-COMPETITION UNDERTAKING BY THE
CONTROLLING SHAREHOLDERS

Each of the Controlling Shareholders, namely C.N.Y. Holdings
Limited, Mr. Chow Mo Lam and Mr. Yu Lap On Stephen, entered
into a deed of non-competition in favour of the Company on 25
January 2018 (the “Deed”), details of which have been set out in
the Prospectus.
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RELATIONSHIP WITH SUPPLIERS, CUSTOMERS
AND OTHER STAKEHOLDERS

The Group understands the importance of maintaining a good
relationship with its suppliers, customers and other stakeholders
to meet its immediate and long-term goals. During the Reporting
Period, there were no material and significant dispute between the
Group and its suppliers, customers and/or other stakeholders.

MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

During the Reporting Period, the aggregate sales attributable
to the Group’s five largest customers and the aggregate
purchases attributable to the Group’s five largest suppliers were
approximately 97% and 59% of the Group’s sales and purchases
respectively.

During the Reporting Period, the aggregate sales attributable
to the Group’s largest customer and the aggregate purchases
attributable to the Group’s largest supplier were approximately
50% and 26% of the Group’s sales and purchases respectively.

None of the Directors, their associates or any Shareholders, which
to the knowledge of the Directors owned more than 5% of the
Company’s issued share capital, had a beneficial interest in any
of the Group’s five largest suppliers and customers during the
Reporting Period.

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF SHARES

Neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries had purchased,
sold or redeemed any of the Shares during the period from the
Listing Date to 31 March 2019.

COMPLIANCE ADVISER’S INTERESTS

The Company and Sunfund Capital Limited mutually agreed to
terminate the compliance adviser agreement dated 25 January
2018 with effect from 7 May 2019, due to commercial reasons.
The Company appointed First Shanghai Capital Limited (“First
Shanghai”) as its new compliance adviser with effect from 29
May 2019. For further information, please refer to the Company’s
announcements dated 6 May 2019 and 29 May 2019.
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As at the date of this report, neither First Shanghai nor any of
its directors, employees or associates had any interests in the
shares of the Company or any member of the Group, or any right to
subscribe for or to nominate persons to subscribe for the shares
of the Company or any member of the Group.

Pursuant to the compliance adviser agreement entered into
between the Company and First Shanghai on 29 May 2019,
First Shanghai received and will receive fees for acting as the
Company’s compliance adviser for the period commencing on 29
May 2019 and ending on the date which the Company complies
with Rule 18.03 of the GEM Listing Rules in respect of its financial
results for the second full financial year after the Listing Date.

EMPLOYEES AND EMOLUMENT POLICIES

As at 31 March 2019, the Group had 87 (2018: 89) employees.

The emolument policy of the employees of the Group is
formulated by the Remuneration Committee based on their
merit, qualifications and competence. It is the Group’s policy to
compensate each employee fairly and equitably. The Group has
a system for measuring employees’ performance against agreed-
upon goals with specific performance standards. Performance
discussion is carried out on an ongoing basis and a formal
evaluation is conducted once a year to review employees’ overall
performance, achievements, and areas in need of improvement.
Salary review will be based on individual performance and subject
to the Group’s discretion.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

The Company is committed to maintaining a high standard of
Information on the corporate
governance practices adopted by the Company is set out in the

corporate governance practices.

Corporate Governance Report on pages 23 to 38 of this annual
report.
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ENVIRONMENTAL POLICY

As a subcontractor that provides facade and curtain wall
works solutions in Hong Kong, the Group is subject to certain
environmental requirements in Hong Kong. The laws and
regulations which have a significant impact on the Group include,
among others, Air Pollution Control Ordinance (Chapter 311 of the
Laws of Hong Kong), Noise Control Ordinance (Chapter 400 of the
Laws of Hong Kong), Waste Disposal Ordinance (Chapter 354 of
the Laws of Hong Kong) and Public Health and Municipal Services
Ordinance (Chapter 132 of the Laws of Hong Kong).

We require our subcontractors to be in strict legal compliance
with the applicable environmental protection laws and regulations
during the whole term of engagement. During the year ended 31
March 2019, the Group did not receive notice of any environmental
non-compliance in Hong Kong addressed either to the Group or to
our subcontractors.

Discussions on the environmental policies and performance,
compliance by the Group with the relevant laws and regulations
that have a significant impact on the Group and the account of
key relationships between the Group and our stakeholders are
contained in the ESG Report on pages 39 to 53 of this annual
report.

COMPLIANCE WITH LAWS AND REGULATIONS

To the best of the Directors’ knowledge, information and belief,
having made all reasonable enquiries, the Group has complied in
material respects with the relevant laws and regulations that have
a significant impact on the business and operation of the Group
during the year.

SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on the information that is publicly available to the Company
and within the knowledge of the Directors as at the date of this
report, the Company has maintained sufficient public float as
required under the GEM Listing Rules.
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AUDIT COMMITTEE

The Audit Committee has reviewed with the management of the
Group the accounting principles and practices adopted by the
Group and discussed auditing, internal control and financial
reporting matters including the review of the audited consolidated
financial statements for the year ended 31 March 2019, with the
external auditor. There were no disagreements from the auditor of
the Company or the Audit Committee in respect of the accounting
policies adopted by the Company.

AUDITOR

The financial statements have been audited by the Company’s
auditor, Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu which will retire and, being
eligible, offer themselves for re-appointment in the forthcoming
annual general meeting of the Company.

On behalf of the Board

CHOW MO LAM
Chairman and Executive Director
Hong Kong, 21 June 2019

Directors’ Report
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Independent Auditor’s Report
B M A% AN 3R

Deloitte.

TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF POLYFAIR HOLDINGS LIMITED
(incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

Opinion

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of Polyfair
Holdings Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries (collectively
referred to as the “Group”) set out on pages 78 to 179, which
comprise the consolidated statement of financial position as at 31
March 2019, and the consolidated statement of profit or loss and
other comprehensive income, consolidated statement of changes
in equity and consolidated statement of cash flows for the year
then ended, and notes to the consolidated financial statements,
including a summary of significant accounting policies.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true
and fair view of the consolidated financial position of the Group as
at 31 March 2019, and of its consolidated financial performance
and its consolidated cash flows for the year then ended in
accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards
("HKFRSs”) issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants (“HKICPA”) and have been properly prepared in
compliance with the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong
Companies Ordinance.

Basis for Opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards
on Auditing (“HKSAs”) issued by the HKICPA. Our responsibilities
under those standards are further described in the Auditor’s
Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated Financial
Statements section of our report. We are independent of the Group
in accordance with the HKICPA’'s Code of Ethics for Professional
Accountants (the “Code”), and we have fulfilled our other ethical
responsibilities in accordance with the Code. We believe that the
audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to
provide a basis for our opinion.

Key Audit Matters

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional
judgment, were of most significance in our audit of the
consolidated financial statements of the current period. These
matters were addressed in the context of our audit of the
consolidated financial statements as a whole, and in forming our
opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion on these
matters.
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TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF
POLYFAIR HOLDINGS LIMITED (continued)
(incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

Key Audit Matters (continued)

Key audit matter
HRETER

Independent Auditor’s Report
BIYZBERE

HERZRARLQT
(REIESFHSEMAE L H R A
B iz 3R (4%)

ERESTEE(E)

How our audit addressed the key audit matter

EANESFNAEERARENSE

Impairment assessment of trade receivables and contract assets

ESENRNBERGHEENBETE

We identified the impairment assessment of trade
receivables and contract assets as a key audit matter
due to the significance of trade receivables and contract
assets to the Group’s consolidated financial position and
the involvement of significant management estimates in
determining the expected credit losses (“ECL”) of the Group's
trade receivables and contract assets at the end of the
reporting period.

BMEE SR HERA OB ENRETE R ARRE
HEE DHRESEKNERANEEY BEEEA
MUHRRAMEBEA AETSRABTE BEHEIHE
WRBERANEERBEBROEREEFENEALTE
B -

As at 31 March 2019, the Group’s trade receivables and
contract assets, net of lifetime ECL of HK$2,803,000 and
HK$762,000 respectively, amounting to HK$23,616,000 and
HK$104,564,000 respectively. As disclosed in note 2 to
the consolidated financial statements, the Group adopted
Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standard 9 “Financial
Instruments” (*HKFRS 97) and recognised an additional
impairment of HK$1,110,000 and HK$663,000 on the
trade receivables and contract assets respectively, as at
1 April 2018 in accordance with the transition provisions
of HKFRS 9. As disclosed in note 33 to the consolidated
financial statements, the Group recognised an amount of
HK$1,693,000 and HK$99,000 of ECL of trade receivables
and contract assets respectively for the year.

M20196F3A31H © EBEEXBMNEFEUGIERENEE (N
K 2 B 78 Hi 1= B F548 5 512,803,000 JT . 762,00078 JT12 )
2 Bl 23,616,000 7T K. 104,564,0007 7T ° 045 & BF 75
MERMFA2AEE BESBEMNE BB REERFINR
(SR TA|([BBFHHREERFINR]) - WH2018F 471
BiR & B 78 B 75 3R & 2 Bl 5057 A9 1B B K B B 5 B K
TH KA %) & ERERBEINEESD 51,110,000 T %663,00075
TC o AR A HRARK BT EEEEHER
NEZREWSRBERENEENTEREEEBED F1,693,000
7 7T 599,000 JT ©

Our procedures in relation to impairment assessment
of trade receivables and contract assets included:

BMEREZRKFIARAHNEENRETHHIE
FEE:

« Understanding key controls on how the
management estimate the impairment allowance
for trade receivables and contract assets based
on ECL calculation;

- THREEEERBHEEEBRFAEZIETNES
R RAERANEEREREBHNTENERERE
12 5l

« Obtaining an understanding of the management’s
impairment assessment for trade receivables and
contract assets based on ECL calculation;

- THREEEERBHEEEBRFAEZIETNES
e IR R A KB ERMER A :

« Assessing the reasonableness of key estimations
adopted by the management in determining the
ECL of trade receivables and contract assets,
including loss rates and default rates applied in
the calculation, with reference to their financial
background, creditability, ageing and likelihood
of collection with reference to repayment history
and/or past due status of respective debtors, and
forward looking information; and

- FHEEEREEEIRUFBARENEENT
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Independent Auditor’s Report
B B AR

TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF
POLYFAIR HOLDINGS LIMITED (continued)

(incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

Key Audit Matters (continued)

Key audit matter
HRESER

HERZRARLQT
(REEESFHSEMELH R A])
B i iR R ()

ERETEIE(E)

How our audit addressed the key audit matter

EMHESOMEERARETSER

Impairment assessment of trade receivables and contract assets (continued)

EZERNERE A EE @ E TG ()

As disclosed in note 4 to the consolidated financial
statements, the management of the Group assessed
the amount of lifetime ECL each of the trade
receivables and contract assets individually, after
considering the financial background, creditability,
ageing, and likelihood of collection with reference
to repayment history and/or past due status of
respective debtors. Estimated loss rates are based
on historical observed default rates over the
expected life of the respective trade receivables and
contract assets and are adjusted for forward-looking
information.

MG EMEBRRMT4AEE BEEENHERE
EEANFEE—BEFIRRFERAGHNEENEH
BHEEERESRE  ET2REBUERNERL
Bk/LBBER EEEUBER  FE KRR
KW EIAREE - fEtBRXDERTAHEBESE
WHRBERAHNEENEHERNBEERMFEN
Ko WA IEE R FHE -
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Assessing the accuracy of the ECL calculation as
at 1 April 2018 and 31 March 2019 by checking with
inputs applied to the calculation, including loss rates
and default rates applied for the respective debtors,
on a sample basis, with the rates determined by the
management in their assessment.
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TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF
POLYFAIR HOLDINGS LIMITED (continued)

Independent Auditor’s Report
BIYZBERE

HEBRZRARLQT
(REESFHSEMELH R A])

(incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability) By B R (48)

Key Audit Matters (continued)

Key audit matter
HRESER

ERETEIE(E)

How our audit addressed the key audit matter

EMHESOMEERARETSER

Recognition of revenue and cost from construction contracts

BRKEBEEE R BN a5 KA

We identified the recognition of revenue and cost
from construction contracts as a key audit matter
due to its significance to the Group’s consolidated
financial statements and involvement of significant
management estimates in determining estimated
outcomes of the construction contracts.

B 17046 5 50 00 2 B S5 A 40 B M 2 T R B 6 R
BHEE DEREY ERENGAMBBRME
BEA DRBTREANMETRRBSREX
BB -

Our procedures in relation to recognition of revenue and
cost from construction contracts included:

BPMERERREEZEANNRERKANEF B

+ Obtaining an understanding of the Group’s controls
and processes over revenue recognition, budget
preparation, and determination of estimated outcome
of construction contracts;

- TR ESEAEKRAERR FEREULRETEE
AN RNEERERF:

« Verifying the reasonableness of estimated total costs
by agreeing to the latest costs quotations provided by
major subcontractors/suppliers/vendors, on a sample
basis, and understanding from the management
of the Group to evaluate the reasonableness of
their estimated total contract costs, taking into
account of factors including the profit margin of
similar construction contracts, the duration and the
complexity of the construction contracts, on a sample
basis;

- EBMBLBATIESER HER RBHER
RUNSRHAAREERE SKEEEBNIER - b
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Independent Auditor’s Report
B B AR

TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF

POLYFAIR HOLDINGS LIMITED (continued)

(incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

Key Audit Matters (continued)

Key audit matter
HRESER

HERZRARLQA
(REEFHSEMELAH R A
B £ iR R (%)

ERETEIE(E)

How our audit addressed the key audit matter

EMHESOMEERARETSER

Recognition of revenue and cost from construction contracts (continued)

BRKEEEE R W a5 R (E)

The Group recognised revenue from provision of
construction services of HK$215,778,000 during the
year ended 31 March 2019.

REE2019F3A31H IEFE -
58 AR 1% 89 U 25 215,778,0005%8 7T °

BEREmREHRE

As disclosed in note 4 to the consolidated financial
statements, revenue from provision of construction
services are recognised by reference to the
progresses toward complete satisfaction of these
services. Budgeted contract costs and profit margin
are prepared by the management of the Group on the
basis of quotations from time to time provided by the
major subcontractors, suppliers or vendors involved
and the experience of the management of the Group.
In order to keep the budget accurate and up-to-date,
the management of the Group conducts periodic
reviews of the budgets of contracts by comparing the
budgeted amounts to the actual amounts incurred.
Such significant estimate may have impact on the
revenue recognised in each period.

HMANERE MG MR 4R E - IR EERB K
B HN2RE2EAMEXRERBHNEERR - BE
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MEBEAHNKARNBE -RARKEEERES
B BEEENEEECHEALEBESREE
REELESH  RIUANEE - BEEARMG RS
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Checking the budgeted contract costs to construction
contracts and supporting documents in relation to
the variations and claims included in the budgeted
contract costs and relevant cost documents, and
comparing actual results with the budgets, on a
sample basis; and

MEREREANRESOR AR EREES K AM
FHERT S R R B R & A S A RABB A A XX
FHRERERERE &

Evaluating the calculation of revenue and verifying the
inputs relating to the calculation, including obtaining
payment certificates/cost documents in relation to
construction costs incurred and calculation of profit
margin determined with reference to the budget, on a
sample basis.
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Independent Auditor’s Report
BIYZBERE

TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF HEREZERERLA
POLYFAIR HOLDINGS LIMITED (continued) (RESHELME ZH B R A)
(incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability) By B R (48)
Key Audit Matters (continued) EREEFTEE(E)
Key audit matter How our audit addressed the key audit matter
BEETEE BANESTNMNEEBEESETEE

Recognition of revenue and cost from construction contracts (continued)

BRKEEEE R W a5 R (E)

Recognised amounts of revenue from provision of
construction services reflect management's best
estimate of each contract's outcome and value
of works completed, which are determined on
the basis of a number of estimates. This includes
the assessment of the profitability of on-going
construction contracts. For more complex contracts
in particular, costs to complete and contract
profitability are subject to significant estimation
uncertainty. The actual outcomes in terms of
total cost or revenue may be higher or lower than
estimated at the end of each reporting period, which
would affect the revenue and profit or loss recognised
in future years as an adjustment to the amounts
recorded to date.
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Independent Auditor’s Report
B B AR

TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF
POLYFAIR HOLDINGS LIMITED (continued)
(incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

Other Information

The directors of the Company are responsible for the other
information. The other information comprises the information
included in the annual report, but does not include the
consolidated financial statements and our auditor’s report
thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not
cover the other information and we do not express any form of
assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial
statements, our responsibility is to read the other information and,
in doing so, consider whether the other information is materially
inconsistent with the consolidated financial statements or our
knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise appears to be
materially misstated. If, based on the work we have performed,
we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this other
information, we are required to report that fact. We have nothing
to report in this regard.

Responsibilities of Directors and Those Charged
with Governance for the Consolidated Financial
Statements

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation
of the consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair
view in accordance with HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA and the
disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance,
and for such internal control as the directors determine is
necessary to enable the preparation of consolidated financial
statements that are free from material misstatement, whether
due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors
are responsible for assessing the Group’s ability to continue as a
going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going
concern and using the going concern basis of accounting unless
the directors either intend to liquidate the Group or to cease
operations, or have no realistic alternative but to do so.

Those charged with governance are responsible for overseeing the
Group’s financial reporting process.
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TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF
POLYFAIR HOLDINGS LIMITED (continued)
(incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the
Consolidated Financial Statements

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether
the consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue
an auditor’s report that includes our opinion solely to you, as a
body, in accordance with our agreed terms of engagement, and
for no other purpose. We do not assume responsibility towards
or accept liability to any other person for the contents of this
report. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but
is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with
HKSAs will always detect a material misstatement when it exists.
Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered
material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably
be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken
on the basis of these consolidated financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise
professional judgment and maintain professional skepticism
throughout the audit. We also

. Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of
the consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud
or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive
to those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient
and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The
risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting
from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as
fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions,
misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.

. Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to
the audit in order to design audit procedures that are
appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose
of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the Group’s
internal control.
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Independent Auditor’s Report
B B AR

TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF
POLYFAIR HOLDINGS LIMITED (continued)
(incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the
Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)

Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used
and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and related
disclosures made by the directors.

Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the
going concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit
evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists
related to events or conditions that may cast significant
doubt on the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern.
If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are
required to draw attention in our auditor’s report to the
related disclosures in the consolidated financial statements
or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion.
Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained
up to the date of our auditor’s report. However, future events
or conditions may cause the Group to cease to continue as
a going concern.

Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content
of the consolidated financial statements, including the
disclosures, and whether the consolidated financial
statements represent the underlying transactions and
events in a manner that achieves fair presentation.

Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the
financial information of the entities or business activities
within the Group to express an opinion on the consolidated
financial statements. We are responsible for the direction,
supervision and performance of the group audit. We remain
solely responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with those charged with governance regarding,
among other matters, the planned scope and timing of the
audit and significant audit findings, including any significant
deficiencies in internal control that we identify during our audit.
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TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF
POLYFAIR HOLDINGS LIMITED (continued)
(incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the
Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)

We also provide those charged with governance with a statement
that we have complied with relevant ethical requirements
regarding independence, and to communicate with them all
relationships and other matters that may reasonably be thought
to bear on our independence, and where applicable, related

safeguards.

From the matters communicated with those charged with
governance, we determine those matters that were of most
significance in the audit of the consolidated financial statements
of the current period and are therefore the key audit matters.
We describe these matters in our auditor’s report unless law or
regulation precludes public disclosure about the matter or when,
in extremely rare circumstances, we determine that a matter
should not be communicated in our report because the adverse
consequences of doing so would reasonably be expected to
outweigh the public interest benefits of such communication.

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in the independent
auditor’s report is Wan Chi Lap.

Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu
Certified Public Accountants
Hong Kong

21 June 2019

Independent Auditor’s Report
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Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss and

Other Comprehensive Income

REREBEREMEZERBRAX

For the year ended 31 March 2019

B E2019F3A31BILEFE
NOTES 2019 2018
Bt 5E 20194 20184
HK$’000 HK$'000
THERT FHETT
Revenue g 5 215,778 271,841
Cost of services BR 75 BX 7R (203,426) (234,368)
Gross profit E H 12,352 37,473
Other income, gains and losses g A Wz Kk EE 6 1,947 1
Impairment losses B B 18 7 (1,794) -
Administrative expenses THRAX (14,185) (11,820)
Finance costs =YD N 8 (5,203) (3,034)
Other expenses H A B 2 - (14,536)
(Loss) profit before taxation B B A (& 18 ) )& 7l 9 (6,883) 8,084
Taxation ] 11 302 (3,915)
(Loss) profit for the year FA(EE) & F (6,581) 4,169
Other comprehensive (expense) Hi2m (B xR)
income B A
Item that may be reclassified HEMEEF 7 HEE
subsequently to profit or loss: HEmhyIEA -
Exchange difference arising on BREBINETEFR
translation of foreign operation ELERNELZEZ5 (58) 100
Other comprehensive (expense) A H Ath 2 (5 2)
income for the year WA (58) 100
Total comprehensive (expense) FAR2AEFAXR)
income for the year N L (6,639) 4,269
13 HK cents HK cents
AL ol
(Loss) earnings per share — basic BR(EE)&BM—-EX (0.82) 0.67
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position

A AR R &

At 31 March 2019
20194 3A31H0

NOTES 2019 2018
Bt 51 20194 20184
HK$'000 HK$'000
FTHET FE T
Non-current assets EMEE E
Property, plant and equipment Y BENEE 14 1,372 1,569
Deposits b 20 472 413
Financial assets at fair value EAFEFABEZRN
through profit or loss TREE 15 10,023 =
Payments for life insurance ASRBIRE
policies R 15 - 8,379
Pledged bank deposit EERRITER 21 - 25,000
Deferred tax assets BEETIEE E 26 609 =
12,476 35,361
Current assets mENE E
Amounts receivable on contract FEUE %Y
work TE® 16 - 83,148
Contract assets ENEE 17 104,564 -
Trade receivables B 5 REWRIA 18 23,616 =
Progress payments receivable & W E K 18 - 17,848
Retention money receivables EWRE 2 19 - 22,906
Prepayments, deposits and other ERRE E2k
receivables H fib fE Uk FX 18 20 2,640 5,165
Tax recoverable Al Y B % I8 1,013 -
Pledged bank deposits EHREITER 21 32,141 7,001
Bank balances and cash RITHEBR MRS 21 14,791 64,313
178,765 200,381
Current liabilities mEBE
Contract liabilities EHAaE 23 - =
Trade and other payables B 5 & H e R 24 32,425 47,925
Tax payable FES B IR - 827
Bank borrowings RITHE R 25 97,363 117,192
129,788 165,944
Net current assets mEEEFE 48,977 34,437
Net assets BEFE 61,453 69,798
Capital and reserves BN K
Share capital [N 27 8,000 8,000
Reserves & 8 53,453 61,798
Total equity 7 = 8 61,453 69,798

The consolidated financial statements on pages 78 to 179 were
approved and authorised for issue by the board of directors on 21

FISEI7IEMERAMBHRRER KL EEE K2019
FOA2VBHMERBHEABRILTIEERRE

June 2019 and are signed on its behalf by: =
CHOW MO LAM YU LAP ON STEPHEN
B R # RYR
DIRECTOR DIRECTOR
EE FF
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Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity

For the year ended 31 March 2019

HZE2019F3A3AILFE
Attributable to owners of the Company
NG 2PN 3
Share Share Other Translation  Retained
capital  premium reserve reserve profits Total
BA  ROEE HittFEe RERE RKREEA @t
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TEL TET TET TEL TET TET
(Note)
(B &%)
At 1 April 2017 R2017F 418 3,000 - - - 16,614 19,614
Profit for the year FRE Tl - - - = 4,169 4,169
Other comprehensive income for  ERH M2
the year LON = = = 100 = 100
Total comprehensive income for ~ £RZ @K A
the year B - - - 100 4,169 4,269
Effect of reorganisation EH(EZERMT1B)H
(as defined in note 1B) 2 (3,000) - 3,000 - - -
Issue of new shares BIIHR M 2,000 54,000 = = = 56,000
Capitalisation issue BB 6,000 (6,000) = = = =
Share issuance costs R BETKA - (10,085) = = = (10,085)
At 31 March 2018 20184 3H31H 8,000 37,915 3,000 100 20,783 69,798
Adjustments upon REMNEBAB]RE
adoption of HKFRS 9 B EO% B &
(note 2) (Kt 5E2) - - - - (1,706) (1,706)
At 1 April 2018 R2018%E 4P 1H
(restated) (RE3) 8,000 37,915 3,000 100 19,077 68,092
Loss for the year FREA - - - - (6,581) (6,581)
Other comprehensive expense FREMEE
for the year F% - - - (58) - (58)
Total comprehensive expense for  FRZE A X
the year ke - - - (58) (6,581) (6,639)
At 31 March 2019 R2019F3H318 8,000 37,915 3,000 42 12,496 61,453
Note: Other reserve represented the difference between the share capital MisE: HiiEEE AR BB F 1B & & RE

of the Company issued as consideration of acquiring Polyfair
Construction & Engineering Limited (“Polyfair HK”) and issued
share capital of Polyfair HK on 19 January 2018 pursuant to the

Reorganisation as set out and defined in note 1B.
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows

REREMER

For the year ended 31 March 2019

HZ2019F3A3AILFE
2019 2018
20195 20184
HK$’000 HK$'000
TER TAEL
Operating activities BEEE
(Loss) profit before taxation BAi A (B8 ) a A (6,883) 8,084
Adjustments for: ST 58 B fE R 3H &
Depreciation neE 490 205
Fair value gain on payments for ASRREENSZKN
life insurance policies NFEY R (1,635) =
Finance costs BMEKA 5,203 3,034
Interest income F S KA (147) (156)
Impairment losses W EER 1,794 -
Premium charged on life insurance policies AERBRRERE - 15
Operating cash flows before movements in working & &4 & 2 EATH)
capital MEBERE (1,178) 11,283
Increase in amounts receivable on contract work JEU A 4 T2 FE - (24,218)
Increase in trade receivables B 5 W IBE (8,571) =
Increase in progress payments receivable & Ui 2 S 50 - (14,494)
Increase in retention money receivables FE U IR BB & 52 A - (15,715)
Decrease in contract assets ANEERD 728 =
Decrease in prepayments, deposits and other BAFIE - Re k2 ER
receivables HERD 2,223 1,675
(Decrease) increase in trade and other payables 5 R E MR FIECH D) E (14,335) 25,411
Decrease in contract liabilities AHEERD (627) -
Cash used in operations TERMAR & (21,760) (16,058)
Hong Kong Profits Tax paid EREBEEMNEH (1,840) (2,183)
People’s Republic of China (the “PRC”) Enterprise EREARLME([HE]) S
Income Tax paid P15 2 (14) (5)
Net cash used in operating activities RETEMARE FE (23,614) (18,246)
Investing activities RBED
Interest received REEU 147 =
Purchase of property, plant and equipment BENE BERSHE (308) (863)
Placement of pledged bank deposits BFABBHRETER (140) (30,000)
Payments for life insurance policies ASRBREMNK - (8,573)
Net cash used in investing activities REZHMAR S FE (301) (39,436)
Financing activities MEEE
New bank borrowings raised I RITIE N 589,893 460,446
Repayment of bank borrowings BRIEIER (609,722) (385,153)
Advance from a director —FEEBX - 35,382
Repayment to a director BE-—ZEZRE - (42,437)
Finance costs paid EOREEE (5,203) (3,034)
Transaction costs attributable to issue of shares BORNEENR KA (485) (8,762)
Proceeds from issue of shares BRI KGR - 56,000
Net cash (used in) from financing activities MEEH(FTR)IEREFE (25,517) 112,442
Net (decrease) increase in cash and cash equivalents  H 4 BRI £ 5B (5 D) &L %8 (49,432) 54,760
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of the year  FHMR & KR L EEY 64,313 9,465
Effect of foreign exchange rate changes NEEXZB M2 (90) 88
Cash and cash equivalents at end of the year FANBEERASZEY 14,791 64,313
Analysis of cash and cash equivalents: BeRBeSBYMHM:
Bank balances and cash RIIEBRKES 14,791 64,313
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e R AR MY A

For the year ended 31 March 2019
HZE2019F3A3AILFE

1A. General

1B.

Polyfair Holdings Limited (the “Company”) was incorporated
and registered as an exempted company with limited liability
in the Cayman Islands under the Companies Law Chapter 22
(Law 3 of 1961, as consolidated and revised) of the Cayman
Islands on 25 May 2017 and its shares have been listed
on GEM of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the
“Stock Exchange”) with effect from 23 February 2018. Its
immediate and ultimate holding company is C.N.Y. Holdings
Limited (“CNY”), a company incorporated in the British Virgin
Islands (the “BVI”). It is held as to 83% by Mr. Chow Mo Lam
(“Mr. Chow”) and 17% by Mr. Yu Lap On Stephen (“Mr. Yu”).
The addresses of the Company’s registered office and the
principal place of business are set out in the section headed
“Corporate Information” to the annual report.

The Company acts as an investment holding company
and its subsidiaries are principally engaged in providing
design and project management services for facade and
installation of curtain wall systems. The Company and all of
the subsidiaries are collectively referred to as the “Group”.

The consolidated financial statements are presented in
Hong Kong dollar (“HK$”), which is also the functional
currency of the Company.

Reorganisation and Basis of Preparation
and Presentation of Consolidated Financial
Statements

Before the completion of a group reorganisation as
more fully explained in the section headed “History,
Reorganisation and Corporate Structure” in the prospectus
issued by the Company dated 31 January 2018, Polyfair
HK was held as to 83% by Mr. Chow and 17% by Mr. Yu. In
preparation of the listing of the Company’s shares on GEM
of the Stock Exchange and pursuant to the reorganisation
(the “Reorganisation”), the companies comprising the Group
underwent the Reorganisation as described below.

(i)  On 21 April 2017, CNY was incorporated in the BVI with
limited liability, allotted and issued 83 and 17 shares,
credited as fully paid at a par value of United States
dollar (“US$”) 1, to Mr. Chow and Mr. Yu, respectively.

Polyfair Holdings Limited ZE 3 R AR A A

1A.

1B.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

1B. Reorganisation and Basis of Preparation

and Presentation of Consolidated Financial
Statements (continued)

(i) On 25 May 2017, the Company was incorporated in the
Cayman Islands as an exempted company with limited
liability. The authorised share capital was HK$380,000
divided into 38,000,000 shares of HK$0.01 each and
initially one nil paid share was allotted and issued
at par to an independent third party, which was then
transferred to CNY on the same date, and an additional
99 nil paid shares were allotted and issued at par to
CNY on the same date.

(iii)  On 8 June 2017, Polyfair Group Limited (“Polyfair BVI”)
was incorporated in the BVI with limited liability,
allotted and issued one share, credited as fully paid at
a par value of US$1 to the Company.

(iv)  On 19 January 2018, Mr. Chow and Mr. Yu transferred
the entire issued share capital of Polyfair HK to
Polyfair BVI (as the nominee of the Company). The
consideration was satisfied by allotting and issuing 83
and 17 shares of the Company to Mr. Chow and Mr. Yu,
(or their respective nominee) respectively, credited as
fully paid and crediting as fully paid at par the 100 nil
paid shares in issue. The Company had nominated its
direct wholly-owned subsidiary, Polyfair BVI, to hold
the entire issued share capital of Polyfair HK. Mr. Chow
and Mr. Yu had nominated CNY to hold the 100 new
shares. After the above transactions, Polyfair HK is
wholly-owned by Polyfair BVI.

The Reorganisation involved incorporation of and
interspersing CNY, the Company and Polyfair BVl between
Polyfair HK and its shareholders. Upon the completion of
the Reorganisation, the Company has become the holding
company of the companies now comprising the Group on 19
January 2018. The Group resulting from the Reorganisation
is regarded as a continuing entity.

The consolidated statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income, consolidated statement of changes
in equity and consolidated statement of cash flows for
the year ended 31 March 2018 which include the results,
changes in equity and cash flows of the companies now
comprising the Group have been prepared as if the current
group structure upon completion of the Reorganisation had
been in existence since 1 April 2017, or since their respective
dates of incorporation, whichever is the shorter period.

mAEMBRRME

For the year ended 31 March 2019
EHZE2019F3A3MH L F

 EEURGAMBERRNE

HRE2HHEE(E)
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

RAEMBBRRME

For the year ended 31 March 2019
EHZE2019F3A3BILFE

2. Application of New and Amendments to
Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards
(“HKFRSs”)

New and amendments to HKFRSs that are
mandatorily effective for the current year

The Group has applied the following new and amendments to
HKFRSs issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants (“HKICPA”) for the first time in the current year:

HKFRS 9 Financial Instruments

HKFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts with Customers
and the related Amendments

Foreign Currency Transactions and
Advance Consideration

HK(IFRIC) = Int 22

FERFE] BB B HRELER R
B8 B % S R (B R &)

FAZS 4 B 0 4 4 0 9T 5T B R
RIS 8R E  R B B B S s
# 8 (45 3T &)

AEBERAFEERERATIHE
B AT BHAFE S B M ISR
ERARB BT REERL (BFTA)

MG HE EBITR
4 B 955

Amendments to
HKFRS 2

Amendments to
HKFRS 4

Amendments to
HKAS 28

Amendments to

Classification and Measurement of Share-
based Payment Transactions

Applying HKFRS 9 Financial Instruments
with HKFRS 4 Insurance Contracts

As part of the Annual Improvements to
HKFRSs 2014 - 2016 Cycle

Transfers of Investment Property

HKAS 40

In addition, the Group has early applied Amendments
to HKFRS 9 “Prepayment Features with Negative
Compensation” which will be mandatorily effective for the
Group for the financial year beginning on 1 April 2019.

Except as described below, the application of the
amendments to HKFRSs in the current year has had no
material impact on the Group’s financial performance
and positions for the current and prior years and/or on
the disclosures set out in these consolidated financial
statements.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

Application of New and Amendments to
Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards
(“HKFRSs”) (continued)

New and amendments to HKFRSs that are
mandatorily effective for the current year
(continued)

2.1

HKFRS 15 “Revenue from Contracts with
Customers”

The Group has applied HKFRS 15 for the first time
in the current year. HKFRS 15 superseded HKAS 18
“Revenue”, HKAS 11 “Construction Contracts” and the
related interpretations.

The Group has applied HKFRS 15 retrospectively with
the cumulative effect of initially applying this standard
recognised at the date of initial application, 1 April
2018. Any difference at the date of initial application
is recognised in the opening retained profits and
comparative information has not been restated.
Furthermore, in accordance with the transition
provisions in HKFRS 15, the Group has elected to apply
the standard retrospectively only to contracts that
are not completed at 1 April 2018. Accordingly, certain
comparative information may not be comparable as
comparative information was prepared under HKAS 18
“Revenue”, HKAS 11 “Construction Contracts” and the
related interpretations.

The Group recognises revenue from the following major
source which arise from contracts with customers:

. Revenue from construction contracts

Information about the Group’s accounting policies and
performance obligations resulting from application of
HKFRS 15 are disclosed in notes 3 and 5 respectively.

Summary of effects arising from initial
application of HKFRS 15

The directors of the Company reviewed and assessed
the effect of application of HKFRS 15 and considered
that there is no material impact on the timing and
amounts of revenue recognised in current year and
retained profits as at 1 April 2018.

mAEMBRRME

For the year ended 31 March 2019
EHZE2019F3A3MH L F
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

RAEMBBRRME

For the year ended 31 March 2019
EHZE2019F3A3BILFE

2. Application of New and Amendments to 2. EAFIEFBMBEREEAR

Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards REBYBREER ST A)

(“HKFRSs”) (continued) (#&)

New and amendments to HKFRSs that are REFEERFERNEHTE A

mandatorily effective for the current year MBREEAREBMBRSE

(continued) 2Bl (& 5T &) (#&

2.1 HKFRS 15 “Revenue from Contracts with 21 BRUBREEINEISHRK
Customers” (continued) BEEFAMNKEI(E)
Summary of effects arising from initial BRERERNBRELERE
application of HKFRS 15 (continued) 1BEFTEENTEBE (F)
The following table summarises the impacts of TRBES FE B B RS A
applying HKFRS 15 on the Group’s consolidated FI5RE A KB R2018F4A1H
statement of financial position as at 1 April 2018 MM BRRRPIZEENTE
for the line items affected. Line items that were not WEE TXEHTENHIEL
affected by the changes have not been included. EEFELEA -

Carrying Carrying

amounts previously Impacts of amounts under
reported at adopting HKFRS 15 at

31 March 2018 HKFRS 15 1 April 2018*

REEBHE
Z A& RME BT ¥ & % A 1555
2018434318 & % R 5155 R20185 4818

M ERE & hEge Y B [ (B *

Notes HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000

B & FHET FAT FHET

Contract assets EHNEE (a) - 106,054 106,054

Amounts receivable on  FERAH

contract work TR (@) 83,148 (83,148) =
Progress payments e s 3 3R

receivable (b) 17,848 (17,848) -
Retention money ERRE &

receivables (a) 22,906 (22,906) -

Trade receivables B 5 1E Wk IE (b) - 17,848 17,848

Contract liabilities aHaE () = 627 627
Trade and other BH5REM

payables J& 1 K18 (© 47,925 (627) 47,298

* The amounts in this column are before the adjustments & ZREBERARERE SN
from application of HKFRS 9. RS ERFBORIEL AR -

Notes: Ff 5 -

(@) At 1 April 2018, amounts receivable on contract work (a) M2018F4A1H ' BREXH T
of HK$83,148,000 and retention money receivables of £ 083,148,000/ 7T & F& W (R
HK$22,906,000 were reclassified to contract assets. 8 422,906,000/ T2 EF D

HEGHNEE -

(b) At 1 April 2018, progress payments receivable of (b)  MR2018F4A18  EUEE R

HK$17,848,000 were reclassified to trade receivables. 17,848,000 8 TEEF H B E
B 5 W IE -

(c) At 1 April 2018, receipts in advance from a customer (c) M2018F4A1H  ZAIETAE
of HK$627,000, previously included in trade and other SREMENRENEK %
payables, were reclassified to contract liabilities. = F 3 IE627,0007% T B B #

DERERHAEE-
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

REMBHRRHNE

For the year ended 31 March 2019

B Z2019F3A31RILFE

Application of New and Amendments to 2. EAHITES ,{Iﬁiﬁ%—%,\u

Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards REBYBREEREITA)

(“HKFRSs”% (continued) (#&)

New and amendments to HKFRSs that are REFEERFERNHTE A

mandatorily effective for the current year MBHREEAREBMBHRSE
(continued) B (& 5T A) (4&)

2.1 HKFRS 15 “Revenue from Contracts with 21 BRUBREEINEI5HRK
Customers” (continued) BEEFAMNKEI(E)
Summary of effects arising from initial BRERERANBRELERE
application of HKFRS 15 (continued) 1BEFTEENTERE (B)
The following tables summarise the impacts of TERBEYI HE B A B 7 & 22 R
applying HKFRS 15 on the Group’s consolidated 25155 ¥ 7R & B R 201943 H31
statement of financial position as at 31 March 2019 BE 4R E BN &R RARFE 4R
and consolidated statement of cash flows for the EHERERTEXFENEN
current year for each of the line items affected. Line MR NAREETENHIENE
items that were not affected by the changes have not BEENA -

been included.

Impact on the consolidated statement of financial HEREWBRARNTE
position
Amounts
without
application
As reported Reclassification of HKFRS 15
RERAESB
B 7% 3R 5 % Bl
PR & EFAE HI5RNESHE
Notes HK$°000 HK$’000 HK$°000
B 5 FAT TH T FAT
Contract assets BREE (a) 104,564 (104,564) -
Amounts receivable on B A 4
contract work TRX® (a) = 81,746 81,746
Progress payments JE Wi 3E 2 5K
receivable (b) - 23,616 23,616
Retention money FEWRE 2
receivables (a) - 22,818 22,818
Trade receivables B 5 EWRIA (b) 23,616 (23,616) =
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FE B |RME
For the year ended 31 March 2019
EHZE2019F3A3BILFE

2. Application of New and Amendments to 2. EAFHIIEFBMBEREEAR

Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards REBYBREER (ST A)

(“HKFRSs”) (continued) (&)

New and amendments to HKFRSs that are REFEBFHERNFHITE S

mandatorily effective for the current year MEREERAREBUBERS

(continued) B (& 5T A)(4&)

2.1 HKFRS 15 “Revenue from Contracts with 21 BEBUBHREEAEI55[R
Customers” (continued) BEEFEHNMKEI(E)
Summary of effects arising from initial BRERERBNBRELERE
application of HKFRS 15 (continued) 1BRFIEENTERE (B)
Impact on the consolidated statement of cash flows HizaHenerkNEE

Amounts
without
application
As reported Reclassification of HKFRS 15
KERAESB
B 75 3R 45 2 Al
FiiR& EHSE H15HNLHE
Notes HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$'000
Bt & FHET FH& T FHET
Increase in trade H 5 e W sk IE
receivables 3£ n (b) (8,571) 8,571 -
Increase in progress JE W HE R
payments receivable b=yl (b) - (8,571) (8,571)
Decrease in amounts FEULE #) T2 3K
receivable on Ve
contract work (a) - 1,051 1,051
Increase in retention EWRE 2
money receivables 30 (a) = (323) (323)
Decrease in contract BREERD
assets (a) 728 (728) -
Decrease in trade and B3 Kk H
other payables FEAS SRIE R A () (14,335) (627) (14,962)
Decrease in contract aREE
liabilities VS () (627) 627 -
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

Application of New and Amendments to
Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards
(“HKFRSs”) (continued)

New and amendments to HKFRSs that are
mandatorily effective for the current year
(continued)

2.1

HKFRS 15 “Revenue from Contracts with
Customers” (continued)

Summary of effects arising from initial
application of HKFRS 15 (continued)

Impact on the consolidated statement of cash flows
(continued)

Notes:

(a)

At 31 March 2019, amounts receivable on
contract work and retention money receivables of
HK$81,746,000 and HK$22,818,000 respectively
were classified as contract assets and the amount
would have been included in amounts receivable on
contract work and retention money receivables without
application of HKFRS 15.

At 31 March 2019, progress payments receivable of
HK$23,616,000 were classified as trade receivables
and the amount would have been included in progress
payments receivable without application of HKFRS 15.

Included in the consolidated statement of cash
flows for the year ended 31 March 2019, receipts in
advance from a customer of HK$627,000 are classified
as contract liabilities and the amount would have
been classified as trade and other payables without
application of HKFRS 15.

mAEMBRRME

For the year ended 31 March 2019
EHZE2019F3A3MH L F

ERAMIEET B REER
%ﬁ%%ﬁﬁ%ﬁ%ﬂﬁﬁﬁ
IIE

A F 58 6 £ MBI FE] B 8
MEBRELEAREEMBRSE
2 Al (18 7 &) (4)

21 BEMBREEAFIGHR K
BEFEHONWKEI(F)

BREHEEBYHREELSE
EAEENTERE(E)

HirAREeRERNTE(E)

B 5

(a) TH201943A31H ' & W A
HAIRREERRE 2D 5
81,746,000/ 7T } 22,818,000
BILOBERENEE  INEE
A AR WS 2RI F155% -
BlEFTABRKREN TR K E

WRBE -

(b) TFA20194F3A31H « I #E &
3£23,616,0008 THEAE S
JEURFRIE - G0 4 E & S IS
AR FE155 0 BIfERTARE
WEE R -

() HEZ=2019F3A3MHILEFERN
GEHSRERVEER—%
=B FIE627,000 T D B A
BHBE  WEEREBHE
HEXER|E155% - BIED A
Bk HMEMKIE -
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

RAEMBBRRME

For the year ended 31 March 2019
EHZE2019F3A3BILFE

2. Application of New and Amendments to
Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards

(“HKFRSs”) (continued)

New and amendments to HKFRSs that are
mandatorily effective for the current year

(continued)

2.2 HKFRS 9 “Financial Instruments” and the

related amendments

In the current year, the Group has applied HKFRS
9, Amendments to HKFRS 9, and the related
consequential amendments to other HKFRSs. HKFRS 9
introduces new requirements for (1) the classification
and measurement of financial assets and financial
liabilities; (2) expected credit losses (“ECL") for
financial assets; and (3) general hedge accounting.

The Group has applied HKFRS 9 in accordance with the
transition provisions set out in HKFRS 9, i.e. applied
the classification and measurement requirements
(including impairment) retrospectively to instruments
that have not been derecognised as at 1 April 2018
(date of initial application) and has not applied the
requirements to instruments that have already been
derecognised as at 1 April 2018. The difference, if any,
between carrying amounts as at 31 March 2018 and
the carrying amounts as at 1 April 2018 are recognised
in the opening retained profits, without restating
comparative information.

Accordingly, certain comparative information may
not be comparable as comparative information was
prepared under HKAS 39 “Financial Instruments:
Recognition and Measurement”.

Accounting policies resulting from application of
HKFRS 9 are disclosed in note 3.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

mAEMBRRME

For the year ended 31 March 2019
EHZE2019F3A3MH L F

Application of New and Amendments to 2. EAFIIEBUKHKREER

Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards RE B Y HHREED (EFTA)

(“HKFRSs”) (continued) (#&)

New and amendments to HKFRSs that are REAFERHEHEMWFTETS

mandatorily effective for the current year MR BREENREBMKERE

(continued) B (& 5T A) (4&)

2.2 HKFRS 9 “Financial Instruments” and the 22 BEEMBREEREIRE S
related amendments (continued) BTH | RBEBEETRE)
Summary of effects arising from initial BXREREBTHEREEL
application of HKFRS 9 FORTEENTERE

Financial
assets at
fair value
Prepayments, Payments  through
deposits for life  profit or
Contract Trade and other  Deferred insurance loss  Retained
assets receivables receivables tax assets policies  (“FVTPL”) profits
BERE RAYE
g5 kK ReREM %13 AERE STABZEMN
EHNEE HE EWFHE BHEEE REAZ SBEE RBEA
Notes  HK$000  HK$000 HK$'000  HK$000  HK$O000  HK$'000  HK$000
Bt THAL FAT THAL FTHET FAT TAT FTHET
At 31 March 2018 R2018%3 4318
- HKAS 39 EBGHER
£30% - - 5,165 - 8,379 - 20783
Effect arising from initial BEREREENE
application of HKFRS 15 BEERE155%
FEEHYE 106,054 17,848 = = = = =
Effect arising from initial BRERBERBR
application of HKFRS 9 EER R
FELENYE
Reclassification BENAE
From loans and receivables M &R B EUZ A (@) - - (234) - (8,379) 8,613 -
Remeasurement BNt E
Impairment under ECL EHEEEAR
model BRI T8 R E (b) (663) (1,110) (1) 293 = = (1,481)
From amortised cost to REHKAZ
fair value NFE (a) = = = = = (225) (225)
At 1 April 2018 (restated) ®2018F 4418
(BE5)) 105,391 16,738 4,930 293 - 8,388 19,077
(a) Loans and receivables (a) EBEXmKEWE
Payments for life insurance policies of 7 FE R A& 75 B 7 S & 2E B
HK$8,613,000 previously classified as loans FEORER - CAIDEEER
and receivables were reclassified to financial FEWZENASREBR
assets at FVTPL upon the application of HKFRS B {1 38,613,000/ ;T B &
9 because its cash flows do not represent Mo EEERAFEAR
solely payments of principal and interest on EHNEREE  RRAH
the principal amount outstanding. The related RenEWELRLIHN
fair value loss of HK$225,000 was adjusted to KeERKREBRSTENE °
retained profits at 1 April 2018. R2018F4H18 - 8 @ A

B E518225,00058 T2 R
REB &M APAE -
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

RAEMBBRRME

For the year ended 31 March 2019
EHZE2019F3A3BILFE

Application of New and Amendments to
Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards
(“HKFRSs”) (continued)

New and amendments to HKFRSs that are
mandatorily effective for the current year
(continued)

2.2 HKFRS 9 “Financial Instruments” and the
related amendments (continued)

Summary of effects arising from initial
application of HKFRS 9 (continued)

Impairment under ECL model

The Group applies the HKFRS 9 simplified
approach to measure ECL which uses a lifetime
ECL for all trade receivables and contract
assets. To measure the ECL, trade receivables
and contract assets are assessed individually.
The contract assets relate to unbilled work in
progress and have substantially the same risk
characteristics as the trade receivables for
the same types of contracts. The Group has
therefore estimated the expected loss rates for
the trade receivables and the contract assets on
the same basis.

Upon the initial application of HKFRS 9, ECL
for other financial assets at amortised cost,
including pledged bank deposits, bank balances,
deposits and other receivables are assessed on
12-month ECL (“12m ECL”) basis as there had
been no significant increase in credit risk since
initial recognition.

As at 1 April 2018, additional impairment
allowance of HK$1,481,000, net of deferred
tax assets in relation to impairment allowance
for ECL of HK$293,000, have been recognised
against retained profits. The additional
impairment allowance is charged against the
trade receivables, contract assets and other
receivables
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

mAEMBRRME

For the year ended 31 March 2019
EHZE2019F3A3MH L F

ERAMIEET B ®REER
REBIHB®REER (EFTA)
(%)
RAFERHERNIE] B
MBBREENREBMBRE
2 Al (18 7 ) (%)

2.3 ERAMAMTERNYF AR

EUBRRAREENT

Application of New and Amendments to 2.
Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards
(“HKFRSs”) (continued)

New and amendments to HKFRSs that are
mandatorily effective for the current year
(continued)

2.3 Impacts on opening consolidated statement
of financial position arising from the
application of all new standards

MR AEE S BRRLRE
B MAEEABINFONEAY
Bk R o FTRIIRELE D B 1

As a result of the changes in the Group’s accounting
policies above, the opening consolidated statement
of financial position had to be restated. The following

table shows the adjustments recognised for each RHAE - TREFPTENHE
of the line items affected. Line items that were not WEBIELA °
affected by the changes have not been included.
31 March 1 April
2018 HKFRS 15 HKFRS 9 2018
ERBMKE BBUK
2018F HMEER HMEER 20184
3A31H £15% FoH 481A
HK$’000 HK$°000 HK$000 HK$’000
FE T F& T F& T FE T
Contract assets BREE = 106,054 (663) 105,391
Amounts receivable on FER & 49
contract work TR 83,148 (83,148) = =
Progress payments J& U
receivable EER 17,848 (17,848) = =
Retention money FEWIRE &
receivables 22,906 (22,906) - -
Trade receivables B 5 WK1 = 17,848 (1,110) 16,738
Prepayments, deposits and TEfFIE » HE& &
other receivables H {th & W 3RIE 5,165 = (235) 4,930
Deferred tax assets BEEHIBEE = = 293 293
Payments for life insurance AZRBRE
policies 3% 8,379 = (8,379) =
Financial assets at FVTPL ZAFEFAEZD
M & /& E - - 8,388 8,388
Contract liabilities BHAEE - 627 - 627
Trade and other payables B 5 &k HAbE
IE 47,925 (627) = 47,298
Retained profits RE R 20,783 = (1,706) 19,077

MicE: A23E E201943A318 1t

Note: For the purposes of reporting cash flows from

FEBRBEREENLERD

operating activities under indirect method for the year

ended 31 March 2019, movements in working capital FEReRE ZEELELHE
have been computed based on opening consolidated B2 &R £ AT B 72018
statement of financial position as at 1 April 2018 as F4ABOF AR E T BN

disclosed above.

REHE -
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

FE B |RME
For the year ended 31 March 2019
EHZE2019F3A3BILFE

2. Application of New and Amendments to
Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards
(“HKFRSs”) (continued)

New and amendments to HKFRSs in issue but
not yet effective

The Group has not early applied the following new and
amendments to HKFRSs that have been issued but are not
yet effective:

HKFRS 16 Leases'

HKFRS 17 Insurance Contracts®

HK(IFRIC) — Int 23 Uncertainty over Income Tax Treatments'

Amendments to Definition of a Business*

HKFRS 3

Sale or Contribution of Assets between
an Investor and its Associate or Joint

Amendments to
HKFRS 10 and

HKAS 28 Venture?

Amendments to Definition of Material®
HKAS 1 and

HKAS 8

Plan Amendment, Curtailment or
Settlement!

Amendments to
HKAS 19

Amendments to
HKAS 28

Amendments to
HKFRSs

Long-term Interests in Associates and
Joint Ventures'

Annual Improvements to HKFRSs
2015 - 2017 Cycle'
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

Application of New and Amendments to
Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards
(“HKFRSs”) (continued)

New and amendments to HKFRSs in issue but
not yet effective (continued)

! Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January

2019.

Z Effective for annual periods beginning on or after a date to
be determined.

2 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January
2021.

4 Effective for business combinations and asset acquisitions

for which the acquisition date is on or after the beginning of
the first annual period beginning on or after 1 January 2020.

° Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January
2020.

Except for the new HKFRSs mentioned below, the directors
of the Company anticipate that the application of all other
new and amendments to HKFRSs will have no material
impact on the consolidated financial statements in the
foreseeable future.

HKFRS 16 “Leases”

HKFRS 16 introduces a comprehensive model for the
identification of lease arrangements and accounting
treatments for both lessors and lessees. HKFRS 16 will
supersede HKAS 17 “Leases” and the related interpretations
when it becomes effective.

HKFRS 16 distinguishes lease and service contracts on
the basis of whether an identified asset is controlled by
a customer. In addition, HKFRS 16 requires sales and
leaseback transactions to be determined based on the
requirements of HKFRS 15 as to whether the transfer of the
relevant asset should be accounted as a sale. HKFRS 16
also includes requirements relating to subleases and lease
modifications.

Distinctions of operating leases and finance leases are
removed for lessee accounting, and is replaced by a model
where a right-of-use asset and a corresponding liability have
to be recognised for all leases by lessees, except for short-
term leases and leases of low value assets.

mAEMBRRME

For the year ended 31 March 2019
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

RAEMBBRRME

For the year ended 31 March 2019
EHZE2019F3A3BILFE

Application of New and Amendments to
Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards
(“HKFRSs”) (continued)

New and amendments to HKFRSs in issue but
not yet effective (continued)

HKFRS 16 “Leases” (continued)

The right-of-use asset is initially measured at cost
and subsequently measured at cost (subject to certain
exceptions) less accumulated depreciation and impairment
losses, adjusted for any remeasurement of the lease
liability. The lease liability is initially measured at the
present value of the lease payments that are not paid at
that date. Subsequently, the lease liability is adjusted for
interest and lease payments, as well as the impact of lease
modifications, amongst others. For the classification of
cash flows, the Group currently presents operating lease
payments as operating cash flows. Upon application of
HKFRS 16, lease payments in relation to lease liability
will be allocated into a principal and an interest portion
which will be presented as financing cash flows by the
Group, where upfront prepaid lease payments will continue
to be presenting as investing or operating cash flows in
accordance with the nature, as appropriate.

Other than certain requirements which are also applicable
to lessor, HKFRS 16 substantially carries forward the lessor
accounting requirements in HKAS 17, and continues to
require a lessor to classify a lease either as an operating
lease or a finance lease.

Furthermore, extensive disclosures are required by HKFRS
16.

As at 31 March 2019, the Group has non-cancellable
operating lease commitments of HK$4,020,000 as disclosed
in note 28. A preliminary assessment indicates that these
arrangements will meet the definition of a lease. Upon
application of HKFRS 16, the Group will recognise a right-
of-use asset and a corresponding liability in respect of all
these leases unless they qualify for low value or short-term
leases.

Polyfair Holdings Limited ZE 3 R AR A A

ERAMIEET B REER
gﬁ%%ﬁﬁ%ﬁ%ﬂﬁﬁﬁ
IIE

CHEMEERERNHITEE
MEBRELEAREEMBRE
2 Al (18 7 &) (4)

ERVBHREENF16REE]
(#&)

EREEEVFZEKAE  BRIA
AR (M5 T PIIMB SRR 9N 8L R &t
ENREFEENE  USEEAEN
TRAEHFTEFLAR -BHEREY
FRBEFAECGEE B WRER
E-R HERAGEEHRMNEREE
REAR(EPER)BEETNRE
FHAE -BIMERESHEMS - &
SEENSEEHERBZINAEE
Reng NERZTEMBRSER
F1emk - EHREEABNHEENRE
B EEARE RF B (2558
AR RE) ManMEMNEERERK
HEBERRUEE2IRREARER S
mMAREEBRME) °

BREEEANHEANE TREN
FEEMBHRELENFIGRABUGRE
BEFTERENTROEEASTRE -
VTHERETELBEASHESIBRRE
HEIRMEHEE -

RSN - BB IR E R E165E I &
RIEHEZOEE

2019438318 + AEE A Al #
) 4% % T B & 24,020,000 7T (40 Bt
28R NP ABERIEZER
HEREHENTEE - RIERBEHY
HEMELR 1650 - NEBE R
EREHERRAEAEEERIEES
& BRIEEREMNAEFESEBER
RHAENER -



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

Application of New and Amendments to
Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards
(“HKFRSs”) (continued)

New and amendments to HKFRSs in issue but
not yet effective (continued)

HKFRS 16 “Leases” (continued)

In addition, the Group currently considers refundable rental
deposits paid of HK$552,000 as rights under leases to which
HKAS 17 applies. Based on the definition of lease payments
under HKFRS 16, such deposits are not payments relating
to the right to use the underlying assets, accordingly, the
carrying amounts of such deposits may be adjusted to
amortised cost. Adjustments to refundable rental deposits
paid would be considered as additional lease payments and
included in the carrying amount of right-of-use assets.

The application of new requirements may result in changes
in measurement, presentation and disclosure as indicated
above. The Group has elected the practical expedient
to apply HKFRS 16 to contracts that were previously
identified as leases applying HKAS 17 and HK(IFRIC) — Int 4
“Determining whether an Arrangement contains a Lease” and
not apply this standard to contracts that were not previously
identified as containing a lease applying HKAS 17 and
HK(IFRIC) — Int 4. Therefore, the Group has not reassessed
whether the contracts are, or contain a lease which already
existed prior to the date of initial application. Furthermore,
the Group has elected the modified retrospective approach
for the application of HKFRS 16 as lessee and will recognise
the cumulative effect of initial application to opening
retained profits without restating comparative information.

mAEMBRRME

For the year ended 31 March 2019
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

RAEMBBRRME

For the year ended 31 March 2019
EHZE2019F3A3BILFE

Significant Accounting Policies

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared
in accordance with HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA. In
addition, the consolidated financial statements include
applicable disclosures required by the Rules Governing the
Listing of Securities on the GEM of the Stock Exchange
(“Listing Rules”) and by the Hong Kong Companies
Ordinance.

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared
on the historical cost basis except for financial assets at
FVTPL (upon application of HKFRS 9) that are measured at
fair values at the end of each reporting period, as explained
in the accounting policies set out below.

Historical cost is generally based on the fair value of the
consideration given in exchange of goods and services.

Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an
asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction
between market participants at the measurement date,
regardless of whether that price is directly observable or
estimated using another valuation technique. In estimating
the fair value of an asset or a liability, the Group takes
into account the characteristics of the asset or liability if
the market participants would take those characteristics
into account when pricing the asset or liability at the
measurement date. Fair value for measurement and/
or disclosure purposes in the consolidated financial
statements is determined on such basis, except for share-
based payment transactions that are within the scope of
HKFRS 2 “Share-based Payment”, leasing transactions that
are within the scope of HKAS 17, and measurement that have
some similarities to fair value but are not fair value, such as
net realisable value in HKAS 2 “Inventories” or value in use
in HKAS 36 “Impairment of Assets”.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

Significant Accounting Policies (continued)

In addition, for financial reporting purposes, fair value
measurements are categorised into Level 1, 2 and 3
based on the degree to which the inputs to the fair value
measurements are observable and the significance of the
inputs to the fair value measurement in its entirety, which
are described as follow:

. Level 1 inputs are quoted price (unadjusted) in active
markets for identical assets or liabilities that the entity
can access at the measurement date;

. Level 2 inputs are inputs, other than quoted prices
included within Level 1, that are observable for the
asset and liability, either directly or indirectly; and

. Level 3 inputs are unobservable inputs for the asset or
liability.

The principal accounting policies are set out below.

Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements incorporate the
financial statements of the Company and entities controlled
by the Company and its subsidiaries. Control is achieved
when the Company:

. has power over the investee;

. is exposed, or has rights, to variable returns from its
involvement with the investee; and

. has the ability to use its power to affect its returns.

The Group reassesses whether or not it controls an investee

if facts and circumstances indicate that there are changes
to one or more of the three elements of control listed above.
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RAEMBBRRME

For the year ended 31 March 2019
EHZE2019F3A3BILFE

Significant Accounting Policies (continued)
Basis of consolidation (continued)

Consolidation of a subsidiary begins when the Group obtains
control over the subsidiary and ceases when the Group loses
control of the subsidiary. Specifically, income and expenses
of a subsidiary acquired or disposed of during the year are
included in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and
other comprehensive income from the date the Group gains
control until the date when the Group ceases to control the
subsidiary.

Where necessary, adjustments are made to the financial
statements of subsidiary to bring its accounting policies in
line with the Group’s accounting policies.

All intragroup assets, liabilities, equity, income, expenses
and cash flows relating to transactions between members
of the Group are eliminated in full on consolidation.

Revenue from contracts with customers (upon
application of HKFRS 15 in accordance with
transitions in note 2)

Under HKFRS 15, the Group recognises revenue when (or as)
a performance obligation is satisfied, i.e. when “control” of
the goods or services underlying the particular performance
obligation is transferred to the customer.

A performance obligation represents a good or service (or
a bundle of goods or services) that is distinct or a series of
distinct goods or services that are substantially the same.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

Significant Accounting Policies (continued)

Revenue from contracts with customers (upon
application of HKFRS 15 in accordance with
transitions in note 2) (continued)

Control is transferred over time and revenue is recognised
over time by reference to the progress towards complete
satisfaction of the relevant performance obligation if one of
the following criteria is met:

. the customer simultaneously receives and consumes
the benefits provided by the Group’s performance as
the Group performs;

. the Group’s performance creates and enhances
an asset that the customer controls as the Group
performs; or

. the Group’s performance does not create an asset
with an alternative use to the Group and the Group
has an enforceable right to payment for performance
completed to date.

Otherwise, revenue is recognised at a point in time when the
customer obtains control of the distinct good or service.

A contract asset represents the Group’s right to
consideration in exchange for goods or services that
the Group has transferred to a customer that is not yet
unconditional. It is assessed for impairment in accordance
with HKFRS 9. In contrast, a receivable represents the
Group’s unconditional right to consideration, i.e. only
the passage of time is required before payment of that
consideration is due.

A contract liability represents the Group’s obligation to
transfer goods or services to a customer for which the Group
has received consideration (or an amount of consideration is
due) from the customer.

A contract asset and a contract liability relating to the same
contract are accounted for and presented on a net basis.
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RAEMBBRRME

For the year ended 31 March 2019
EHZE2019F3A3BILFE

Significant Accounting Policies (continued)

Revenue from contracts with customers (upon
application of HKFRS 15 in accordance with
transitions in note 2) (continued)

Over time revenue recognition: measurement
of progress towards complete satisfaction of a
performance obligation

Input method

The progress towards complete satisfaction of a
performance obligation is measured based on input method,
which is to recognise revenue on the basis of the Group’s
efforts or inputs to the satisfaction of a performance
obligation relative to the total expected inputs to the
satisfaction of that performance obligation, that best depict
the Group’s performance in transferring control of goods or
services.

Variable consideration

For contracts that contain variable consideration (i.e.
variation orders), the Group estimates the amount of
consideration to which it will be entitled using either (a)
the expected value method or (b) the most likely amount,
depending on which method better predicts the amount of
consideration to which the Group will be entitled.

The estimated amount of variable consideration is included
in the transaction price only to the extent that it is highly
probable that such an inclusion will not result in a significant
revenue reversal in the future when the uncertainty
associated with the variable consideration is subsequently
resolved.

At the end of each reporting period, the Group updates
the estimated transaction price (including updating
its assessment of whether an estimate of variable
consideration is constrained) to represent faithfully the
circumstances present at the end of the reporting period and
the changes in circumstances during the reporting period.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

Significant Accounting Policies (continued)

Revenue from contracts with customers (upon
application of HKFRS 15 in accordance with
transitions in note 2) (continued)

Principal versus agent

When another party is involved in providing goods or
services to a customer, the Group determines whether the
nature of its promise is a performance obligation to provide
the specified goods or services itself (i.e. the Group is a
principal) or to arrange for those goods or services to be
provided by the other party (i.e. the Group is an agent).

The Group is a principal if it controls the specified good
or service before that good or service is transferred to a
customer.

Revenue recognition (prior to 1 April 2018)

Revenue is measured at the fair value of the consideration
received or receivable.

Revenue is recognised when the amount of revenue can
be reliably measured; when it is probable that future
economic benefits will flow to the Group and when specific
criteria have been met for each of the Group’s activities, as
described below.

Interest income is accrued on a time basis, by reference
to the principal outstanding and at the effective interest
rate applicable, which is the rate that exactly discounts the
estimated future cash receipts through the expected life of
the financial asset to that asset’s net carrying amount on
initial recognition.

The Group’s policy for the recognition of revenue from
provision of construction services is described in the
accounting policy for “provision of construction services”
below.
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AR

U %5 2k Y &

For the year ended 31 March 2019
EHZE2019F3A3BILFE

Significant Accounting Policies (continued)

Revenue recognition (prior to 1 April 2018)
(continued)

Provision of construction services

Where the outcome of a construction contract can be
estimated reliably
by reference to the stage of completion of the contract
activities at the end of the reporting period, measured based
on the proportion that contract costs incurred for work
performed to date relative to the estimated total contract
costs, except where this would not be representative of the
stage of completion. Variations in contract work, claims

, revenue and costs are recognised

and incentive payments are included to the extent that
the amount can be measured reliably and its receipt is
considered probable.

Where the outcome of a construction contract cannot be
estimated reliably, contract revenue is recognised to the
extent of contract costs incurred that it is probable will be
recoverable. Contract costs are recognised as expenses in
the period in which they are incurred.

When it is probable that total contract costs will exceed
total contract revenue, the expected loss is recognised as
an expense immediately.

Where contract costs incurred to date plus recognised
profits less recognised losses exceed progress billings, the
surplus is shown as amounts receivable on contract work.
For contracts where progress billings exceed contract costs
incurred to date plus recognised profits less recognised
losses, the surplus is shown as amounts payable on
contract work. Amounts received before the related work
is performed are included in the consolidated statement
of financial position, as a liability, as receipts in advance.
Amounts billed for work performed but not yet paid by the
customer are included in the consolidated statement of
financial position under progress payments receivable.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

Significant Accounting Policies (continued)
Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment are stated in the
consolidated statement of financial position at cost less
subsequent accumulated depreciation and subsequent
accumulated impairment losses, if any.

Depreciation is recognised so as to write off the cost of
items of property, plant and equipment over their estimated
useful lives using the straight-line method. The estimated
useful lives and depreciation method are reviewed at the end
of each reporting period, with the effect of any changes in
estimate accounted for on a prospective basis.

An item of property, plant and equipment is derecognised
upon disposal or when no future economic benefits are
expected to arise from the continued use of the asset. Any
gain or loss arising on disposal or retirement of an item
of property, plant and equipment is determined as the
difference between the sales proceeds and the carrying
amount of the asset and is recognised in profit or loss.

Impairment losses on tangible assets

At the end of the reporting period, the Group reviews
the carrying amounts of its tangible assets to determine
whether there is any indication that those assets have
suffered an impairment loss. If any such indication exists,
the recoverable amount of the relevant asset is estimated in
order to determine the extent of the impairment loss, if any.

The recoverable amount of tangible assets are estimated
individually. When it is not possible to estimate the
recoverable amount of an asset individually, the Group
estimates the recoverable amount of the cash-generating
unit to which the asset belongs. When a reasonable and
consistent basis of allocation can be identified, corporate
assets are also allocated to individual cash-generating units,
or otherwise they are allocated to the smallest group of
cash-generating units for which a reasonable and consistent
allocation basis can be identified.
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RAEMBBRRME

For the year ended 31 March 2019
EHZE2019F3A3BILFE

Significant Accounting Policies (continued)

Impairment losses on tangible assets
(continued)

Recoverable amount is the higher of fair value less costs
of disposal and value in use. In assessing value in use, the
estimated future cash flows are discounted to their present
value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current
market assessments of the time value of money and the
risks specific to the asset (or a cash-generating unit) for
which the estimates of future cash flows have not been
adjusted.

If the recoverable amount of an asset (or a cash-generating
unit) is estimated to be less than its carrying amount, the
carrying amount of the asset (or the cash-generating unit)
is reduced to its recoverable amount. An impairment loss is
recognised immediately in profit or loss.

Where an impairment loss subsequently reverses, the
carrying amount of the asset (or the cash-generating unit) is
increased to the revised estimate of its recoverable amount,
but so that the increased carrying amount does not exceed
the carrying amount that would have been determined had
no impairment loss been recognised for the asset (or a cash-
generating unit) in prior years. A reversal of an impairment
loss is recognised immediately in profit or loss.

Leases

Leases are classified as finance leases whenever the terms
of the lease transfer substantially all the risks and rewards
of ownership to the lessee. All other leases are classified as
operating leases.

The Group as lessee

Operating lease payments are recognised as an expense on
a straight-line basis over the lease term.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

Significant Accounting Policies (continued)
Provisions

Provisions are recognised when the Group has a present
obligation (legal or constructive) as a result of a past event,
it is probable that the Group will be required to settle that
obligation, and a reliable estimate can be made of the
amount of the obligation.

The amount recognised as a provision is the best estimate
of the consideration required to settle the present obligation
at the end of the reporting period, taking into account the
risks and uncertainties surrounding the obligation. When
a provision is measured using the cash flows estimated
to settle the present obligation, its carrying amount is the
present value of those cash flows (where the effect of the
time value of money is material).

Provisions for the expected cost of warranty obligations
under the relevant services agreements are recognised at
the date of services performed, based on the best estimate
made by the directors of the Company of the expenditure
required to settle the Group’s obligation.

Foreign currencies

In preparing the financial statements of each individual
group entity, transactions in currencies other than the
functional currency of that entity (foreign currencies) are
recorded in the respective functional currency (i.e. the
currency of the primary economic environment in which
the entity operates) at the rates of exchanges prevailing on
the dates of the transactions. At the end of the reporting
period, monetary items denominated in foreign currencies
are retranslated at the rates prevailing at that date. Non-
monetary items that are measured in term of historical cost
in a foreign currency are not retranslated.

Exchange differences arising on the settlement of monetary
items, and on the retranslation of monetary items, are
recognised in profit or loss in the period in which they arise.
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RAEMBBRRME

For the year ended 31 March 2019
EHZE2019F3A3BILFE

Significant Accounting Policies (continued)
Foreign currencies (continued)

For the purposes of presenting the consolidated financial
statements, the assets and liabilities of the group entities
are translated into the presentation currency of the
Company (i.e. HK$) using exchange rates prevailing at the
end of the reporting period. Income and expenses items
are translated at the average exchange rates for the period.
Exchange differences arising, if any, are recognised in other
comprehensive income and accumulated in equity under the
heading of translation reserve. Such exchange differences
are recognised in profit or loss in the period in which the
foreign operation is disposed of.

Retirement benefits costs

Payments to government-managed retirement benefits
scheme and the Mandatory Provident Fund Scheme
(the “MPF Scheme”) are recognised as an expense when
employees have rendered services entitling them to the
contributions.

Short-term employee benefits

Short-term employee benefits are recognised at the
undiscounted amount of the benefits expected to be paid
as and when employees rendered the services. All short-
term employee benefits are recognised as an expense unless
another HKFRS requires or permits the inclusion of the
benefit in the cost of an asset.

A liability is recognised for benefits accruing to employees
(such as wages and salaries and annual leave) after
deducting any amount already paid.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

Significant Accounting Policies (continued)
Borrowing costs

All borrowing costs not directly attributable to the
construction, acquisition or production of qualifying assets
are recognised in profit or loss in the period in which they
are incurred.

Taxation

Income tax expense represents the sum of the tax currently
payable and deferred tax.

The tax currently payable is based on taxable profit for the
year. Taxable profit differs from (loss) profit before taxation
because of income or expense that are taxable or deductible
in other years and items that are never taxable or deductible.
The Group’s liability for current tax is calculated using tax
rates that have been enacted or substantively enacted by
the end of the reporting period.

Deferred tax is recognised on temporary differences
between the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities in the
consolidated financial statements and the corresponding
tax bases used in the computation of taxable profit. Deferred
tax liabilities are generally recognised for all taxable
temporary differences. Deferred tax assets are generally
recognised for all deductible temporary differences to the
extent that it is probable that taxable profits will be available
against which those deductible temporary differences can
be utilised. Such deferred tax assets and liabilities are
not recognised if the temporary difference arises from the
initial recognition (other than in a business combination) of
assets and liabilities in a transaction that affects neither the
taxable profit nor the accounting profit.
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RAEMBBRRME

For the year ended 31 March 2019
EHZE2019F3A3BILFE

Significant Accounting Policies (continued)
Taxation (continued)

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for taxable temporary
differences associated with investments in subsidiaries,
except where the Group is able to control the reversal of the
temporary difference and it is probable that the temporary
difference will not reverse in the foreseeable future.
Deferred tax assets arising from deductible temporary
differences associated with such investments are only
recognised to the extent that it is probable that there will
be sufficient taxable profits against which to utilise the
benefits of the temporary differences and they are expected
to reverse in the foreseeable future.

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at
the end of each reporting period and reduced to the extent
that it is no longer probable that sufficient taxable profits
will be available to allow all or part of the asset to be
recovered.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax
rates that are expected to apply in the period in which the
liability is settled or the asset is realised, based on tax
rate (and tax laws) that have been enacted or substantively
enacted by the end of the reporting period.

The measurement of deferred tax liabilities and assets
reflects the tax consequences that would follow from the
manner in which the Group expects, at the end of the
reporting period, to recover or settle the carrying amount of
its assets and liabilities.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset when there is a
legally enforceable right to set off current tax assets against
current tax liabilities and when they relate to income taxes
levied by the same taxation authority and the Group intends
to settle its current tax assets and liabilities on a net basis.

Current and deferred tax are recognised in profit or loss.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

Significant Accounting Policies (continued)
Financial instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised
when a group entity becomes a party to the contractual
provisions of the instrument. All regular way purchases or
sales of financial assets are recognised and derecognised
on a trade date basis. Regular way purchases or sales are
purchases or sales of financial assets that require delivery
of assets within the time frame established by regulation or

convention in the market place.

Financial assets and financial liabilities are initially
measured at fair value except for trade receivables arising
from contracts with customers which are initially measured
in accordance with HKFRS 15 since 1 April 2018. Transaction
costs that are directly attributable to the acquisition or
issue of financial assets and financial liabilities (other than
financial assets at FVTPL) are added to or deducted from
the fair value of the financial assets or financial liabilities, as
appropriate, on initial recognition. Transaction costs directly
attributable to the acquisition of financial assets at FVTPL
are recognised directly in profit or loss.

The effective interest method is a method of calculating
the amortised cost of a financial asset or financial liability
and of allocating interest income and interest expense over
the relevant period. The effective interest rate is the rate
that exactly discounts estimated future cash receipts and
payments (including all fees and points paid or received
that form an integral part of the effective interest rate,
transaction costs and other premiums or discounts) through
the expected life of the financial asset or financial liability,
or, where appropriate, a shorter period, to the net carrying
amount on initial recognition.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

RAEMBBRRME

For the year ended 31 March 2019
EHZE2019F3A3BILFE

3. Significant Accounting Policies (continued)
Financial instruments (continued)
Financial assets

Classification and subsequent measurement of
financial assets (upon application of HKFRS 9 in
accordance with transitions in note 2)

Financial assets that meet the following conditions are
subsequently measured at amortised cost:

. the financial asset is held within a business model
whose objective is to collect contractual cash flows;
and

. the contractual terms give rise on specified dates to

cash flows that are solely payments of principal and
interest on the principal amount outstanding.

Financial assets that meet the following conditions
are subsequently measured at fair value through other
comprehensive income:

. the financial asset is held within a business model
whose objective is achieved by both collecting
contractual cash flows and selling; and

. the contractual terms give rise on specified dates to
cash flows that are solely payments of principal and

interest on the principal amount outstanding.

All other financial assets are subsequently measured at
FVTPL.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

Significant Accounting Policies (continued)
Financial instruments (continued)
Financial assets (continued)

Classification and subsequent measurement of
financial assets (upon application of HKFRS 9 in
accordance with transitions in note 2) (continued)

A financial asset is classified as held for trading if:

. it has been acquired principally for the purpose of
selling in the near term; or

. on initial recognition it is a part of a portfolio of
identified financial instruments that the Group
manages together and has a recent actual pattern of
short-term profit-taking; or

. it is a derivative that is not designated and effective
as a hedging instrument.

In addition, the Group may irrevocably designate a financial
asset that are required to be measured at the amortised cost
or fair value through other comprehensive income (“FVTOCI”)
as measured at FVTPL if doing so eliminates or significantly
reduces an accounting mismatch.

Amortised cost and interest income

Interest income is recognised using the effective interest
method for financial assets measured subsequently at
amortised cost. Interest income is calculated by applying
the effective interest rate to the gross carrying amount
of a financial asset, except for financial assets that have
subsequently become credit-impaired (see below). For
financial assets that have subsequently become credit-
impaired, interest income is recognised by applying the
effective interest rate to the amortised cost of the financial
asset from the next reporting period. If the credit risk on
the credit-impaired financial instrument improves so that
the financial asset is no longer credit-impaired, interest
income is recognised by applying the effective interest rate
to the gross carrying amount of the financial asset from the
beginning of the reporting period following the determination
that the asset is no longer credit impaired.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

RAEMBBRRME

For the year ended 31 March 2019
EHZE2019F3A3BILFE

Significant Accounting Policies (continued)
Financial instruments (continued)

Financial assets (continued)

Financial assets at FVTPL

Financial assets that do not meet the criteria for being
measured at amortised cost or FVTOCI or designated as
FVTOCI are measured at FVTPL.

Financial assets at FVTPL (representing payments for life
insurance policies) are measured at fair value at the end of
each reporting period, with any fair value gains or losses
recognised in profit or loss and included in the “other
income, gains and losses” line item.

Impairment of financial assets and contract assets
(upon application of HKFRS 9 with transitions in
accordance with note 2)

The Group recognises an impairment allowance for ECL
on financial assets which are subject to impairment
under HKFRS 9 (including trade receivables, pledged bank
deposits, bank balances, deposits and other receivables)
and contract assets. The amount of ECL is updated at each
reporting date to reflect changes in credit risk since initial
recognition.

Lifetime ECL represents the ECL that will result from all
possible default events over the expected life of the relevant
instrument. In contrast, 12m ECL represents the portion of
lifetime ECL that is expected to result from default events
that are possible within 12 months after the reporting date.
Assessments are done based on the Group’s historical credit
loss experience, adjusted for factors that are specific to the
debtors, general economic conditions and an assessment of
both the current conditions at the reporting date as well as
the forecast of future conditions.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

Significant Accounting Policies (continued)
Financial instruments (continued)
Financial assets (continued)

Impairment of financial assets and contract assets
(upon application of HKFRS 9 with transitions in
accordance with note 2) (continued)

The Group always recognises lifetime ECL for trade
receivables and contract assets. The ECL on these assets
are assessed individually.

For all other instruments, the Group measures the
impairment allowance equal to 12m ECL, unless when
there has been a significant increase in credit risk since
initial recognition, the Group recognises lifetime ECL. The
assessment of whether lifetime ECL should be recognised is
based on significant increases in the likelihood or risk of a
default occurring since initial recognition.

(i)  Significant increase in credit risk

In assessing whether the credit risk has increased
significantly since initial recognition, the Group
compares the risk of a default occurring on the
financial instrument as at the reporting date with the
risk of a default occurring on the financial instrument
as at the date of initial recognition. In making this
assessment, the Group considers both quantitative
and qualitative information that is reasonable and
supportable, including historical experience and
forward-looking information that is available without
undue cost or effort.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

RAEMBBRRME

For the year ended 31 March 2019
EHZE2019F3A3BILFE

Significant Accounting Policies (continued)
Financial instruments (continued)
Financial assets (continued)

Impairment of financial assets and contract assets
(upon application of HKFRS 9 with transitions in
accordance with note 2) (continued)

(i)  Significant increase in credit risk (continued)

In particular, the following information is taken into
account when assessing whether credit risk has
increased significantly:

. an actual or expected significant deterioration in
the financial instrument’s external (if available)
or internal credit rating;

. existing or forecast adverse changes in business,
financial or economic conditions that are
expected to cause a significant decrease in the
debtor’s ability to meet its debt obligations;

. an actual or expected significant deterioration in
the operating results of the debtor; and

. an actual or expected significant adverse change
in the regulatory, economic, or technological
environment of the debtor that results in a
significant decrease in the debtor’s ability to
meet its debt obligations.

Irrespective of the outcome of the above assessment,
the Group presumes that the credit risk has increased
significantly since initial recognition when contractual
payments are more than 30 days past due, unless the
Group has reasonable and supportable information that
demonstrates otherwise.

The Group regularly monitors the effectiveness of the
criteria used to identify whether there has been a significant
increase in credit risk and revises them as appropriate to
ensure that the criteria are capable of identifying significant
increase in credit risk before the amount becomes past due.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

Significant Accounting Policies (continued)

Financial instruments (continued)

Financial assets (continued)

Impairment of financial assets and contract assets
(upon application of HKFRS 9 with transitions in
accordance with note 2) (continued)

(if)

(i)

Definition of default

For internal credit risk management, the Group
considers an event of default occurs when information
developed internally or obtained from external sources
indicates that the debtor is unlikely to pay its creditors,
including the Group, in full (without taking into account
any collaterals held by the Group).

Irrespective of the above, the Group considers
that default has occurred when a financial asset
is more than 90 days past due unless the Group
has reasonable and supportable information to
demonstrate that a more lagging default criterion is
more appropriate.

Credit-impaired financial assets

A financial asset is credit-impaired when one or more
events of default that have a detrimental impact on
the estimated future cash flows of that financial
asset have occurred. Evidence that a financial asset
is credit-impaired includes observable data about the
following events:

(a) significant financial difficulty of the issuer or the
borrower;

(b) a breach of contract, such as a default or past
due event;

(¢) the lender(s) of the borrower, for economic or
contractual reasons relating to the borrower’s
financial difficulty, having granted to the
borrower a concession(s) that the lender(s) would
not otherwise consider; or

(d) it is becoming probable that the borrower
will enter bankruptcy or other financial
reorganisation.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

RAEMBBRRME

For the year ended 31 March 2019
EHZE2019F3A3BILFE

3. Significant Accounting Policies (continued)

Financial instruments (continued)

Financial assets (continued)

Impairment of financial assets and contract assets
(upon application of HKFRS 9 with transitions in
accordance with note 2) (continued)

(iv)

Write-off policy

The Group writes off a financial asset when there
is information indicating that the counterparty
is in severe financial difficulty and there is no
realistic prospect of recovery, for example, when the
counterparty has been placed under liquidation or
has entered into bankruptcy proceedings. Financial
assets written off may still
activities under the Group’s recovery procedures,
taking into account legal advice where appropriate.
A write-off constitutes a derecognition event. Any

be subject to enforcement

subsequent recoveries are recognised in profit or loss.

Measurement and recognition of ECL

The measurement of ECL is a function of the
probability of default, (i.e. the
magnitude of the loss if there is a default) and
the exposure at default. The assessment of the
probability of default and loss given default is based

loss given default

on historical data adjusted by forward-looking
information. Estimation of ECL reflects an unbiased
and probability-weighted amount that is determined
with the respective risks of default occurring as the
weights.

Generally, the ECL is the difference between all
contractual cash flows that are due to the Group in
accordance with the contract and the cash flows
that the Group expects to receive, discounted at the
effective interest rate determined at initial recognition.

Interest income is calculated based on the gross
carrying amount of the financial asset unless the
financial asset is credit impaired, in which case
interest income is calculated based on amortised cost
of the financial asset.

Polyfair Holdings Limited ZE 3 R AR A A

3.

TEEHEE)
cRIAE)

TREE (&)
ETMEERSNEERERBEM
A200 8RR B BB MW E

2R3

(iv)

2935 1%)(4&)

88 B R
ERERBRIRZ2HFRRE
= IS R # & B PR [E] A BE R
(flan - XSHFHBEBRSKEA
WERF) ~5EKMES
BE KERFEZRE(WE
) BMENSmEERED
AR 7N & B W B 12 17 58
BITIES) o MSHEA R LR
% o F A EBUET I8 2 AT

=7
am ©

AELREREHACEEBR

AERBEERBERNGEEY
Bix - BHOBKEIROEHDH
BRETE) MEORAE R A K
2 FEROMERRENERKRTD
RIBEREEER AR BER
- BHREEBBENMGERBRE
fRHREBE R NEFH S5 - 2D
REHEEVRRINEETE -

—RME BREEEBE/RE
BHRNAKRENMEGHNRS
it = B 7R &R B T8 B B Y 3R &
MERMNZER  WERIIRHER
REETNERF KR -

MNBWATIEREREENRE
REFE BRIFEMEELRE
ERE  EZBERT - MEBKA
ReRMEENBENAGTE -



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

Significant Accounting Policies (continued)
Financial instruments (continued)
Financial assets (continued)

Impairment of financial assets and contract assets
(upon application of HKFRS 9 with transitions in
accordance with note 2) (continued)

(v)  Measurement and recognition of ECL (continued)

The Group recognises an impairment gain or loss in
profit or loss for all financial instruments by adjusting
their carrying amount, with the exception of trade
receivables, other receivables and contract assets
where the corresponding adjustment is recognised
through an impairment allowance account.

Classification and subsequent measurement of
financial assets (before application of HKFRS 9 on 1
April 2018)

The Group’s financial assets are classified into loans and
receivables.

Loans and receivables

Loans and receivables are non-derivative financial assets
with fixed or determinable payments that are not quoted in
an active market. Subsequent to initial recognition, loans
and receivables (including retention money receivables
payments for life insurance policies, progress payments
receivable, deposits, other receivables, pledged bank
deposits and bank balances and cash) are measured at
amortised cost using the effective interest method, less any
impairment.

Interest income is recognised by applying the effective
interest rate, except for short term receivables where the
recognition of interest would be immaterial.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

RAEMBBRRME

For the year ended 31 March 2019
EHZE2019F3A3BILFE

Significant Accounting Policies (continued)
Financial instruments (continued)
Financial assets (continued)

Impairment of financial assets (before application of
HKFRS 9 on 1 April 2018)

Financial assets are assessed for indicators of impairment
at the end of each reporting period. Financial assets are
considered to be impaired when there is objective evidence
that, as a result of one or more events that occurred after
the initial recognition of the financial assets, the estimated
future cash flows of the financial assets have been affected.

Objective evidence of impairment could include:

. significant financial difficulty of the issuer or
counterparty; or

. breach of contract, such as default or delinquency in
interest or principal payments; or

. it becoming probable that the borrower will enter
bankruptcy or financial re-organisation.

Objective evidence of impairment for a portfolio of
receivables could include the Group’s past experience of
collecting payments, an increase in the number of delayed
payments in the portfolio past the average credit periods,
observable changes in national or local economic conditions
that correlate with default on receivables.

For financial assets carried at amortised cost, the amount
of impairment loss recognised is the difference between
the asset’s carrying amount and the present value of the
estimated future cash flows discounted at the financial
asset’s original effective interest rate.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

Significant Accounting Policies (continued)
Financial instruments (continued)
Financial assets (continued)

Impairment of financial assets (before application of
HKFRS 9 on 1 April 2018) (continued)

The carrying amount of the financial assets are reduced
by the impairment loss directly for all financial assets
with the exception of trade receivables, where the carrying
amount is reduced through the use of an allowance account.
Changes in the carrying amount of the allowance account
are recognised in profit or loss. When trade receivables
are considered uncollectible, it is written off against the
allowance account. Subsequent recoveries of amounts
previously written off are credited to profit or loss.
For financial assets measured at amortised cost, if in a
subsequent period, the amount of the impairment loss
decreases and the decrease can be related objectively to an
event occurring after the impairment was recognised, the
previously recognised impairment loss is reversed through
profit or loss to the extent that the carrying amount of the
financial asset at the date the impairment is reversed does
not exceed what the amortised cost would have been had
the impairment not been recognised.

Derecognition of financial assets

The Group derecognises a financial asset only when the
contractual rights to the cash flows from the asset expire,
or when it transfers the financial asset and substantially all
the risks and rewards of ownership of the asset to another
entity.

On derecognition of a financial asset measured at amortised
cost, the difference between the asset’s carrying amount
and the sum of the consideration received and receivable is
recognised in profit or loss.
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RAEMBBRRME

For the year ended 31 March 2019
EHZE2019F3A3BILFE

Significant Accounting Policies (continued)
Financial instruments (continued)
Financial liabilities and equity

Debt and equity instruments are classified as either
financial liabilities or as equity in accordance with the
substance of the contractual arrangements and the
definitions of a financial liability and an equity instrument.

Equity instruments

An equity instrument is any contract that evidences a
residual interest in the assets of an entity after deducting all
of its liabilities. Equity instruments issued by the Company
are recognised at the proceeds received, net of direct issue
costs.

Financial liabilities at amortised cost

Financial liabilities, including trade and other payables and
bank borrowings, are subsequently measured at amortised
cost, using the effective interest method.

Financial guarantee contracts

A financial guarantee contract is a contract that requires
the issuer to make specified payments to reimburse the
holder for a loss it incurs because a specified debtor fails
to make payments when due in accordance with the terms
of a debt instrument. Financial guarantee contract liabilities
are measured initially at their fair values. It is subsequently
measured at the higher of:

. the amount of the impairment allowance determined
in accordance with HKFRS 9 (since 1 April 2018)/HKAS
37 “Provisions, Contingent Liabilities and Contingent
Assets” (before application of HKFRS 9 on 1 April
2018); and

. the amount initially recognised less, where
appropriate, cumulative amortisation recognised over
the guarantee period.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

Significant Accounting Policies (continued)
Financial instruments (continued)
Derecognition of financial liabilities

The Group derecognises financial liabilities when, and only
when, the Group’s obligations are discharged, cancelled or
have expired. The difference between the carrying amount
of the financial liability derecognised and the consideration
paid and payable is recognised in profit or loss.

Key Sources of Estimation Uncertainty

In the application of the Group’s accounting policies, which
are described in note 3, the directors of the Company are
required to make judgments, estimates and assumptions
about the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities that are
not readily apparent from other sources. The estimates and
underlying assumptions are based on historical experience
and other factors that are considered to be relevant. Actual
results may differ from these estimates.

The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed
on an ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting estimates are
recognised in the period in which the estimate is revised
if the revision affects only that period, or in the period of
the revision and future periods if the revision affects both
current and future periods.

Impairment assessment of trade receivables
and contract assets

The management of the Group estimates the lifetime ECL
of trade receivables and contract assets individually, after
considering financial background, creditability, ageing, and
likelihood of collection with reference to repayment history
and/or past due status of respective debtors. Estimated loss
rates are based on historical observed default rates over the
expected life of the receivables and contract assets and are
adjusted for forward-looking information.

The impairment allowance for ECL is sensitive to changes
in estimates. The financial risk management objectives and
impairment assessment on the Group’s trade receivables
and contract assets is disclosed in note 33.

3.
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For the year ended 31 March 2019
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RAEMBBRRME

For the year ended 31 March 2019
EHZE2019F3A3BILFE

Key Sources of Estimation Uncertainty
(continued)

Impairment assessment of trade receivables
and contract assets (continued)

As at 31 March 2019, the carrying amount of trade
receivables and contract assets are HK$23,616,000 and
HK$104,564,000, respectively (see notes 17 and 18 for
details), net of impairment allowance of HK$2,803,000 and
HK$792,000, respectively. Additional impairment allowance
of HK$1,110,000 and HK$663,000 on trade receivables and
contract assets respectively was recognised on 1 April 2018
upon application of HKFRS 9 as disclosed in note 2.

As at 31 March 2018, the progress payments receivable,
amounts receivable on contract work and retention money
receivables were HK$17,848,000, HK$83,148,000 and
HK$22,906,000 respectively. No impairment allowance was
recognised under HKAS 39.

Estimated outcome of the construction
contracts

The Group recognises revenue from provision of construction
services and the gross profit of construction contracts by
reference to the progresses toward complete satisfaction
of these services. Budgeted contract costs and profit
margin are prepared by the management of the Group on
the basis of quotations from time to time provided by the
major subcontractors, suppliers or vendors involved and the
experience of the management of the Group. In order to keep
the budget accurate and up-to-date, the management of the
Group conducts periodic reviews of the budgets of contracts
by comparing the budgeted amounts to the actual amounts
incurred. Such significant estimate may have impact on the
revenue recognised in each period.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

Key Sources of Estimation Uncertainty
(continued)

Estimated outcome of the construction
contracts (continued)

Recognised amounts of contract revenue from provision of
construction services reflect management’s best estimate
of each contract’s outcome and value of works completed,
which are determined on the basis of a number of estimates.
This includes the assessment of the profitability of on-
going construction contracts. For more complex contracts
in particular, costs to complete and contract profitability
are subject to significant estimation uncertainty. The actual
outcomes in terms of total cost or revenue may be higher or
lower than estimated at the end of each reporting period,
which would affect the revenue and profit or loss recognised
in future years as an adjustment to the amounts recorded
to date.

Revenue and Segment Information

Revenue represents income received or receivable from
provision of construction contract work.

The Group’s operating activities are attributable to a single
operating segment focusing on provision of construction
contract work. This operating segment has been identified
on the basis of internal management reports prepared in
accordance with accounting policies conform with HKFRSs,
that are regularly reviewed by the chief operating decision
maker (“CODM”) (i.e. being executive directors of the
Company). The CODM regularly reviews revenue analysis by
relevant types of properties for which construction contract
work is provided, and considers them as one single operating
segment since all revenue of the Group is generated from
one single line of business. Other than revenue analysis, no
operating results and no other discrete financial information
are available for the assessment of performance.

4.
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RAEMBBRRME

For the year ended 31 March 2019
EHZE2019F3A3BILFE

Revenue and Segment Information
(continued)

The CODM reviews the loss (profit) for the year of the Group
as a whole to make decisions about resource allocation.
No analysis of segment assets or segment liabilities or
geographical information of non-current assets is presented
as they are not regularly provided to the CODM. The
operation of the Group constitutes one single operating
segment under HKFRS 8 “Operating Segments” and
accordingly, no separate segment information other than
entity level information is prepared.

Disaggregation of revenue from contracts with
customers

An analysis of the Group’s revenue are as follows:

s &2 wHE R (&)

TERERREERENARBNF
NEBCER)  MEHABERS B
FRTE - ARYEEH R EBLER
RERBOBEER D BEELER
BEEMNMBEERNON AL E
2NBEEON - REBFEWHRELE
RISESSR[REDE] - REBEK XS H
BE-genian AithERER
MERIN  TEEBREDHBEH -

REEFENHNKRENAD

AREBNKZ SO

2019 2018
20194 20184
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FHET

Recognised over time: B iy ] FE 3R
Residential properties FEMEHE 73,037 261,272
Commercial properties EEXZES 142,741 10,569
215,778 271,841

All revenue during each of the reporting period is derived
from customers in Hong Kong. All the Group’s provision of
construction services are made directly with customers
which are mainly property developers (including subsidiaries
of property developers) and main contractors from the
private sector in Hong Kong.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

Revenue and Segment Information
(continued)

Revenue recognition

The Group provides design and project management services
for facade and installation of curtain wall systems. Such
contracts are entered into before the services begin. Under
the terms of the contracts, the Group is contractually
required to perform services at the customers’ specified
sites that the Group creates or enhances an asset that the
customers controls as the Group performs. Revenue from
provision of construction services is therefore recognised
over time using input method, i.e. based on the proportion
that costs incurred for work performed by the Group to
date relative to the estimated total costs in measuring
the percentage of completion for the revenue recognised
during each of the reporting period. The Group will consider
if there is any adjustment required to the input method
for uninstalled materials, to ensure that the input method
meets the objective of measuring progress towards
complete satisfaction of a performance obligation. The
management of Group considers that input method would
faithfully depict the Group’s performance towards complete
satisfaction of these performance obligation under HKFRS
15.

For contracts that contain variable consideration (i.e.
variation orders), the Group estimates the amount of
consideration to which it will be entitled using the expected
value method.

The estimated amount of variable consideration is included
in the transaction price only to the extent that it is highly
probable that such an inclusion will not result in a significant
revenue reversal in the future when the uncertainty associated
with the variable consideration is subsequently resolved.

mAEMBRRME
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AR

CRE R E R

For the year ended 31 March 2019
EHZE2019F3A3BILFE

Revenue and Segment Information

(continued)
Revenue recognition (continued)

At the end of the reporting period, the Group updates
the estimated transaction price (including updating its
assessment of whether an estimate of variable consideration
is constrained) to represent faithfully the circumstances
present at the end of the reporting period and the change in
circumstances during the reporting period.

Transaction price allocated to the remaining
performance obligation for contract with
customers

The transaction price allocated to the remaining
performance obligations (unsatisfied or partially
unsatisfied) as at 31 March 2019 and the expected timing of
recognising revenue are as follows:

W = & 2 2R & # ()
e 25 2 R (AR
REBEMA  AEBEHEH RS

BREEHREERTER @GR
TEBIRAROTE) - LHERBRANE
EMARTENBERRRNREDNLES
BR B MR -

TRERTEFENBHNER
MR 5 E

2

R2019F3A3ES R ER NELN BT
(RBITHHBOARBITHORZEUR
RS TEA SR T

HK$’000
FET
Provision of construction services for: BERBREREER:
Residential properties FEME 1,331
Commercial properties EEX/ES 169,313
170,644
Based on the information available to the Group at the ERAEBERSHEHRNENE

end of each reporting period, the management of the
Group expects the transaction price allocated to the above
unsatisfied (or partially unsatisfied) contracts in respect of
provision of construction services as at 31 March 2019 will
be recognised as revenue during the year ending 31 March
2020 and/or the year ending 31 March 2021.
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mAEMBHRRHE

For the year ended 31 March 2019
HZE2019F3ANBILFE

Revenue and Segment Information 5. WzZ=Kk75IER(E)
(continued)

Information about major customers ERETEEFNER

Revenue from customers contributing over 10% of total KEFANGLL R AL EEWZE10%
revenue of the Group during the year are as below: R T :

2019 2018
20194 20184
HK$°000 HK$000
TER FAT
Customer Al BEEA 107,489 N/A%
Customer B2 B FB? 37,870 45,635
Customer C3 BEC? N/A* 42,464
Customer D? ¥ P D? 45,761 121,017

REBEDEAH TR -

! Revenue derived from commercial properties contract works. !

2 Revenue derived from commercial properties and residential 2 REBEMEREENHEEGLHIR
properties contract works. B U 2= o
e Revenue derived from residential properties contract works. E REEEMEESNIENKE -
4 Revenue derived from this customer was less than 10% of 3 REZEFPHOW = PRFRLIK S
the total revenue for the year. #910% °
Other Income, Gains and Losses 6. H#w A WERERE
2019 2018
20195 20184F
HK$’000 HK$°000
TER FAT
Bank interest income AT A B A 147 -
Interest income from payments for ASRBRENK
life insurance policies A E WA - 155
Exchange gain (loss) b 5 W s (5 48) 165 (154)
Fair value gain on payments for life ASRBRRER
insurance policies W 2 1,635 =
1,947 1

Annual Report 2019 =& — h F &£ #f
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FE B mERMEE
For the year ended 31 March 2019
HE2019F3ANBILEFE
7. Impairment Losses 7. REEE
2019
20194
HK$’000
FET
Impairment losses recognised on: MUATEBEBERN B EES:
Contract assets EHEE 99
Trade receivables =) &P 1,693
Other receivables E b e s IE 2
1,794

Details of impairment assessment for the year ended 31
March 2019 are set out in note 33.

B E2019F3A31H (EFE KR ERT ik
BN ESS -
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8. Finance Costs 8. BtE R
2019 2018
20194 20184
HK$’000 HK$'000
FE T FAT
Interest on bank loans and bank RITERKRTT
overdrafts RSN 5,203 3,034
9. (Loss) Profit Before Taxation 9. BBiAI(EE)EA
2019 2018
20194 20184
HK$’000 HK$°000
FET FAT
(Loss) profit before taxation has been & & Al (& 18) % F 75 A
arrived at after charging: HMBRAT&EBERZER:
Directors’ remuneration (note 10) = = & (F5E10) 5,530 5,746
Other staff costs H 8 T kA 28,329 24,046
Retirement benefits schemes ABHEME TEHD
contributions for other staff R K TR B & &l 4 5k 2,219 1,768
Total staff costs = 36,078 31,560
Auditor’s remuneration % B8 B B & 1,050 1,000
Depreciation of property, plant and M- BER
equipment HETE 490 205
Operating lease rentals in respect of HEEEWEN
rented premises KEHERS 2,471 1,517
Listing expenses EmRX
(included in other expenses) (FTAEAMBRHEX) - 14,536
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mAEMBHRRHE

For the year ended 31 March 2019
HZE2019F3ANBILFE

10. Directors’, Chief Executive Officer’'s and 10. E5 - B {THAEREE

Employees’ Emoluments B <

(a) Directors’ and chief executive officer’s (@) EERBRESETHRAEMS
emoluments
Details of the emoluments paid or payable to the RER - AEBEETEED MK
directors and chief executive officer of the Company ERARBEERZRTRAE
(including emoluments for services as employees/ M S (BERKAELARAES
directors of the group entities prior to becoming the AETEBERES ESHH
directors of the Company) by the entities comprising B)FHBEOT

the Group during the year are as follows:

Retirement
benefits
Salaries and Discretionary schemes
Fees allowances bonus contributions Total
BRER
e HerEE  BERA HE B3 st

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TER TER TER TiEn TiEn

For the year ended BZ2019F3A31ALL

31 March 2019 £E
Executive directors HiTEZE
Mr. Yu (chief executive officer)t ~ RELGTHER)* - 1,944 160 18 2,122
Mr. Chow? g - 1,458 120 13 1,591
Mr. Wong Kam Man* BN EL? - 1,155 95 18 1,268
Sub-total INFF - 4,557 375 49 4,981
Independent non-executive BUHHTEE

directors
Dr. Lung Cheuk Wah* ERERLH 183 - - - 183
Mr. Ng Ka Lok* REGHL A 183 - - - 183
Mr. Wong Chi Yung* EFEBRE 183 - - - 183
Sub-total g 549 - - - 549
Total @it 549 4,557 375 49 5,530
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FE B |RME
For the year ended 31 March 2019
EHZE2019F3A3BILFE

Company, were appointed on 25 May 2017 and Mr.

Wong Kam Man, the executive director of the Company,

was appointed on 9 August 2017.

i The independent non-executive directors were

appointed on 25 January 2018.

Polyfair Holdings Limited ZE 3 R AR A A

10. Directors’, Chief Executive Officer’s and 10. EE - - Ee{THRAEREES
Employees’ Emoluments (continued) & (&)
(a) Directors’ and chief executive officer’s (@) EERBRESETHRAEMS
emoluments (continued) (#&)
Retirement
benefits
Salaries and  Discretionary schemes
Fees  allowances bonus contributions Total
RINEFI
e FHe R [l ATEIf Fabas
HK$000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
AT AT TETL FEL FEL
For the year ended EZ2018F3A31AL
31 March 2018 EE
Executive directors HITEZE
Mr. Yu (chief executive officer)  RELLE(FTHER) 500 1,740 280 18 2,538
Mr. Chow? Bt 500 1,260 200 18 1,078
Mr. Wong Kam Man* H LA = 960 150 18 1,128
Sub-total INEt 1,000 3,960 630 54 5,644
Independent non-executive BUFHTEE
directors
Dr. Lung Cheuk Wah" EFERT 34 = = = 34
Mr. Ng Ka Lok’ REGEE 34 = = = 34
Mr. Wong Chi Yung" FEBRE 34 = = = 34
Sub-total NG 102 = = - 102
Total @t 1,102 3,960 630 54 5746
# Mr. Yu and Mr. Chow, the executive directors of the # ARARMITEEREERAL

4 R20175F5 258 #E & -
MARRRNITESHIHBELE
MR2017F8 AR E (L -

* B IEHTTE ER2018F 1R
25HEZAE -
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10. Directors’, Chief Executive Officer’s and
Employees’ Emoluments (continued)

(a)

(b)

Directors’ and chief executive officer’s
emoluments (continued)

The executive directors’ emoluments shown above
were for their services in connection with the
management of the affairs of the Company and
the Group. Mr. Yu was also appointed as the chief
executive officer of the Company on 25 May 2017. The
emoluments of Mr. Yu were also for his services in the
capacity of chief executive officer.

The emoluments of independent non-executive
directors shown above were for their services as
directors of the Company.

The discretionary bonus is determined with reference
to the operating results, individual performance and
market condition during the year.

Employees’ emoluments

Of the five individuals with the highest emoluments
paid by the Group during the year, three of them
(2018: three) are directors of the Company whose
emoluments are included in the disclosures above. The
emoluments of the remaining two individuals (2018:
two) are as below:

mAEMBHRRHE

For the year ended 31 March 2019
HZE2019F3ANBILFE

10. EE  BRETHAEREER

B < (%)
) EERHZETHRAEMNE
(&)

(b)

EXFRBTESOME AHE
EERARA RASESHME
HHORBMIZTOME - RELE
IRA201765 258 E R A K
NAIMITBAE - REENME
IR EEITERBE iR e
R MRS -

EXFRBIGFRITESNME
RABERERRTNESARH
MRB MM -

MISTEAT2ZEFANKEER
B EARBERTREE -

BEME

RERNAEBAZRSHFALE
P =FQ08F =&)BAA
AMES A2 R EXH
B HBMAQ0ISFE MEB)A
THB &N T

2019 2018
20194 20184
HK$’000 HK$'000
THERT FHET
Employees EE8

- salaries and allowances — ¥ & KoEE, 1,724 1,611
- discretionary bonus —MIBTEAT 142 229

- retirement benefits schemes —ROR1E FI &t 8 45 5K
contributions 36 36
1,902 1,876
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FE B |RME
For the year ended 31 March 2019
EHZE2019F3A3BILFE

10. Directors’, Chief Executive Officer’s and 10.

Employees’ Emoluments (continued)
(b) Employees’ emoluments (continued)

Their emoluments were within the following bands:

HENMESERIATEE :

Number of individuals

AE
2019 2018
20195 20184
Nil to HK$1,000,000 = 21,000,000 7T 1 2

HK$1,000,001 to HK$1,500,000

1,000,001 7T 21,500,000/ 7T

No emoluments were paid by the Group to the directors
of the Company or the five highest paid individuals

(including directors and employees), as an inducement
to join or upon joining the Group or as compensation
for loss of office. None of the directors of the Company

1 —_

AEEMERARRNESHA
ZREFAT(BREZERESR)
SHEMME - ERIMAR
AREERWREEHBAEE
BMERNRBNESTNMFARE

have waived any emoluments for both years. ERBME -
11. Taxation 1. BiE

2019 2018
20194 20184
HK$’000 HK$'000
THERT FHETT

The tax (credit) charge comprises: MIEB(HE2)ZHEHE:

Current tax B BR 75 18

Hong Kong Profits Tax BEEMNEH - 3,910
PRC Enterprise Income Tax B E TSR 14 5
14 3,915
Deferred taxation credit (note 26) i 3 B T8 3K 2 (BT 53 26) (316) =
(302) 3,915
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

Taxation (continued)

On 21 March 2018, the Hong Kong Legislative Council
passed The Inland Revenue (Amendment) (No. 7) Bill 2017
(the “Bill”) which introduces the two-tiered profits tax rates
regime. The Bill was signed into law on 28 March 2018 and
was gazetted on the following day. Under the two-tiered
profits tax rates regime, the first HK$2,000,000 of profits
of the qualifying group entity will be taxed at 8.25%, and
profits above HK$2,000,000 will be taxed at 16.5%. The
profits of group entities not qualifying for the two-tiered
profits tax rates regime will continue to be taxed at a flat
rate of 16.5%.

The directors of the Company considered the amount
involved upon implementation of the two-tiered profits tax
rates regime as insignificant to the consolidated financial
statements. Hong Kong Profits Tax is calculated at 16.5% of
the estimated assessable profit for both years.

No provision for Hong Kong Profits Tax has been made as the
subsidiaries in Hong Kong incurred tax losses for the year
ended 31 March 2019.

According to Article 63 of the Enterprise Income Tax
Law (PEARAMBE R EFSH) and Article 512 of the
Implementation of the Enterprise Income Tax Law of the
People’s Republic of China (the “PRC”) (R ZE A R £ #1 E 1
HFBFAEMIEH]), from 1 January 2017 to 31 December
2019, an entity with assessable income less than Renminbi
(“RMB”) 50,000 is liable to Enterprise Income Tax on such
income at 10%. The tax rate of the Group’s subsidiary in the
PRC is 10% for the current year.

11.

mAEMBRRME

For the year ended 31 March 2019
EHZE2019F3A3MH L F

BiE (&)

R2018F3A218 BBV A€ BB
2017 B B (B RT(E75) R ol E =
([BEx])  HABg| AMHKHIFNEFHE -
ZEZMN2018F3A2B BB E R A
EE O TRBHAZFRAT - BRI
MBHFERE  GEREEETRS
2EERB TTHAISHIE X A8.25%
B2E BT 8 m ) A1 16.5% B AR o
TRHEMRHFEHEERNEERE
BE A 35 Al 4 4B 1216.5% 1) &) — B R
i o

ARREERR MAHNERXE
BERIRN B GEAVBERRME
Y FAEKN - MEFENFTRMNEHTS
hfh AT B RR B s A IR T R 16.6%1 & -

BAREBHEBRTREZ=2019F3A31
BIEFEEEARKEER  RITERS
BRE TR -

REBRHREARLMBE(HE]) M ZEFT
SRE B3RP EAREME 2
T8 B AE IS DI 51216 - 20174
1818 220194128318 » & & & K
ADLRARBES 000 ERERE
UL A BNI0% M B EFTEH - A&
ERTEOHBARNAFEERRS
10% °
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RAEMBBRRME

For the year ended 31 March 2019
EHZE2019F3A3BILFE

11. Taxation (continued)

11.

The tax (credit) charge for the year can be reconciled to the
(loss) profit before taxation per the consolidated statement
of profit or loss and other comprehensive income as follows:

#iE (&)

FANBREMER)XHATHAEARS
Ko E i 2 WA R AR BR 3 AT (&5 18)
A E R

2019 2018
20194 20184
HK$’000 HK$'000
FTET FAT
(Loss) profit before taxation B o A (&5 48 ) & 7 (6,883) 8,084
Tax (credit) charge at Hong Kong BREBNEHHE16.5%
Profits Tax rate of 16.5% AEHHIE(ER) X H (1,136) 1,334
Tax effect of expenses not deductible 7~ 8] F1 %% B 3% H9 4 75 52 &
for tax purpose 471 2,644
Tax effect of income not taxable for tax 78 2 5 W A 89 %4 1% 57 &
purpose (325) =
Tax effect of tax loss not recognised RERMBBIENT 2 646 =
Effect of different tax rate of a B fth B]0K HE [ & IE Y
subsidiary operating in other Bt BB A B & T R B R 1Y
jurisdiction o2 12 2
Tax reduction BB % - (30)
Others Hith 30 (35)
Tax (credit) charge for the year FRAREBEER) S H (302) 3,915

At 31 March 2019, the Group had unused tax losses of
HK$3,915,000 (2018: nil) available for offset against future
profits. No deferred tax asset has been recognised in

respect of these losses due to the unpredictability of future

profit streams. The tax losses will be carried forward

indefinitely.

12. Dividends

12.

No dividends were paid, declared or proposed by the
Company during the year ended 31 March 2019 nor since the

end of the reporting period (2018: nil).

Polyfair Holdings Limited ZE 3 R AR A A

MR2019F3A31H » AEE AR
58 FI K9 K B) A B 75 /85 48 /518,915,000
V& (20184F : &) o B &K HKm F 7
BEZEN RYERZEEBEEER
EREERBEE - MISEEBER
HY 4= 68 o

R E
HE2019F3831BILFESHBREH
KRR KRR EIR S « 5k =k ##
K fE {a] B B (20184 : &) o



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

mAEMBHRRHE

For the year ended 31 March 2019

13. (Loss) Earnings Per Share

The calculation of the basic (loss) earnings per share
attributable to owners of the Company is based on the

following data:

HZE2019F3A31HILFE

13. BR(EE)EF

ARBIFEBABEBRER(ER) A
MITIRBE AT BURFE

2019 2018
20194 20184
HK$’000 HK$'000
THERT FHET
(Loss) profit for the year attributable st EF R E AN (EE)
to owners of the Company for the BAMENARBREESA
purpose of basic (loss) earnings per FEAEEF A (E8) & A
share (6,581) 4,169
2019 2018
20195 20184
(note)
(Bt 33)
Number of shares % 1 28
Weighted average number of ordinary B EERE RN (EE)
shares for the purpose of basic (loss) AR E L BR
earnings per share IN#E S35 21 800,000,000 620,273,973

For the years ended 31 March 2019 and 31 March 2018, no
diluted (loss) earnings per share were presented as there
were no potential ordinary shares in issue.

Note: The weighted average number of ordinary shares for the
purpose of basic earnings per share for the year ended 31
March 2018 had been taken into account the shares issued
pursuant to the Reorganisation and the capitalisation issue
of ordinary shares as if they had been effective on 1 April
2017.

#H Z201943H318 &201843H31H
FtFE BN EETRBEDRITYT
B BT EZINEREE(SBE A
F o

MisE: # & E2018F3A31B L FEMNE
AR E AR BT M AL im0 FES
BEEZERBEARITRORER
EBITEBR  BUXEZTEDR
2017F4R1HE R ©
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14. Property, Plant and Equipment

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

RAEMBBRRME

For the year ended 31 March 2019
EHZE2019F3A3BILFE

14. Y% BMERRE

Furniture
Leasehold and office
improvements equipment Total
HE£E BARBLARE ot
HK$'000 HK$°000 HK$’000
FHT T FA T
COST DN
At 1 April 2017 R2017%F 4818 327 371 698
Exchange adjustment M 5,38 B - 14 14
Additions NE 501 612 1,113
At 31 March 2018 R 2018 3A31H 828 997 1,825
Exchange adjustment b 5, 38 & - (18) (18)
Additions = - 308 308
At 31 March 2019 R2019F3H31H 828 1,287 2,115
DEPRECIATION e
At 1 April 2017 R20177F 4818 16 33 49
Exchange adjustment b X, 38 & - 2 2
Provided for the year FEEE 73 132 205
At 31 March 2018 M2018F3A31H 89 167 256
Exchange adjustment M 5, 38 B - (3) ©)
Provided for the year FREEE 246 244 490
At 31 March 2019 R2019F3H31H 335 408 743
CARRYING VALUES BREE
At 31 March 2019 R2019F3HA31H 493 879 1,372
At 31 March 2018 MR 20183 A31H 739 830 1,569

The above items of property, plant and equipment are
depreciated over their estimated useful lives using the
straight-line method as follows:

Leasehold improvements

Furniture and office equipment

Over shorter of the

term of leases or
5 years
5 years

Polyfair Holdings Limited ZE 3 R AR A A

bt - BERREEBTIZENLT
HETAIE B A B RRFHRITE

S

=z

HE K

R

BRI B R ER

o B sk 54F
(AB G & A %)
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15.

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

Financial Assets at Fair Value Through Profit
or Loss/Payments for Life Insurance Policies

During the year ended 31 March 2018, Polyfair HK entered
into two life insurance policies (the “Policies”) for two
directors of the Company, namely Mr. Chow and Mr. Yu.

Under the Policies, the beneficiary and policy holder is
Polyfair HK and the total insured sum is US$1,000,000.
Polyfair HK paid an upfront payment of US$623,822
(equivalent to HK$4,881,000) and US$471,857 (equivalent
to HK$3,692,000). Polyfair HK can terminate the policies at
any time and receive cash back based on the net nominal
account value of the Policies at the date of withdrawal,
which is the gross premium paid, plus accumulated interest
income less any deductions and the applicable surrender
charges made in accordance with the Policies. Polyfair HK
receives an interest income at variable rates, at which the
insurer guaranteed a minimum interest rates of 3.90% per
annum for the 1st to the 5th policy year and 2.25% per
annum for the rest of the policy years. Surrender charge is
payable if the Policies are terminated by Polyfair HK between
the 1st and the 15th policy year in accordance with the
Policies. The management expected that the Policies will be
held upon the expected lives of the two directors insured for
a period of 20 years.

The effective interest rate of the payments is 3.90% per
annum for the year ended 31 March 2018, which were
determined on initial recognition by discounting the
estimated future cash receipt through the expected lives of
the Policies. The premium expenses and insurance charges
of the Policies are recognised in profit or loss over the
expected lives of the Policies and the payments for Policies
are measured at amortised cost using the effective interest
method. The carrying amount of payments placed for the
Policies as at 31 March 2018 represented the presented
value of the Policies. As at 31 March 2018, the expected
lives of the Policies are 20 years, which remained unchanged
from the initial recognition and the directors of the Company
considered that the financial impact of the option to
terminate was insignificant.

mAEMBRRME

For the year ended 31 March 2019
EHZE2019F3A3MH L F

1&§Q$Eﬁxﬁémﬁﬂ

E/AERBRESRK

REZ2018F3A3NBILFE  EEFH
BEARTMBESE (AALERFRE
EVFI LMD ASREBRE(RE]) -

BERE ZmARREFBARE
BHB - B1%R% A1,000,000E T °
EREBE I EMNRIF623,822% T
(18 14,881,000/ 7T) ) 471,857 7T
(18 & #23,692,000/% 7T) - BB & A
PERF AR IERE - WRBR BN IZIA
HMEEEREFERERS  BER
REBBEE MR EF B WA A @R N
BEBBEREIXMNNERARRFESR
MRS BEREBUAEHRE
BRERA RBRARERFIZEES
BAREFENREFFER300% - H
BRIREFER225% ° MRBEESFIE
FISREREFERNLKLE - AIRERE
BRNRRFEE -BTEEEFSER
MEZRESNEHSH20F HERF
BRE o

HE2018F3A3NHILEFE  FHRHE
BR A XK 5 & F3.90% © A YIIA E R
FHRRENTERERTIRE T RRKIER
W AMEBEE - BNERARREIIRN
RENBHEFRNBRAER - MR
B SR T BB BRI 2 OK b 8 K
KEF 2 o B2018F3A31H MR B 3K
WEREE T REMIRME - N20185F3A
38 - REMTEHFR RB205F - B
FTHERBENARERTE - AART]
EERA EEREREMEANY
BREEM -

Annual Report 2019 —ZE— N EF K

139




140
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RAEMBBRRME

For the year ended 31 March 2019
EHZE2019F3A3BILFE

15. Financial Assets at Fair Value Through Profit

or Loss/Payments for Life Insurance Policies
(continued)

At 1 April 2018, the payments for life insurance policies of
HK$8,613,000 was reclassified as financial assets at FVTPL
and the related fair value loss of HK$225,000 was adjusted
to retained profits at 1 April 2018 upon initial application
of HKFRS 9. Any subsequent changes in the fair value is
recognised through profit or loss.

As at 31 March 2019, the payments for Policies have been
pledged to secure bank loans of HK$84,761,000 (2018:
HK$101,354,000) and bank overdrafts of HK$7,835,000
(2018: HK$7,871,000) as disclosed in notes 25 and 29.

The fair value of the Company’s life insurance policies
at 31 March 2019 and 1 April 2018 have been arrived at
on the basis of a valuation carried out on those dates by
Valtech Valuation Advisory Limited, an independent firm of
professional valuer not related to the Group whose address
is Unit 1, 19/F, Remington Centre, 23 Hung To Road, Kwun
Tong, Kowloon, Hong Kong. Details of the valuation are set
out in note 33.

15. ZAFEMIARBEN SR
EE/ABRRRRHK
=}

RERERE BB ®REERNEISR
B - AR B4R B8 19 508,613,000/ 7T
ER2018F4ABEF DB AKEAF
Bt ABEmMemEE  MAEBAQT
B E518225,000% 7L B 70 2018F 4 A 1H
WRBEFPHAE - AFENEAE
BEBTIRNBEPER

20193 A31H  REMNHKEERER
84,761,000/ 7T (20184F : 101,354,000
7T) $R 17 & 7K 127,835,000 7T (20184F :
7,871,000/ 70 ) $R 178 X MO HE (R (R M &E
25K 20FT IR BE) ©

KRR ASRBRRER2019F3A31
HX2018F 48 1B A FE T ER A
HASENERENBE LEXMHEM
THRTGAERAR (Hibir 5EF B R
BE #R IE 05 B 38 235 A & F 1981 E)
RZEAHETHNHEERT (G55
1% B 7 BT 5E33 o

2019 2018
2019%F 20184
HK$°000 HK$°000
FERT FHET
Payments for life insurance policies, ASRBRENK -
at fair value /NS ] 10,023 -
Payments for life insurance policies, at AR IRE T
amortised cost 2B S BCR - 8,613
10,023 8,613
Current portion (note 20) 7t B B 5 (Bt 5320) - (234)
Non-current portion FE 2 # 10,023 8,379

Polyfair Holdings Limited ZE 3 R AR A A
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16. Amounts Receivable on Contract Work

17.

mAEMBHRRHE

For the year ended 31 March 2019
EHZE2019F3A3MH L F

6. ERNENIER

2018
20184
HK$'000
FHET

Contract costs incurred plus recognised EE LS QKA E 1R = A
profits less recognised losses WA ERER 540,929
Less: Progress billings 2 B (457,781)
83,148

Analysed for reporting purposes as: BREBRFTER DT

Amounts receivable on contract work FEWREHTITER 83,148

Upon application of HKFRS 15, the amounts receivable
on contract work of HK$83,148,000 were reclassified as
contract assets as disclosed in note 2.

BANHT GE2FTH R RIER & B B I
REERFEIGEE  BRAHITRER
83,148,000 B tEEF N AEGHNE
Eo

Contract Assets BHEE
31.3.2019 1.4.2018*
201943 H31H 20184 A1H*
HK$’000 HK$'000
FER FAT
Construction contracts BEASY 105,326 106,054
Less: Impairment allowance for ECL W EE{EEEENRE
B (762) (663)
104,564 105,391
* The amounts in this column are after the adjustments from * L1 £ 58 T B B & S B 75 R 5 £ Bl

the application of HKFRS 9 and HKFRS 15.

The contract assets relate to the Group’s right to
consideration for work completed and not billed because the
rights are conditioned on the Group’s future performance.
The contract assets are transferred to trade receivables
when the rights become unconditional other than passage
of time.

As at 31 March 2019, included in carrying amount of the
contract assets is HK$14,666,000 which has been pledged
to the banks to secure factoring loans of HK$14,666,000 out
of the total secured bank loans of HK$84,761,000 on a full
recourse basis as disclosed in note 29.

FIORRF BB R EERB165RIK
HERF

RHEERAKENRSTAM AL A
RENTRERKENENER
RZEENBURNA S B O KR KR
B o BN AEGE (RREREBRIN
B ANEEBBEEFIRKA -

R2019F3A31H - REXNEEMERR
EH14,666,000B8 THEHNEEEE
T % E 1T 184,761,000 7T
EEMFIRITE BT A14,666,000
BITREER(ZE2MEREE)RNIE
R (a0 B FE29FT 5 58) ©
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)

B AR M

For the year ended 31 March 2019

B E2019F3A3HILEFE
17. Contract Assets (continued) 17. BN EE(HE)
Included in carrying amount of contract assets is retention 20194 3H31H - BN EEMKRAEE
money receivables of HK$22,818,000 as at 31 March 2019. B 15 I R B £22,818,000/8 TT °
Retention money receivables are unsecured and interest- EREBeAEEMAR RS BREK
free and represented the monies withheld by customers of ABHNTIREFHMEZNNIE  HAR
contract works fully recoverable within 1 to 2 years from the BEBEESHMIIENGINEESRD
date of completion of construction contracts, in accordance STEA BB —EMFE N R EUE o
with the terms specified in the relevant contracts. Upon RERFZIHEE X T E MK
satisfactory completion of contract work as set out in the BEBEMNEEMSELERRLHE
contract, the architect for the building project will issue Eo—HBmE THEBRRIZEE -
a practical completion certificate. Generally, upon the HEEHNTITEN —FREBSHERT
issuance of the practical completion certificate, half of the AEE - MEH—FEGRBEREER
retention money of such contract work will be released to the BEFfEEMNRBRECEESENEES D
Group, while the remaining half will be released to the Group BERTAEE -
upon the issuance of the certificate that identified defects in
respect of the entire building project have been made good.
The retention money receivables would be settled, based P R & B R IR IR 18 1 B A 2 JE &
on the expiry of the defect liability period, at the end of the DHEWRE S KR AT RS :
reporting period as follows:
2019
20194
HK$’000
THET
Within one year —F KN 15,229
After one year —F1& 7,589
22,818
Details of impairment assessment for the year ended 31 BB E2019F3 318 IEFERET
March 2019 are set out in note 33. il B9 5 15 B M RE33 ©
18. Trade Receivables/Progress Payments 18. E 5B FIE U EE XK

Receivable

Trade receivables/progress payments receivable represent
the amounts receivable, after deduction of retention money,
for construction services which usually fall due within 14 to
30 days after the work is certified, except for several credit
worthy customers to whom an extended credit period would
be granted. Retention money is usually withheld from the
amounts receivable for work certified. 50% of the retention
money is normally due upon completion of construction
services and the remaining 50% portion is due upon
finalisation of construction accounts.

Polyfair Holdings Limited ZE 3 R AR A A

B 518 WA R NGE B SR E R R
BeRNEBERZERBKE BER
FRTREERERI4EI0ARNEE -
HETEERINEFERREREE
HIR - RESBEERERENT
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

Trade Receivables/Progress Payments
Receivable (continued)

As at 31 March 2019, the trade receivables of
HK$22,694,000 (2018: progress payments receivable of
HK$11,208,000) have been pledged to secure loans of
HK$84,761,000 (2018: HK$101,354,000) and bank overdrafts
of HK$7,835,000 (2018: HK$7,871,000) as disclosed in
notes 25 and 29. In addition, included in that amount
are trade receivables of HK$10,410,000 (2018: progress
payments receivable of HK$11,208,000) which are also
pledged to secure surety bonds of an aggregate balance of
HK$10,245,000 (2018: HK$8,160,000) as disclosed in note
34.

The aged analysis of trade receivables/progress payments
receivable based on invoice date is as follows:

18.

mAEMBRRME

For the year ended 31 March 2019
EHZE2019F3A3MH L F

B 5 MW IR R WOE B
(#4&)

20194 3A318 » 22,694,000/ TTHIE
5 FE U 7 78 (2018 4F : 11,208,0007% 7T HY
FEWEEZ)EER - 1£/584,761,000
7 71 (20184F : 101,354,000 1) B &
17,835,000/ 7T (20184 : 7,871,000
B IL) IR1THE X W E R (M0 9 5E 2580
20FTIREE) o AN ST AZ SRR H
10,410,000 7t & 5 FE Y 3k 1H (2018
4 111,208,000/ JT B FE Y #E FE 20) IR
EE M A B4 £210,245,0007 7T
(20184F : 8,160,000/ JT) Ay = M & R
B E R (AN KT 5ES4PTH 58) ©

EHEWHIETEREGEERBBEER
BEELORESTOT

2019 2018

20195 20184F

HK$’000 HK$’000

F#& T FE T

Within 30 days 30HA 19,578 9,884
31 to 90 days 31£90H 1,764 4,309
Over 90 days 90H A E 2,274 3,655
23,616 17,848

As at 31 March 2019, the carrying amount of trade receivables
from contracts with customers is HK$23,616,000, net of
impairment loss of HK$2,803,000.

As at 1 April 2018, the carrying amount of trade receivables
from contracts with customers is HK$16,738,000, net of
impairment loss of HK$1,110,000.

As at 31 March 2019, the management of the Group closely
monitors the credit quality of trade receivables. All of the
trade receivables, that is neither past due nor impaired, is
considered to be of good credit quality based on historical
repayment from the customers.

Before the application of HKFRS 9 on 1 April 2018, included
in the Group’s progress payments receivables balance are
debtors with an aggregate carrying amount of HK$2,561,000
which are past due at the end of the year for which the Group
has not recognised an allowance for doubtful debts because
there has not been a significant change in credit quality and
the amounts are still considered recoverable. The Group
does not hold any collateral over these balances.

As at 31 March 2019, included in the past due balance of
HK$2,274,000 has been past due 90 days or more and is not
considered as in default based on historical settlement pattern
for those debtors and continued business with the Group.

20196 3A31H ' REEHEFEW
FNIEHBREE &23,616,000/ T » B
2 F00 K Uk 18 &5 18 2,803,00078 T °

R2018F4H1B REAGHNEFHE R
B EEE{E 416,738,000/ T » B
2 0 K 3k (& #5481,110,00058 7T °

R2019F3A31H ' AEBERERY)
EREFIRNABENEEEZR - ER
EEFMBREERLDE  BRER I INE
BEMNEHEZIEVKEBREAEE
EERF -

R2018F 4 F1H FE F & 7 B 1% 3Rk &5 &
BISE QSR AT » A& B A9 B W 8 SR 45
B 45 BR T 48 18 /452,561,000 JT HY JE Uk
R ZERBERFREAE  MA
SEVERLERRERE  RAAB
EEEEEARABEERNEHRZENE
TWR ATRE - REBEW ERZSE
EHRFETMAERS o

MR2019F3A318 - ERNEBEEBEAD
BEEFEAREREBNTEEK
B8 1% - O % BA 45 622,274,000/ JT 8
HAQOH A EMFRIB AR BEEL °
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RAEMBBRRME

For the year ended 31 March 2019
EHZE2019F3A3BILFE

As at 31 March 2018, the Group’s retention money
receivables of HK$17,519,000 was not yet past due and the
remaining balance of HK$5,387,000 was past due, of which
HK$1,599,000 is past due for over one year. The Group did
not hold any collateral over these balances. Management
of the Group believed that no impairment allowance was
necessary as there had been no significant change in credit
quality of these customers and the balances are considered
fully recoverable.

Upon application of HKFRS 15, the retention money
receivables of HK$22,906,000 were reclassified to contract
assets as disclosed in note 2.

As at 31 March 2018, included in the carrying amount of
retention money receivables is HK$12,826,000 which have been
pledged to the banks to secure factoring loans of HK$12,826,000
out of the secured bank loans of HK$101,354,000 on a full
recourse basis as disclosed in note 29.

Polyfair Holdings Limited ZE 3 R AR A A

18. Trade Receivables/Progress Payments 18. ESEWNIE EWEERK
Receivable (continued) (#&)
Ageing of trade receivables/progress payments receivable EaHERRENES R KIE &
which are past due but not impaired: W s S SR BR R ¢
2019 2018
20194 20184F
HK$’000 HK$°000
FET FHET
Over 90 days 90H A E 2,274 2,561
Details of impairment assessment for the year ended 31 HZE2019F3A318 IEFE MR E T
March 2019 are set out in note 33. S 1B B A B FES3 ©
19. Retention Money Receivables 19. EWRE £
2018
20184
HK$'000
FHET
Amounts receivable within one year — F N JE W IR 7,295
Amounts receivable after one year —F & EWFRIE 15,611
22,906

R2018F3A31H » K & B /Y & IR
B8 917,519,000 JT &) A 8 23 - i &
N 45 25,387,000/ L RIE # - H R
1,599,000 s E B Al —F A | - A&
BYEgzEEnEatmEdm -
AEEEEEREGE BRZEREEN
EEEEUVESEREHERBEHRA
THWE - AnEFRTRAERE -

BN E2FT IR E REABR B Y
R EERBISHRE BREZE S
22,906,000 TEEH D B EENE
Eo

2018438310 » REWRE LN R
H{EH 12,826,000 THERKRESE
BT ZHEIRIT - YE&101,354,0007%8
LA EIRRITE KA F 912,826,000
BTREER(Z2EEREE)NIE
R (A0 FE29FF R BR ) ©
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mAEMBRRME

For the year ended 31 March 2019
EHZE2019F3A3MH L F

20. Prepayments, Deposits and Other Receivables 20. YR E - H# & R HibE X
FIE

2019 1.4.2018*

20194 2018 418~
HK$’000 HK$’000
THERT FHET
Prepayments T8 k1B 2,331 4,262

Payments for life insurance ASRBREN K-
policies — current portion (note 15) B ER &8 5> (Bff 5£15) - 234
Deposits Z& 102 518
Other receivables H i & U RIR 207 151
Current portion BN HA =6 5 2,640 5,165
Deposits g 472 413
Non-current portion 3£ B B & 472 413
3,112 5,578
* Details of impairment assessment for the year ended 31 * BEEE2019F3A31A L FERE
March 2019 are disclosed in note 33. 2T B9 5 1B A BT SE 33 B o

Pledged Bank Deposits/Bank Balances and 21. EE# B TER BITE %

21.

Cash

Pledged bank deposits of HK$32,141,000 (2018:
HK$7,001,000) carry interests which range from 0.05% to
1.3% (2018: 0.001% to 1.1%) per annum as at 31 March 2019.
As at 31 March 2018, an amount of HK$25,000,000 was
pledged for a bank borrowing with scheduled last repayment
date after one year from the end of the reporting period and
therefore classified as a non-current asset. The remaining
amounts are classified as current assets.

As at 31 March 2019, the pledged bank deposits of
HK$32,141,000 (2018: HK$32,001,000) have been pledged to
secure bank loans of HK$84,761,000 (2018: HK$101,354,000)
and bank overdrafts of HK$7,835,000 (2018: HK$7,871,000)
as disclosed in notes 25 and 29. In addition, included in
the carrying amount as at 31 March 2019 is HK$25,108,000
(2018: HK$25,000,000) which is also pledged to secure
surety bonds of an aggregate balance of HK$10,245,000
(2018: HK$8,160,000) given by a bank as disclosed in notes
29 and 34.

Bank balances carry interest at prevailing market rate of
0.01% (2018: 0.01%) per annum as at 31 March 2019.

kEE

R2019F3A31H ' EE MR 1T1F X
32,141,000/ 7t (20184F : 7,001,000/
TC) ¥ F F| 2 0.05% £1.3% (20184 :
0.001% £1.1%) &5 B ° 7R 201843 H31
B - 25,000,000 JT B {E R 17 & X &Y
B EHSRRERBHAERES
ERE—F AUBESEAEIETREE
E-BRTRBEESEARDEE °

MR201943 H31H » 32,141,000/ 7t (2018
£ : 32,001,000/ ) M E. B IR 1717 3K
2E - {EA84,761,0005% JT (20184F :
101,354,000 7T) 88 17 B 7 7,835,000
7 7T (20184F : 7,871,000/ JT) R 1T &
> H) ¥E R0 B 5E25K%29F R FE) ©
It o - PA20194-3 8318 19 BR E & = #Y
25,108,0005 7T (20184F : 25,000,0005% JT,)
MEER  (EAm—MRTIREAES
10,245,0007 7T (20184F : 8,160,000/ 7T)
B 2= R AR R (0P 5229 K 34 AT

%) -

MR2019%3A31H @ RITHEBRIRIBITTH
5 | 2R0.01% (20184 : 0.01%) 51 2 ©
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RAEMBBRRME

For the year ended 31 March 2019
EHZE2019F3A3BILFE

Polyfair Holdings Limited ZE 3 R AR A A

22. Transfer of Financial Assets 22. BREREE
The followings were the Group’s financial assets as at 31 AT & 7N & B 7201943 A31H & i@
March 2019 that were transferred to banks by factoring RFEHEREAERENEBEEFER
relevant trade receivables of HK$22,694,000 (2018: progress X IH22,694,000/%8 JT (20184 : FE W
payments receivable of HK$11,208,000 and retention money #E JE 511,208,000 7T & & IR B &
receivables of HK$12,826,000) on full recourse basis. As the 12,826,000 7T ) M 84 :& TIRTH & &
Group has not transferred the significant risks and rewards BE BRASBEYEBZEERR
relating to these receivables, it continues to recognise full TEH BRI E KRR e O ek - HE
carrying amount of the financial assets and has recognised BERATHNEENDIEREE Y
the cash received on the transfer and included as secured HEEEMEINESBERLBER
bank loans as set out in note 25. These financial assets BHEBBITERA (AOKT FE25FTH) o
are carried at amortised cost in the Group’s consolidated ZECMEECASENLERS AR
statement of financial position. IR A R 8 R AN B BR o
Customers’ invoices
transferred to banks with
full recourse
BEZRTHNEFRE
(HEZERRE)
2019 2018
20195 20184
HK$’000 HK$°000
TERT FHET
Carrying amount of transferred assets E #:&& E M RE A 22,694 24,034
Carrying amount of associated ABAEEN
liabilities FRmEE (22,694) (24,034)
Net position F AR - -




Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

mAEMBHRRHE

For the year ended 31 March 2019

B Z2019F3A31BILFE
23. Contract Liabilities 23. AR
31.3.2019 1.4.2018*
20194 3H31H 2018%F 4 H18*
HK$’000 HK$°000
THERT FHET
Receipts in advance from a customer AWK —Z R FE KB - 627
* The amount in this column is after the adjustments from the 2 R EeREIDERE BV ®EEL
application of HKFRS 15. FISHMBHER/L -
The amounts represented receipts in advance from a ZESRIEL—FERREREERE
customer from prior year in relation to the construction Bl —BEP A FHIE - R2018F 471
service rendered. The amount of receipts in advance from a H  EREENBERESERFEIG;RE
customer as at 1 April 2018 after the adjustments from the FARGHBEWR —BES A RIER W T
application of HKFRS 15 as disclosed in notes 2.1 and 24. 21N 2L F o
The following table shows how much of the revenue TREREDCAESHNABEEBANAR
recognised in the current year relates to carried forward FEEHAKRTHE -

contract liabilities.

Provision of
construction

services
RHEBZERK
HK$°000
FHET
Revenue recognised that was included AAFVERNBEERTN
in the contract liabilities balance at the B R U =
beginning of the year 627
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FE B |RME
For the year ended 31 March 2019
EHZE2019F3A3BILFE

24. Trade and Other Payables

24, EZ R HMEEMNKIER

2019 2018

20194 20184

HK$’000 HK$'000

THERT FHET

Trade payables B SN IR 21,576 34,947
Retention payables — amount payable ERREE-ER—FNA

within one year X T H & 5 4,537 3,600
Retention payables — amount payable B {REBE—ER —F1%

after one year TR 5 1,127 2,740

Accrued charges FEEt & F 5,149 5,684

Other payable H b fE 1 5K I8 36 327

Receipts in advance from a customer B — R FF A
(note) (Kt E) - 627
32,425 47,925

Note: Receipts in advance from a customer of HK$627,000 at 31

March 2018 was reclassified as contract liabilities upon
initial application of HKFRS 15 on 1 April 2018 as disclosed

in notes 2.1 and 23.

The credit period of trade payables is 30 to 60 days.

The following is an aged analysis of trade payables based on

B aE - AN HT RE 2.1 R 23FTHH & - 120184
3ASMAM AN —& % KIE627,000
BILR2018F 41 BERERE S
B ISR LR FISHBEEFTHEA
EHAaE-

B S5 REMNKRENEEHRI0E6C0H °

UTRRBREHRR  BEHENRAE
REZBHM KRR D

the invoice date at the end of the reporting period:

2019 2018

20194 20184

HK$’000 HK$'000

THET FAT

Within 30 days 30BN 16,341 27,592
31 to 60 days 31260H 4,695 7,031
61 to 90 days 61£90H 60 240
Over 90 days Q0B M E 480 84
21,576 34,947
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mEMBERERHE
For the year ended 31 March 2019
HZE2019F3ANBILFE
25. Bank Borrowings 25. RITERK
2019 2018
20195 20184
HK$’000 HK$'000
TET FAET
Bank loans RITER 89,528 109,321
Bank overdrafts RITEX 7,835 7,871
97,363 117,192
The carrying amounts of the above LA EEREREEZARUAT
borrowings are repayable*: B E B
— On demand or within one year - HEXRFK—FN 94,463 110,203
- Within a period of more than one -—FNUNEFEMEA
year but not exceeding two years 1,200 4,089
- Within a period of more than two -WMENLNEERERA
years but not exceeding five years 1,700 2,900
97,363 117,192
* The amounts due are based on scheduled repayment dates B H & 58 T0 AR 15 B IR 15w BT Sk A0 R
set out in the loan agreements. EIERBEHAE -
2019 2018
20194 20184
HK$’000 HK$°000
FTET FAT
Comprising: BE
Amount due within one year shown —E N E B 5 A
under current liabilities ik R=RE L0/ O] 94,463 110,203
Amount that are not repayable within BN B R EHRER
one year from the end of the —FAEEEES
reporting period but containing a REREERBERD
repayment on demand clause KIE 2,900 6,989
97,363 117,192
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FE B |RME
For the year ended 31 March 2019
EHZE2019F3A3BILFE

25. Bank Borrowings (continued)

Variable-rate bank loans comprises:

25. SRATE (&)

FEERRTERBRRE:

2019 2018
2019 20184
HK$’000 HK$'000
TET FAT
Secured bank loans (note (a)) BEEBRTER (M E@)
HK$ bank loans at bank’s lending prime BROTZRBEESRHE
rate (“Prime Rate”) less 2.00% to 2.75% ([ZBEFME])FK2.00%E
(2018: Prime Rate less 2.00% to 2.50%) 2.75% (20184 : B EFI R
per annum 2.00% & 2.50%) H F F R
STEMBLRITES 20,962 21,322
HK$ bank loans at Hong Kong Interbank BRAEBBRITREFEM2.50%%E
Offered Rate (“HIBOR”) plus 2.50% 3.25% (201845 : BB IR1TH
t0 3.25% (2018: HIBOR plus 2.00% to 23 8 112.00% £3.25%) B
3.25%) per annum FREFENBTRITERN 63,799 80,032
84,761 101,354
Unsecured bank loan (note (b)) 4 345 98 17 5 (P 7E (b))
HK$ bank loan at HIBOR plus 3.25% BEBRITRFEREIN3.25%
(2018: HIBOR plus 3.00%) per annum (20184 : BB BITREIRFE
IN3.00%) K F ) K5+ B8 &
TRITEH 4,767 7,967
89,528 109,321
Secured bank overdrafts (note (a)) BEHEBRTE S (K@)
HK$ bank overdrafts at Prime Rate less R BEANER115%E1.80%
1.15% to 1.80% (2018: Prime Rate less (20184 : REBHMZEH
1.15% to 1.80%) per annum 1.15%%1.80%) M EF| K& E
MABTRITEX 7,835 7,871
97,363 117,192

As at 31 March 2019 and 31 March 2018, the HIBOR and
Prime Rate are quoted by the lending banks.

Polyfair Holdings Limited ZE 3 R AR A A
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

25. Bank Borrowings (continued)

Notes:

(a)

As at 31 March 2019, the secured bank loans and bank
overdrafts are secured by the pledged bank deposits of
HK$32,141,000, trade receivables of HK$22,694,000, contract
assets of HK$14,666,000 and financial assets at FVTPL of
HK$10,023,000 as disclosed in note 29, properties held by
a director of the Company and companies controlled by a
director of the Company or his close family, and corporate
guarantees of the Company.

As at 31 March 2018, the secured bank loans and bank
overdrafts are secured by the pledged bank deposits
of HK$32,001,000, progress payments receivable
of HK$11,208,000, retention money receivables of
HK$12,826,000 and payments for the life insurance policies
of HK$8,613,000 as disclosed in note 29, and corporate
guarantees of the Company.

The secured bank loans carry effective interest rates ranging
from 3.38% to 4.78% (2018: 2.25% to 4.04%) per annum.

The bank overdrafts carry effective interest rate ranging from
3.58% to 4.23% (2018: 3.45% to 4.10%) per annum.

The unsecured bank loan is guaranteed by the Government
of The Hong Kong Special Administrative Region under Small
and Medium Enterprises (“SME”) Loan Guarantee Scheme
or/and The Hong Kong Mortgage Corporation Limited under
SME Financing Guarantee Scheme. The unsecured bank loan
carries effective interest rate at 4.78% (2018: 3.79%) per

annum.

mAEMBRRME

For the year ended 31 March 2019
EHZE2019F3A3MH L F

25. $RITE (&)

B

(a)

R2019F3A31H B HE T E
REBTEIUNAEEHNE L F
8 17 17 332,141,000/ 7T - & 5 &
I X 18§22,694,0008 T - A EE
14,666,000 70 &2 A FEA B
/) & @ & 10,023,000 st (40 fff 7
29FT I FE) wARR —BEENRA
AAF—ZEZHHEHBBEHOHA
AT E M E A R AR AM A RER
EH R o

MW2018F3A31H B EHAEL T E
REBTEIUAESEHNEE R
$8 17 17 732,001,000 T * fE UK #
€ 511,208,000/ 7t ~ EWIR B &
12,826,000/ 7T & A SRR IR BT
8,613,000 7T (70 T X 2977 # B2) LA
RARFH QR EFIER -

EERMETERNEBRERNEN T
3.38% F4.78% (20184F : 2.25% =
4.04%) °

WITEINEREFENF3.58% %
4.23% (20184 : 3.45% £ 4.10%) °

KT RTERBBEBHENTHRE
BB ERNEETRNREDE
ERFENK REBREBESE
BRARBEF/NEERERRTE
BR SEXHRTERNERFER
R B4.78% (20184 : 3.79%) °
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RAEMBBRRME

For the year ended 31 March 2019
EHZE2019F3A3BILFE

26. Deferred Tax Assets 26. EXEBIEEE
The followings are the major deferred tax assets recognised AEERBAEFECHANETERT
and movements thereon during the current and prior years: HEEEREZHNT
Impairment
allowance Accelerated tax
for ECL depreciation Total
EHEE
EENRERE MEEB B E st
HK$°000 HK$'000 HK$°000
T THT FAT
At 1 April 2017 and 31 MR2017F 4818 &
March 2018 201843 A31H - = -
Effect upon application of [ERE B RS
HKFRS 9 (note 2) R R E
(Hft 3£ 2) 293 - 293
At 1 April 2018 R2018F 4H1H 293 - 293
Credit in profit or loss FTAE &
(note 11) (B 5E11) 296 20 316
At 31 March 2019 7201943 A318 589 20 609

Polyfair Holdings Limited ZE 3 R AR A A




27. Share Capital

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

27.

Details of the changes in the Company’s share capital during
the period from 25 May 2017 (date of incorporation) to 31

March 2019 are as follows:

mAEMBRRME

For the year ended 31 March 2019
EHZE2019F3A3MH L F

IR 2

KA T IR 72201745 8258 (G M B
7 BH) 220193 A318 5 M & & &
RN

Amount
k]
Number of shares HK$’000
il 4=| FET
Authorised: AR
At 25 May 2017 M201755H 258 (GE it
(date of incorporation) B S B HR) (& B E (A&
(HK$0.01 each) (note a) 0.017& 7T) (Fff &t a) 38,000,000 380
Increase in authorised share A TE IR AS 35 00
capital (note e) (Kt 5Ee) 4,962,000,000 49,620
At 31 March 2018 and R2018F3A31H &
31 March 2019 201943 HA31H
(HK$0.01 each) (8RR MEE0.01% TT) 5,000,000,000 50,000
Issued and fully paid: BEETREE:
At 25 May 2017 M201745A 258 (FE Mt
(date of incorporation) B3z B HY) (5 iR E (&
(HK$0.01 each) (note a) 0.017% 7T ) (Fff 5t a) 100 -
Issue of shares pursuant to the RIFEHAMEITRMD
Reorganisation (note a) (P 5 a) 100 =
Issue of shares pursuant to the RIEEARNEEITH
capitalisation issue (note b) TR 0 (Bt 7% b) 599,999,800 6,000
Issue of shares pursuant to RIS i BTG5
the placing (note c) (Bff 5% c) 140,000,000 1,400
Issue of shares pursuant to BRIBEARZEEMEITRAG
the public offer (note d) (P &£ d) 60,000,000 600
At 31 March 2018 and 31 March 720184 3H31H &
2019 (HK$0.01 each) 2019 3A31H
(BREE0.01% L) 800,000,000 8,000
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RAEMBBRRME

For the year ended 31 March 2019
EHZE2019F3A3BILFE

27. Share Capital (continued)

Notes:

(a) On 25 May 2017, the Company was incorporated in the
Cayman Islands under the Companies Law as an exempted
company with limited liability with an authorised share
capital of HK$380,000 divided into 38,000,000 shares of
HK$0.01 each. On the same date, one nil-paid share in the
Company was issued to the initial subscriber, which was
transferred to CNY, and an additional 99 nil-paid shares were
allotted and issued to CNY on the same date.

On 19 January 2018, Mr. Chow and Mr. Yu transferred the
entire issued share capital of Polyfair HK to Polyfair BVI
(as the nominee of the Company). The consideration was
satisfied by the Company allotting and issuing 100 new
shares to Mr. Chow and Mr. Yu (or their respective nominee)
credited as fully paid and crediting as fully paid at par the
100 nil paid shares in issue. The Company had nominated
its direct wholly-owned subsidiary, Polyfair BVI, to hold the
entire issued share capital of Polyfair HK. Mr. Chow and Mr.
Yu had nominated CNY to hold the 100 new shares.

(b) On 25 January 2018, the Company approved the issuance
of 599,999,800 shares standing to the credit of the share
premium of the Company conditional upon the share
premium account of the Company being credited as a result
of the allotment and issue of the offering shares of the
Company under the capitalisation issue on or around the
listing date on 23 February 2018.

(c) On 28 February 2018, the Company allotted and issued
140,000,000 new shares of par value of HK$0.01 each at offer
price of HK$0.28 each, credited as fully paid, pursuant to the
placing of its shares.

(d) On 23 February 2018, the Company allotted and issued
60,000,000 new shares of par value of HK$0.01 each at offer
price of HK$0.28 each, credited as fully paid, pursuant to the
public offer of its shares.

(e) The authorised share capital of the Company was increased
from HK$380,000 divided into 38,000,000 shares to
HK$50,000,000 divided into 5,000,000,000 shares by the
creation of an additional 4,962,000,000 shares to rank pari
passu with the existing shares in all respects.

All ordinary shares of the Company issued during that period
rank pari passu in all respects.

154 Polyfair Holdings Limited B 2 % B 5 IR A &

27. BRA(4E)

B

(a)

M2017465A258 "R FIRIE QA
ERRERESEMRIRERLE
BRAE 0K TE B 5380,000# 7T
53 /338,000,000 i% & IR EE0.018 7T
BV o RIB » AAR ML R EA
BT —RARBRRE D - B91R R
BACKEEZETKE MARH
E R R B[Rk B Ad 3% fe 3 1T B M99
PR AR B R B A

MR2018F1H198 » B A RFREE
BERBENEHEBITRAEET
E#BVI(EARRRIRBA) - B
RABUAARR G A E L4 KR LA (K
FESAMR B A)ERERETI00
BT RE 5 (A BR %I A #- & i#51008%
BT RAKRKBMDIZEEA RS
BER)EN - ARFRBERBEEE
MEBARBEBVIZFEBEEEENE
HEBRTRAN - AEERKRTEE
REKBHEBI00 TN -

R2018F1H258 « AN A A #f & U
AR AR D % B AR A #E AR 58 1T
599,999,800f% i& 17 * MEMRH R AR
AR EERMERFREN ETE
1201842 A23A sk AT & 1R I8 & A1k
BITREERETRAAREERND -

R2018F2 A23H  ANA AR IF A% (7
RRERBEEEER0.28BTEHEER
%% 17140,000,0000% & I ™ {E0.0178
TTHEFRG AR ABHE -

201842 A238 - AR AR 1 L 17
APHBEEREEESR28E LA
2% % %%£1760,000,000 % &A% FI{E0.01
BILHF RGN AR BHRE -

3% 18 8 7114,962,000,000/% £ & 75 £
BEROCZERZEANAORG @ A
A &) 7k FE B 7K F1380,0007 (5 A&
38,000,000% A& 17) #& hn 50,000,000
7 7T (9 £5,000,000,0008% A% 15) °

ARRANZBAEAEITHRA EBK
EETEBZEAEREER -



28.

29.

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

Operating Lease Commitments 28.

At the end of the reporting period, the Group had
commitments for future minimum lease payments under
non-cancellable operating leases which fall due as follows:

RE | R M

For the year ended 31 March 2019

HZE2019F3ANBILFE
REHEAE

RBERR  AEBEERATFEY
BRI HHE S HE TR THIR K
KA & AR AL

The Group as lessee: AEBERABEA:
2019 2018
20194 20184
HK$°000 HK$000
F#& T F& T
Within one year —F A 2,455 2,067
In the second to third year inclusive WMEZF (BIEEEMF) 1,565 1,895
4,020 3,962

Operating lease payments represent rentals payable by the
Group for its office premises. Leases are negotiated for
terms ranging from one to two years (2018: one to three
years) and the rentals are pre-determined and fixed.

Pledge Of Assets 29.

As at 31 March 2019, certain assets of the Group were
pledged to secure the bank loans of HK$84,761,000 (2018:
HK$101,354,000) and bank overdrafts of HK$7,835,000
(2018: HK$7,871,000) as disclosed in note 25. The carrying
values of these assets at the end of the reporting period are
as follows:

REMEFEEASERENRIYE
FENNEE KRR HERH—
EMF(2018F : —E=F)BHEHF

EEEH

MR2019F3A3MH - A&EBE T EE
2 & # - {E 584,761,000/ Jt (2018
% :101,354,000%8 L) R 17T B 7 K&
7,835,000/ T (20184F : 7,871,000/
7T) #R 17 B X 8 ¥ AR (40 BT 52 25FT #
B) 2EEERNBERRNERALDN
T

2019 2018

20195 20184

HK$’000 HK$°000

FTHT FHET

Pledged bank deposits (note (a)) BE R 1717 3 (M 5 (a) 32,141 32,001

Trade receivables (note (a)) B 5 MW E (M 5E () 22,694 =

Progress payments receivable (note (a)) & W & E 2 (M 3£ (a) - 11,208

Contract assets (note (b)) & #) & & (M 7E (b)) 14,666 -

Retention money receivables (note (b)) & UIREE & (K 7 (b)) - 12,826

Financial assets at BEATEGFAERD

FVTPL (note 15) o R & & (Mt 5215) 10,023 =
Payments for life insurance policies AR B AR B A R (BfY 52 15)

(note 15) - 8,613

79,524 064,648
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AR

U %5 2k Y &

For the year ended 31 March 2019
EHZE2019F3A3BILFE

29. Pledge Of Assets (continued)

Notes:

(a) As at 31 March 2019, the pledged bank deposits of
HK$32,141,000 (2018: HK$32,001,000) (note 21) and trade
receivables of HK$22,694,000 (2018: progress payments
receivable of HK$11,208,000) (note 18) pledged to secure
the bank loans and bank overdrafts of HK$84,761,000 (2018:
HK$101,354,000) and HK$7,835,000 (2018: HK$7,871,000)
respectively. In addition, included in the carrying amount of
pledged bank deposits as at 31 March 2019 is HK$25,108,000
(HK$25,000,000) and in the carrying amount of trade
receivables as at 31 March 2019 is HK$10,400,000 (2018:
progress payments receivable of HK$11,208,000) which were
also pledged to secure surety bonds of an aggregate balance
of HK$10,245,000 (2018: HK$8,160,000) as disclosed in note
34.

(b) As at 31 March 2019, included in the contract assets of
HK$14,666,000 (note 17) (2018: retention money receivables
of HK$12,826,000 (note 19)) pledged to the banks to secure
factoring loans of HK$14,666,000 (2018: HK$12,826,000)
out of total secured bank loans of HK$84,761,000 (2018:
HK$101,354,000) on a full recourse basis as disclosed
in note 17 are HK$3,951,000 (2018: HK$12,826,000) also
pledged to secure surety bonds of an aggregate balance of
HK$10,245,000 (2018: HK$8,160,000) as disclosed in note 34.

30. Retirement Benefits Schemes

The Group participates in the MPF Scheme for all qualifying
employees in Hong Kong. The assets of the MPF Scheme
are held separately from those of the Group, in funds under
the control of independent trustees. The Group contributes
5% of relevant payroll costs to the MPF Scheme, which
contribution is matched by employees but subject to a
maximum amount of HK$1,500 per month for each employee
to the MPF Scheme.

The employees employed by the PRC subsidiary are
members of the state-managed retirement benefits scheme
operated by the PRC government. The PRC subsidiary is
required to contribute a certain percentage of their payroll
to the retirement benefits scheme to fund the benefits.
The only obligations of the PRC subsidiary with respect to
the retirement benefits scheme is to make the required
contributions under the scheme.

The total cost charged to profit or loss of HK$2,268,000
(2018: HK$1,822,000) represents contributions paid or
payable to the above schemes by the Group for the year
ended 31 March 2019.

Polyfair Holdings Limited ZE 3 R AR A A

29.

30.

EEEH(H)
B 2 -

(@) M201943H31H ' 32,141,000 T
(20184F : 32,001,000 7T) BV E & 18
R1717 3% (MY 7E21) % 22,694,000/ 7T

#)'Z 5 Ue 708 (20184F : 11,208,000
BT K FE W EE O 318) B
E . {E 584,761,000/ 7T (2018
4 : 101,354,000 L)W 1T E R &
7,835,0007 7T (20184F : 7,871,000,%
JO)IRITBEZHPER o - K2019
F3A318  REEHRITERME
E 18 #25,108,000;% 7T (25,000,000
BIL)NEEFBRTERAERNRNESE
H&%ﬂlﬁia@E%@fﬁ%o,mo,oooi%ﬁﬁ’a
B 5 e U 3 18 (20184 : 11,208,000
/%TEEWE%UEF K)INE E# 0 {E
7 48 £ $210,245,00078 7T (20184 :
8,160,000 Jr) ) & M #& R A & R
(an Bt sE34FT IR FE) o

(b) H2019%3A31H  REREZHEER
HE AL T % MR 1T 1E 584,761,000
7 7£(20184F : 101,354,000 7T) B
AR SR 1T B R A5 (W M 7 AT
) & 814,666,000/ 7T (20184 :
12,826,000% ) R B B % W & (R
#914,666,0007% T & 48 & (M 5£17)
(20184F : 12,826,0007% JT & (R &
(Kt £19)) & #93,951,0007%8 fc(zom
£ : 12,826,000 L) I E E W IE A
4 %% #210,245,000% JT(20184F :
8,160,000/ JT) Ay = M & R M & R
(LN Bt sE34FT IR FR)

iR K12 A 5t &

AEBAMBAERNEEREES R
%$iﬁﬂoﬁ$iﬁﬂM§Fﬁm
EEMNEESHIFE UTARBIXT
ANESREE - A5EEEESESH
LI TE K AMS%AETE T2
B EBAnEREERNRES
ETEER M &S 3K 51,5008 7T ©

\

E

MEBARMEGENEE RTEK
TRE MBI RE B RKE NGB 8K
o BB AR ARETEMNR —
ﬁtﬁﬁ%mﬂﬁﬂ¢ﬁtﬁ V!
BABENES HEMBRAREHR
Wmﬂﬁ%mm—fﬁﬁﬁﬁﬁ%ﬁ
S ERARERHK -

mmmj%

B 18 25 1 B B 48 BK 22,268,000/ JT
(20184 : 1,822 000;%7%)7%$%l%z
E2019F3A3HIEFE A LA EIE
5 sk B A B9 R 5K o



31.

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

Share Option Scheme

In order to provide incentives or rewards to participants
of the share option scheme including the directors of
the Company and eligible employees of the Group, the
shareholders of the Company passed an ordinary resolution
at the annual general meeting of the Company held on 25
January 2018 to approve the adoption of a share option
scheme (the “Share Option Scheme”). No share options were
granted under the Share Option Scheme since its adoption
on 25 January 2018.

The major terms of the Share Option Scheme are
summarised as follows:

(a) Purpose of the Share Option Scheme

The purpose of the Share Option Scheme is to provide
an incentive or a reward to participants for their
contribution to the Group.

(b) Eligibility

Eligible participants include employees (whether full
time or part time employees, including non-executive
directors) and such other eligible participants.

(¢) Maximum number of shares

(i) Maximum number of shares must not, in
aggregate, exceed 30% of the total number of
shares in issue from time to time.

(i) Total number of shares in respect of which
options may be granted under the Share Option
Scheme and any other share option schemes of
the Group shall not exceed 80,000,000 shares,
being 10% of the total number of shares in
issue as at the listing date, 23 February 2018,
unless the Group obtains the approval of the
shareholders of the Company in general meeting
for renewing the scheme mandate limit under the
Share Option Scheme.

(d) Period of the Share Option Scheme

Subject to any prior termination by the Company in a
general meeting or by the board of directors, the Share
Option Scheme shall be valid and effective for a period
of 10 years commencing on the date of adoption of the
Share Option Scheme.
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31.

Share Option Scheme (continued)

() Maximum entitlement of each participant

(f)

No share option shall be granted to any participant if
any further grant of options would result in the shares
issued and to be issued upon exercise of the share
options granted and to be granted to such person
(including both exercised and outstanding options) in
any 12-month period up to and including such further
grant exceeding 1% of the total number of shares in
issue, unless:

(1) such further grant has been duly approved, in the
manner prescribed by the relevant provisions of
Chapter 23 of the Listing Rules, by resolution of
the shareholders in general meeting at which the
participant and his associates shall abstain from
voting;

(2) a circular regarding the further grant has been
despatched to the shareholders in a manner
complying with, and containing the information
specified in, the relevant provisions of Chapter
23 of the Listing Rules (including the identity
of the participant, the number and terms of
the share options to be granted and options
previously granted to such participant); and

(8)  the number and terms (including the subscription
price) of such share option are fixed before the
general meeting of the Company at which the
same are approved.

Payment on acceptance of the share
option

HK$1 is payable by the grantee to the Company on
acceptance of the share option offer. The share option
offer will be offered for acceptance for a period of 21
days from the date on which the offer is granted.
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31.

32.

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

Share Option Scheme (continued)
(g) Subscription price for shares

The subscription price of a share in respect of any
particular option granted under the Share Option
Scheme shall be a price determined by the board of
directors at least the higher of:

(i)  the closing price of the shares;

(i)  the average closing price of the shares for the
five consecutive business days immediately
preceding the offer date; and

(i) the nominal value of a share on the offer date.

(h) The remaining life of the share option

9 years and 10 months (expiring on 24 January 2028).

Capital Risk Management

The Group manages its capital to ensure that the group
entities will be able to continue as a going concern
while maximising the return to shareholders through the
optimisation of the debt and equity balance. The Group’s
overall strategy remains unchanged from prior year.

The capital structure of the Group consists of net debt,
which includes the bank borrowings disclosed in respective
notes, net of cash and cash equivalents and equity
attributable to owners of the Company, comprising issued
share capital and reserves.

The management of the Group reviews the capital structure
regularly. As part of this review, the management considers
the cost of capital and the risks associated with each class
of capital, and will balance its overall capital structure
through new share issues as well as the issue of new debts
or the redemption of existing debts.

31.

32.
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For the year ended 31 March 2019
EHZE2019F3A3BILFE

33. Financial Instruments 33. @@ T A
Categories of financial instruments SR T AENEH
2019 2018
20195 20184
HK$’000 HK$'000
FTHE T FB T
Financial assets EHMEE
Financial assets at FVTPL BAFEFAERN
TREE 10,023 =
Financial assets at amortised cost Tﬁﬁﬁ%}ﬂ?$§+%fﬂﬁfﬁﬁﬂﬁé 71,329 N/A 7 i F
Loans and receivables (including cash & 7k & & U 3%
and cash equivalents) =) Eﬁi&ﬁﬁ%{%%) N/A T3 A 146,629
81,352 146,629
Financial liabilities ERasE
Amortised cost B 8 AR AR 124,639 158,806

Details of the significant accounting policies and methods
adopted, including the criteria for recognition, the basis of
measurement and the basis on which income and expenses
are recognised, in respect of each class of financial assets
and financial liabilities are disclosed in note 3.

Financial risk management objectives and
policies

The Group’s major financial instruments include financial
assets at FVTPL, trade receivables, deposits,
receivables, pledged bank deposits, bank balances and
cash, trade and other payables and bank borrowings (2018:
payments for life insurance policies, progress payments
receivable, retention money receivables, deposits, other
receivables, pledged bank deposits, bank balances and
cash, trade and other payables and bank borrowings).
Details of these financial instruments are disclosed in
respective notes. The risks associated with these financial

other

instruments include market risks (foreign currency risk and
interest rate risk), credit risk and
policies on how to mitigate these risks are set out below

The management manages and monitors these exposures to

liquidity risk, and the

ensure appropriate measures are implemented on a timely
and effective manner.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

33. Financial Instruments (continued)

Financial risk management objectives and
policies (continued)

Market risk
Foreign currency risk

Foreign currency risk refers to the risk that movement
in foreign currency exchange rate will affect the Group’s
financial results and its cash flows. The Group has financial
assets at FVTPL of HK$10,023,000 (2018: payments for life
insurance policies of HK$8,613,000) which are denominated
in US$, but the management considers exposure on the
balances dominated in US$ in the group entity with HK$ as
functional currency is not considered significant as HK$ is
pegged to US$ under the pegged exchange system in Hong
Kong. The Group also has certain transactions denominated
in Renminbi, but management considers such exposure is
not significant to the consolidated financial statements
and hence no sensitivity analysis is presented. The Group
currently does not have a foreign currency hedging policy.
However, the management monitors foreign exchange
exposure and will consider hedging significant foreign
currency exposure should the need arises.

Interest rate risk

The Group is exposed to cash flow interest rate risk in
relation to interest bearing bank balances, pledged bank
deposits and bank borrowings at variable interest rates. The
Group’s cash flow interest rate risk is mainly concentrated
on the fluctuation of interest rates on Prime Rate and HIBOR
arising from its bank borrowings. The Group currently does
not have a policy on cash flow hedges of interest rate risk.
However, the management monitors interest rate exposure
and will consider hedging significant interest rate risk should
the need arise.
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33. Financial Instruments (continued)

Financial risk management objectives and
policies (continued)

Market risk (continued)
Interest rate risk (continued)
Sensitivity analysis

The sensitivity analysis below has been determined based
on the exposure to interest rates for interest bearing bank
borrowings, pledged bank deposits and bank balances at
variable interest rates at the end of the reporting period and
assumed that these balances outstanding at the end of each
reporting period were outstanding for the whole year.

Except for bank balances and deposits using 50 basis points
(2018: 50 basis points), if interest rates had been 100 basis
points (2018: 100 basis points) higher and all other variables
were held constant, the potential effect on post-tax loss
(2018: post-tax profit) for the year is as follows:

33. EMITA(E)

TREREEREREEGE)

™ 5 & b ()
A = E ks (&)
HRE D

UTHBEREASMHERBEHRZD
MERFFBRITER  DEFRITER
RRITHEBOMEERETE - WREK
REREMRH AN ZELEHR
BB FE W AR

R ER 1T 45 4 775X 50 B E 2 (2018
G BOfE Z ) Hh - s F == 3 0100 &
F 2 (20184 - 1001E E 25) mATH Efth
2REHERFTE  HEFABRBREE
BQROSF BRMEGRF MNBEYZE
T

2019 2018
20194 20184
HK$’000 HK$'000
THERT FHET
Increase in post-tax loss (2018: F N FR T2 BRI N
decrease in post-tax profit) for (20184F : B %1 12 i 7
the year ) 605 524
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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33. Financial Instruments (continued)

Financial risk management objectives and
policies (continued)

Credit risk and impairment assessment

The Group’s maximum exposure to credit risk in the event
of the counterparties failure to perform their obligations
as at 31 March 2019 in relation to each class of recognised
financial assets is the carrying amount of these assets as

stated in the consolidated statement of financial position.

The Group’s internal credit risk grading assessment
comprises the following categories:

Internal
credit rating

Description

) it

33.

SR T AE)

HZE2019F3A31BILEFE

TR EREEREREEGE)

FERRRERBEFNMG

AEBRRZHFR2019F3A31HK
EETEENRSBCEREREED

ELIBFAENES ZEEK

FEENGEAMBAN KA R

g -

AEEHAEERRFRFHEE

AT R

Trade
receivables/
contract assets
g5 EKWARE
BRNEE

Other financial
assets

HitemEE

R AR 1S B FF AR
Strong

58 5

Good

R

The counter-party is either listed company
or subsidiary under listed parent holding
company with strong financial background
based on published financial information
publicly available in the market, creditability
and with debt balance past due within
0-1 year, and is aged within its historical
settlement pattern. The debtor has very low
probability of default.
RHOHFAFR B ETRARERBER —H
FHEREBRARNNEBAR - RIET S ARE
RONMBERREER UBEREER  EKE
HREBRTE—FR - RRTEBEEFES -
BEBARBOAREEIEDE -

The counter-party is a private company with
debt balance past due within 0-1 year, and is
aged within its historical settlement pattern.
The debtor has low probability of default.
REGHFR—EUARA  EBEHRBHTE
—FR RRFGBEEEEN - BBAELD
AR IR -

Lifetime ECL - not
credit-impaired

2HEMEEER
—WE AR REE

Lifetime ECL — not

credit-impaired

EHBEMEEER
— I & 3R ORE
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33. Financial Instruments (continued)

Financial risk management objectives and
policies (continued)

Credit risk and impairment assessment
(continued)

Internal
credit rating  Description
REEERF AR M

33. M T A(&A)

TREREEREREEGE)

1= & & B & 0 (8 57 14 ()

Trade
receivables/
contract assets
EZEWRE
BREE

Other financial
assets

HitEMEE

Satisfactory The counter-party is a either listed company
or subsidiary under listed parent holding
company with strong financial background
based on published financial information
publicly available in the market, creditability
and with debt balance past due within 1-2
years. The debtor frequently repays after due
dates and the balance often aged beyond its
historical settlement pattern. The probability
of default is moderate.
RHOUFAFR—BETRRARENRBER —H
FHERSEARNMEAR - BIEMSAHMRE
RONMBERRGEE UBEREER  EK&
BB —ZMERN - EHALERIBEERE
B RRRRSCFEABELEERN - BHA
BEMERAD o

Watch list The counter-party is a private company with
debt balance past due within 1-2 years. The
debtor frequently repays after due dates and
the balance often aged beyond its historical
settlement pattern. The probability of default
is concern.

REGHFE—HUARA  EBHEHRBH =
MER - EHEALRERIHERER  EHRER
RRFEABEEERN - BN LS AH
JaE @

MIRE
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2HEMEEER
—WEHRRE

Lifetime ECL - not
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EHBEHMEERR
—WE LR REE

Lifetime ECL - not
credit-impaired

2HEMEEER
—WE AR RE

Lifetime ECL - not
credit-impaired

EHBEHMEERR
—WE R REE



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

mAEMBRRME

For the year ended 31 March 2019

33. Financial Instruments (continued)

Financial risk management objectives and
policies (continued)

Credit risk and impairment assessment

(continued)

33. M T A(&A)

HZE2019F3A31BILEFE

TR EREEREREEGE)

1= & & Bz & 0 (8 57 14 ()

Trade
Internal receivables/ Other financial
credit rating  Description contract assets assets
ESEWHRE
AEBEETR M BHEE Htt & mEE
Loss The counter-party has debt balance past due Lifetime ECL — Lifetime ECL —
for more than 2 years and there is evidence credit-impaired credit-impaired
indicating the debtor is credit-impaired. The
probability of default is high.
B REBFHNEBEABDPEMFUANL  TEIE 2HEHEES > HEHEE
BREKABLREERE ZEQAEMES - BE-CDHREE EBE-BLHREE
VERIE] B
Write-off There is evidence indicating that the counter- Amount is written ~ Amount is written
party is in severe financial difficulty and the off off
Group has no realistic prospect of recovery.
G ERBRTRIHFEXNBRENRN  AEEY SHECME T RRC M

EERUCIFKRIBEATHE ©
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For the year ended 31 March 2019
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33. Financial Instruments (continued)

Financial risk management objectives and
policies (continued)

Credit risk and impairment assessment
(continued)

Trade receivables and contract assets

In order to minimise the credit risk, the management of the
Group has delegated a team responsible for determination
of credit limits, credit approvals and other monitoring
procedures to ensure that follow-up action is taken to
recover overdue debts. The Group reviews the recoverable
amount of trade receivables and contract assets at the
end of the reporting period to ensure that adequate
impairment losses are made for irrecoverable amounts. In
addition, the Group applies the simplified approach on trade
receivables and contract assets to provide for ECL model
upon application of HKFRS 9, which permits the use of the
lifetime impairment allowance for trade receivables and
contract assets (2018: incurred loss model). In this regard,
the directors of the Company consider that the Group’s credit
risk is significantly reduced.

As at 31 March 2019, the Group has concentration of credit
risk on trade receivables amounting to HK$5,205,000
(2018: progress payments receivable of HK$7,413,000),
representing approximately 22% of the trade receivables
(2018: 42% of progress payments receivable), due from a
single customer (2018: a single customer). As at 31 March
2019, trade receivables from the five customers with the
most significant balances amounted to HK$19,959,000
(2018: progress payments receivable of HK$17,832,000)
representing approximately 85% (2018: 99%) of the total
trade receivables (2018: 99% of progress payments
receivable).
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For the year ended 31 March 2019
EHZE2019F3A3MH L F
33. Financial Instruments (continued) 33. e T AE (&)
Financial risk management objectives and SREREERZERBE(E)
policies (continued)
Credit risk and impairment assessment = & B B &R B &1 14 (&)
(continued)
Trade receivables and contract assets (continued) BEZRWRERENEE (E)
As at 31 March 2019, lifetime ECL is recognised for trade M20194F 383180 + A& B 5t = B K
receivables individually with a total aggregate gross carrying M 4 8 4 #£26,419,0008 T W & 5
amount of HK$26,419,000 of which HK$23,772,000 is J& W 7k I8 fE Bl BE R 2 B TR B S ‘%Eﬁ
assessed with loss rate ranging from 0.06% to 4.97% (not B EPITELREEREDNK
credit-impaired) and HK$2,647,000 is assessed with loss 23,772,000 T BB EFHE AN ?
rate of 100% (credit-impaired). 0.06% £4.97%  EHREERMER
X IA2,647,00078 TT H) 5 1B X B 5T 5 &
100% -°
The following table shows the movement in lifetime ECL TREIIBRBE(CERE S EWFKIE
that has been recognised for trade receivables under the ERRANEHEHEEBEZS:
simplified approach:
Lifetime ECL Lifetime ECL
(not credit-impaired) (credit-impaired) Total
2HEHEERFE 2HBHEERE
(YE|HEBEERE) (BEHBEEERE) et
HK$°000 HK$°000 HK$°000
FHET FHET FAET
At 31 March 2018 32018437318 -
- HKAS 39 ER gL
3958 - - -
Effect upon application ERZE & ﬁﬁﬁiﬁi
of HKFRS 9 (note 2) ERBORHTE
(B 3£ 2) 24 1,086 1,110
At 1 April 2018 MR2018F4H1H8 -
- HKFRS 9 BEREMGHRELER
EeL i 24 1,086 1,110
Impairment loss B RIRE
recognised &5 132 1,561 1,693
At 31 March 2019 R2019F3H31H -
- HKFRS 9 EEMBRE
R B O5E 156 2,647 2,803
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RAEMBBRRME

For the year ended 31 March 2019
EHZE2019F3A3BILFE

33. Financial Instruments (continued)

Financial risk management objectives and
policies (continued)

Credit risk and impairment assessment
(continued)

Trade receivables and contract assets (continued)

As at 31 March 2019, lifetime ECL is recognised for contract
assets individually with a total aggregate gross carrying
amount of HK$105,326,000 of which loss rates are ranging
from 0.06% to 21.62%.

The following table shows the movement in lifetime ECL
that has been recognised for contract assets individually
assessed under the simplified approach:

33.

TR I A&
TREREEREREEGE)

1= & & B & 0 (8 57 14 ()

BEZRURERESNEE (HA)

20193 A31H » NEB B R A E
& $£105,326,00078 T By & 40 & E & Bl
BREHBHEEESE BEENT
0.06% %= 21.62% °

TREF B FEEERE R F A S
E DR D B B AR
& :

Lifetime ECL
(not credit-impaired)
HEHEERA
(Y |HBEERME)
HK$'000
FHET
At 31 March 2018 — HKAS 39 MR20184F3A31H - BAE 3
ZE Bl Z5395% -
Effect upon application of HKFRS 9 (note 2) & & 78 Bf #5 3k & X B
FIE A & & (M sE2) 663
At 1 April 2018 — HKFRS 9 R2018F 4818 - BET
¥ E AR 5% 663
Impairment loss recognised EmREEEE oe
At 31 March 2019 — HKFRS 9 R2019%3A31H - HEF %
2R ZE 5% 762

The major customers of the Group are certain reputable
organisations. The management considers that the credit
risk is limited in this regard.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

33. Financial Instruments (continued)

Financial risk management objectives and
policies (continued)

Credit risk and impairment assessment
(continued)

Pledged bank deposits/bank balances

For the pledged bank deposit and bank balances, no
impairment allowance was made since the directors of the
Company consider the probability of default is negligible as
such amounts are receivable from or placed in banks with
high credit ratings assigned by international credit-rating
agencies.

Deposits

For deposits, no impairment allowance was made since the
directors of the Company consider the probability of default
is minimal after assessing the counter-parties’ financial
background and creditability.

Other receivables

In respect of other receivables, the 12m ECL is assessed
individually as at 1 April 2018 and 31 March 2019 and the
impairment allowance was provided by the Group based on
historical credit loss experience with these counterparties.

As at 31 March 2019, 12m ECL is recognised for other
receivables with an aggregate gross carrying amount of
HK$210,000 of which HK$3,000 is not credit-impaired.

mAEMBRRME

For the year ended 31 March 2019
EHZE2019F3A3MH L F

. £ T A (&)

TR EREEREREEGE)

1= & & Bz & 0 (8 57 14 ()

BRBRITERRITER

REERRITERRBITESMS -
HRABARAETERE T AR EE
REEFARBERTREETANR
T MARBEETARENNAREM
M RE ALY SRR ERE -

BE

REEME  ARAREZELIABER
HFNHBERREES jﬂéauz%k
#)H) R BEMEAR K - B L 3 A IR ORLE
B

H fth & 1 KR

H th & UZ FXIE 72201844 A1H %2019
FIANE @R ZEZ12EABEHEE
BRETE MASEEREZERS
HFENWBAEEBBLSETIRAER
1# o

M20194 38310 ' EMEmAEA L
EZ1O,OOO%EWE@THQ&AE(H¢
3,000 7T I % H 3R 15 B R (B ) 7 R
BMAEHREEESE -
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For the year ended 31 March 2019
EHZE2019F3A3BILFE

33. Financial Instruments (continued)

Financial risk management objectives and
policies (continued)

Credit risk and impairment assessment
(continued)

Other receivables (continued)

The following table shows the movement in 12m ECL that has
been recognised for other receivables under the simplified

33. T A(&A)
TREREERSERBR(A)

1= & & g &R B 7T b ()
Hfth B UK IR (48)

TREIIR & B OE 34 H b FE U5 IR
ERANREAENEESHER

approach:
12m ECL
(not credit-
impaired)
1218 A 78 18
EEBR
(3 & H IR
EE8RE)
HK$'000
FHET
At 31 March 2018 — HKAS 39 R2018F3A31H - BHF @ 5T %8|
F 395 -
Effect upon application of HKFRS 9 (note 2) ERBREMBHREENFIORNTE
(Fff 5 2) 1
At 1 April 2018 = HKFRS 9 R2018F 4810 - BB T %
5 R FE % 1
Impairment loss recognised EREEEE 2
At 31 March 2019 — HKFRS 9 R2019F3A31H - BHE 7%
5 AR B 9% 3
Liquidity risk REBE SRR

In management of the liquidity risk, the Group monitors
and maintains a level of cash and cash equivalents deemed
adequate by the management to finance the Group’s
operations and mitigate the effects of fluctuations in cash
flows. The Group relies on bank borrowings as significant
sources of liquidity. The management monitors the
utilisation of bank borrowings and ensures compliance with
loan covenants.

The following table details the Group’s remaining contractual
maturity for its non-derivative financial liabilities. The table
has been drawn up based on the undiscounted cash flows of
financial liabilities based on the earliest date on which the
Group can be required to pay.

Polyfair Holdings Limited ZE 3 R AR A A

RERRBESRRE AKRESE
SRS RASEEBYWHORF  XHHE
MBEEEERRITEAIKE - AR
NAEELERFESRBLIBEER
ERPNTE - AKRBERBRITER
ERIERDESKR EEEEE
RITERNERLBERERZAENE
MER -

TRANAKEEITESRBENF
HRANFHR - TRIOBRESBREEN
AMBERSRERE  UREAKH
ARERANFINREAHSHE -
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REMBHRME
For the year ended 31 March 2019
B Z2019F3A31RILFE
33. Financial Instruments (continued) 33. €@ T A (&)
Financial risk management objectives and TREREEAERBX(E)
policies (continued)
Liquidity risk (continued) REBE SRR (&)
The table includes both interest and principal cash flows. TREBENEREASBEESRE il fl
To the extent that interest flows are floating rate, the B2 B = - BRI IR 3R AR
undiscounted amount is derived from interest rate at the end HEHROFEFFE -
of the reporting period.
Liquidity and interest risk table RBEERANERRRE
Weighted
average  On demand Total
interest or less than 1-3 3 months 1-5 undiscounted Carrying
rate 1 month months to 1 year years  cash flows amounts
mEFY  RERE AFBES

HE AR 1EMER EREIF 1255 REHR REE
%  HKS$000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$000
% TRR TRR TRR TRR TRR TR

At 31 March 2019 R2019%3A31R

Trade and other BARHMER
payables AB N/A 7 A 16,807 4,793 4,549 1127 27,276 21,276
Bank borrowings BT 412 97,363 - - - 97,363 97,363
114,170 4,793 4,549 14127 124,639 124,639

At 31 March 2018 R2018%F3A31A

Trade and other BARHMER
payables AB N/A T8 B 31,402 6,702 770 2740 4,614 4,614
Bank borrowings BT 3.44 117192 = = = 17192 17192
148,594 6,702 770 2740 158,806 158,806
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Polyfair Holdings Limited ZE 3 R AR A A

33. Financial Instruments (continued) 33. €@ T A (&)
Financial risk management objectives and SREKREEBZERBEKE)
policies (continued)
Liquidity risk (continued) REBE SRR (&)
Liquidity and interest risk tables (continued) REE S RFEE R (E)
Bank borrowings with a repayment on demand clause are Mt 75 12 Z oK B B IR A IR ITIERETA
included in the “on demand or less than 1 month” time £ Bt BB o [RE k=118 A
band in the above maturity analysis. As at 31 March 2019, WIRMEB A - R2019F3A31H * &%
the aggregate carrying amounts of these bank borrowings FIRITIE A BRE{E A58 /97,363,000
amounted to HK$97,363,000 (2018: HK$117,192,000). Taking 78 70 (20184F : 117,192,000 JT) o &
into account the Group’s financial position, the directors REAEENTBMRRL  ARAFES
of the Company do not believe that it is probable that the REERATSTEERNBREERT
lenders will exercise their discretionary rights to demand MER - ARG EEFRR  BHART
immediate repayment. The directors of the Company believe & kR IR B 3R 15 5% P S O &1 &1 38 3K
that such bank borrowings will be repaid in accordance HEIEE  HFBHRTx:
with the scheduled repayment dates set out in the loan
agreements, details of which are set out in the table below:
Weighted
average  On demand Total
interest  or less than 1-3 3 months 1-5 undiscounted Carrying
rate 1 month months to 1 year years  cash flows amounts
nE¥Y  BEXD AFBES
% 1fBAR  1Z3ER  3MEREIE 125%  fiE8E REE
% HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
% Tin TAL Tin AL Tin AL
Bank borrowings RATEH
At 31 March 2019 R2019F3A318 412 46,925 13,086 38,298 3,039 101,348 97,363
At 31 March 2018 R2018%F3A318 3.44 59,817 12,378 41,733 7,249 1077 117,192
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EHZE2019F3A3MH L F

33. Financial Instruments (continued) 33. €@ T E (&)
Fair value measurement of financial EMIENAFEFE

instruments

TR AEEHEIEBMEET
FEFE TREHABETX
MEENRDFENTEZNER -

Some of the Group’s financial assets are measured at fair JiS
value at the end of the reporting period. The following table i3
gives information about how the fair values of these financial F%
assets are determined.

H> D)%%

Fair value as at

RTIBHNATE
31 March 31 March Fair value  Valuation technique and Significant
Financial assets 2019 2018 hierarchy  key inputs unobservable inputs
2019% 2018% fhERER EXFTRER
THEE 3318 3318  ATEER E@ARE AARE
Financial assets at FVTPL - HK$10,023,000 N/A Level 3 Discounted cash flow method ~ — Mortality rates ranging from
Payments for life insurance was used to capture 0.62% to 100%
policies the present value of the = Discount rates ranging from
expected future economic 1.94% to 2.08%
benefits that will flow into of
the Group.
BATEAARSMEREE - 100230008 AER  £=h ERANRRGRBAGHES - RTENT0.62%Z100%
ABRBRENR RAREEORREEN - TRENF1.94%E2.08%
wEHHRE-
Note: A slight increase in the discount rate would result in sk : TR ERM EABERASREBIR
significant decrease of the fair value of the payments for life BERNRHAFERERD  R2)
R o

insurance policies, and vice versa.

As detailed in note 2, the Group’s payments for life insurance
policies were reclassified as financial assets at FVTPL at
1 April 2018 upon initial application of HKFRS 9. These
financial assets are measured at fair value at each reporting
date. The fair values are measured using the valuation
techniques with significant unobservable inputs and hence
are classified as Level 3 of the fair value hierarchy.

There were no transfers between different levels of fair value
hierarchy in the current year.

Except as detailed in the above table, the directors of the
Company consider that the carrying amounts of financial
assets and financial liabilities recorded at amortised cost
in the consolidated financial statements approximate their
fair values. The fair values of financial assets and financial
liabilities at amortised cost are determined in accordance
with generally accepted pricing models based on the
discounted cash flow analysis.

BANM FE2FT R RE X ERE B
R EAERIFEIRE%E - AEBHASZR
R B R R2018FE4A1BEH H 48
BEANFEFAEBENESHEE - %
EeMEERSHEBHIERAFER
E- AFENFEREEARTAEHREG
ABENHEIAFE  WHOEAA
FEBHEZLH -

RAFEE - N
T -

NS SRR A L i

@L%%# L &SN RRABEFR
fAWﬁﬁ%W&%%W$A%M
TREERCHABRMNERAERAF

BE  REEXATENEREE
REBBENAFEERMRESR

ENMERAREERAETE -
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For the year ended 31 March 2019
EHZE2019F3A3BILFE

33. Financial Instruments (continued)

Reconciliation of Level 3 measurement of
financial assets

33. EMITA(E)
TRHEEF=-ARTENHRK

Payments
for life
insurance
policies
ASRE
REMNRK
HK$'000
FHET
At 31 March 2018 7201843 H31H 8,613
Fair value loss recognised from Level 3 BRERE BTG ®EEL
remeasurement at 1 April 2018 upon initial F 9% 1% 112018F 4 A18
application of HKFRS 9 AE=REMNTEMRRD
NEEERE (225)
At 1 April 2018 (restated) M2018F4A18 (&%) 8,388
Fair value gain recognised in profit or loss REZAERHD A FERZ 1,635
At 31 March 2019 M 2019438318 10,023

The unrealised gain of HK$1,635,000 relating to financial
assets that are measured at fair value for the year ended 31
March 2019 is included in other income, gains and losses.

Fair value measurements and valuation
processes

In estimating the fair value of an asset, the Group uses
market-observable data to the extent it is available. Where
Level 1 inputs are not available, the Group engages third
party qualified valuer to perform the valuation. The Group
works closely with the qualified external valuers to establish
the appropriate valuation techniques and inputs to the
model. The management reports the valuation findings to
the board of directors of the Company annually to explain
the cause of fluctuations in the fair value of the assets and
liabilities.

Information about the valuation techniques and inputs used
in determining the fair value of the asset are disclosed
above.

Polyfair Holdings Limited ZE 3 R AR A A

HE2019F3A3MBHIEFEREBZA
FTHFENSREENRER K=
1,635,000 L&t A E At Uz A - Yz &
& 18 o

AV EFERMGERRF

REFEENRAFER  AEEER
AESHNTIZABRENE - B EAR
BE—RAABER XEEZES
ZHRAERGEMETHE - AKH
HeERIIEEEME S E - AE
VEEGENERBERGARE - B
BESFRAANAEFTEREMER
R UFHRAEEREBBERAFEKDH
FRE o

pu]

ARETEEAFENGBES ERE
ABEBERNEMR EXHKE -
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35.

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

Performance Guarantees

As at 31 March 2019, surety bonds of an aggregate balance
of HK$10,245,000 (2018: HK$8,160,000) were given by a
bank in favour of the Group’s customers as security for the
performance and observance of the Group’s obligations under
the construction contracts entered into between the Group
and the customers. If the Group fails to provide satisfactory
performance to the customers to whom the performance
guarantees have been given, such customers may demand
the bank to pay to them the sum or sum stipulated in
such demand. The Group will become liable to compensate
such bank accordingly. The performance guarantees will
be released upon completion of the contract works. The
performance guarantees were granted under letters of
guarantees of the Group and were secured by pledged bank
deposits of HK$25,108,000 (2018: HK$25,000,000) (notes 21
and 29), trade receivables of HK$10,410,000 (2018: progress
payments receivable of HK$11,208,000) and contract assets
of HK$3,951,000 (2018: retention money receivables of
HK$12,826,000) (notes 18 and 29).

As at 31 March 2019, these surety bonds were also secured
by pledges of certain properties held by a director of the
Company and companies controlled by a director of the
Company or his close family members as disclosed in note
35. As at 31 March 2018, no such properties were pledged
to secure the surety bonds.

The management of Group does not consider it is probable
that a claim will be made against the Group in respect of the
above performance guarantee.

Related Party Transactions

The Group had entered into the following related party
transactions:

34.

35.

mAEMBRRME

For the year ended 31 March 2019
EHZE2019F3A3MH L F

B %9 #& %

MR2019F3A31H » — M R 1T A KR &
ERNEFAKlZ AREEEEREG L
10,245,000 7T (20184F : 8,160,000
TC) c fEAAREB BT BT A S B H
ZEBEPIINMNEEAANNETNE
R MAEBREMNESBEHNERDY
EERHESAMEMNEKRE  BERFA
BRRTRE SN RIBEREBEKFTE
BARZIE - AEEBEEERIEEEE
IRITIEHAE - BHERBEREHT
RETREFER BLHERDIBERNSE
B EHER KR - I A 25,108,000/ 7T
(20184F : 25,000,000 7T) K E & #$R
TR (MT5E21%29) * 10,410,0007 7T
B Z 5 e Uk FIE (20184F : 11,208,000
78 JC B JE UR 3 E 7X) 53,951,000 JT
B & # & E (20184 : 12,826,000/ 7T
B FE AR B8 2 ) (KT sE18 %2 29) fE#E 1R o

R2019F3A31H » ZZFEMEERINA
AR —HEENAHARA —RBREESK
ERBESNAREETMENED
HHVE¥E (R (20 B E35FT 4 &) - 122018
F3A3MH  ZEMWENELDIRIERE
HERMER -

AEENEEERS AEETE5
PBEOERBHRE -

B SR 5
AEBETTUTHEIXS:

(@)  Name of related party Nature of transaction 2019 2018
BHEER/HE x5HE 20194 20184
HK$°000 HK$'000
TER TAT
Polyfaith Holdings Limited* Commission fee paid in respect of
pledge of properties - 91
EESEERAA" RNEERIAAE
Polynet Development Limited* Commission fee paid in respect of
pledge of properties - 64
BEXERARLDA RNEERAIARE
Polykind Far East Limited* Commission fee paid in respect of
pledge of properties - 186
ENEERAERAA RNEERARE
Mr. Yu Commission fee paid in respect of
pledge of properties - 91
REHE RMEBERIAAE
* The above related companies are controlled by a director of * LA AT mAATEEFLE

the Company, Mr. Chow, or his close family members.

X H R R o
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EHZE2019F3A3BILFE

35. Related Party Transactions (continued)

35.

(b) As at 31 March 2019, properties held by a director of
the Company and companies controlled by a director
of the Company or his close family members were

pledged to secure bank loans of HK$56,892,0
of total secured bank loans of HK$84,761,000

00 out
as set

out in note 25. These properties were also pledged to
secure surety bonds of HK$10,245,000 given by bank

as at 31 March 2019 as disclosed in note 34.

As at 31 March 2018, no such properties were pledged

for above bank loans and surety bonds.

The remuneration of key management personnel who are the
directors of the Company during the year was disclosed in

note 10.

36. Particulars Of Subsidiaries

36.

Particulars of the subsidiaries of the Company as at 31

March 2019 and 31 March 2018, are as follows:

General information of subsidiaries

Place and the date

Issued and fully

L X5 (&)

(b) 2019438318 * AR & —
EELHARA —KESHE
FEEZHNRAREE TYWE
2Z # - /584,761,000 T A
3R SR 17 B FX 48 58 7R 56,892,000
BILIRITE R ER G RH T
) WEMENEER  1EA
MR201943A31H B R 171 &9
10,245,000 JT & M & 1R A £ R
(OB 5E34PT &) o

MR2018F3A31H » WEZ E W
ERAERTEREEEMRESE -

BEALRREENIZEEABRNSE
P EY 5 BN BT SE 103 BR -

f I

\|

9 23 ) 31

AR A T A201963H31H k201843 A
NEMNBARMFEBOT

MEAR—REHR

Equity interest

of incorporation/  Place of paid capital/ attributable to the Company
Name of subsidiary establishment operation registered cigpital as at 31 March Principal activity
BRTR
HtAL/ BRRE/ WIANAAAT
WEAREH RIGHRAH Rews T EA EhRAER TEXH
2019 2018
20195 20185
Directly held:
EERE:
Polyfair BVI BV Hong Kong US$1 100% 100% Investment holding
8 June 2017
EX%BY) ABRAES &E (EY 100% 100% REER
20175 6A8H
Indirectly held:
FERE:
Polyfair HK Hong Kong Hong Kong HK$3,000,000 100% 100%  Project management
9 February 2006 services for fagade
and installation of
curtain wall systems
and investment
holding
R E &t B 3,000,000/ 1t 100% 100% SMEEBERRER
200652 A9H BRAGREIAR
REAR
Shenzhen Polyfair PRC PRC HK$1,000,000 100% 100% Design of facade
Curtainwall Technology 9 January 2017 systems
Company Limited (note)
AEEBRHRERRA P& hE 1,000,000/ 1t 100% 100% IMEZR B RS
(Bt &) 201761798

Polyfair Holdings Limited ZE 3 R AR A A
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Particulars Of Subsidiaries (continued) 36. B AR5 (&)

Note: Shenzhen Polyfair Curtainwall Technology Company Limited MeE: RINBREBREER AR IR
is registered under the law of the PRC as foreign investment REUEZAMAIERERE - %
enterprise. The official name of the entity is in Chinese. The BEENEFRBEARRXEN - HX
English name is for identification purpose only. HIBEMRER -

None of the subsidiaries had issued any debt securities at RER - M8 R A8 & BATEMER

the end of the year. R 55 o

Reconciliation of Liabilities Arising From 37 MEZBTELERENY R

Financing Activities

The table below details changes in the Group’s liabilities T%Ei,%ﬁﬁﬂ?%%ﬁﬁ%@)ﬁﬁéi

arising from financing activities. Liabilities arising from RENEY  RAZHFIELNERE

financing activities are those for which cash flows were, ﬁiﬁ@7ﬁ§%m§k$5ﬂ%§é$%m
or future cash flows will be, classified in the Group’s RERERERNDERBEAEYR
consolidated statement of cash flows from financing ERENEME -

activities.

Amount
Accrued Bank due to a
issue costs borrowings director
st P& 1S
BT A R 1T & ™K EENRE
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FHETT FHET

(note 25)

(Hf 7£25)
At 1 April 2017 R2017F4R18 61 41,899 7,055
Financing cash flows MERSRE (8,762) 72,259 (7,055)
Issue costs accrued JE 5T B AT RR AR 9,186 = =
Finance costs accrued FE 5t Bt & B AR = 3,034 =
At 31 March 2018 M20184F3H318 485 117,192 -
Financing cash flows MERSRE (485) (25,032) -
Finance costs accrued & 51 @ & K AN - 5,203 -
At 31 March 2019 M 201943 A31H8 - 97,363 -
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For the year ended 31 March 2019
EHZE2019F3A3BILFE

38. Statement of Financial Position and 38. ZATIWH B R AR EEE
Reserves of The Company

Information about the statement of financial position of the R R A RS B AR A B A5 AR OB R A R
Company at the end of the reporting period includes: BIE:
2019 2018
20194 20184
HK$°000 HK$’000
THET FHET
Non-current asset EMEE E
Investment in a subsidiary R—EHNBARMNIEE
(note a) (Fft 5t a) 68,536 68,536
Current assets B & E
Prepayments, deposits and ERNRKE ek
other receivables H b & I 5RIR 272 236
Amount due from a subsidiary JE W — R BfY /&8 & R SR 1B
(note b) (Mt 3 b) 2,522 3,853
Bank balances R1T 4 A 69 20
2,863 4,109
Current liability mEBERE
Amount due to a subsidiary FES — KB A R 3R E 1,470 =
Net current assets mENE EFE 1,393 4,109
Net assets BEFE 69,929 72,645
Capital and reserves BN K
Share capital N 8,000 8,000
Reserves f# 8 61,929 64,645
Total equity 7 = 69,929 72,645

178 Polyfair Holdings Limited 2 8 #2 f3 /5 fR A =)
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For the year ended 31 March 2019
HZE2019F3ANBILFE

38. Statement of Financial Position and 38. XA AR BERARREEE

Reserves of The Company (continued) (#&)
Movement of the reserves of the Company is as follows: RAFIEESBOT :
Share Other Capital Accumulated
premium reserve reserve losses Total
IR 175 B Hit % IR A 1 R EE a5t
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TAEL AL THEL THEL AL
(note ¢)
(KizEc)
At 25 May 2017 R2017%5A25H - - - - -
Effect of Reorganisation ~ EAKMFE = 3,000 35,536 = 38,536
Issue of new shares BITHRM 54,000 = = = 54,000
Capitalisation issue B ELT (6,000) = = = (6,000)
Share issuance costs RO BITHA (10,085) = = = (10,085)
Loss for the period R EE - - - (11,806) (11,806)
At 31 March 2018 20183 A31H 37,915 3,000 35,536 (11,806) 64,645
Loss for the year ENER = = = (2,716) (2,716)
At 31 March 2019 R2019563A31H 37,915 3,000 35,536 (14,522) 61,929

Notes: Bt 5% -

&, During the year ended 31 March 2018, an amount due from a. MREZE2018F3A31HILFE B
a subsidiary of HK$30,000,000 was waived by the Company — &1} BB A 7] 3 7830,000,0007% JT &
and was considered as deemed investment in the subsidiary. KARFHRE  RIERZHBARE

BE -

b.  The amount due from a subsidiary is unsecured, interest- b. ER—FEMNBARRIEREER -
free, and repayable on demand. R BERBREREER -

G Capital reserve represented the difference between the c. BAFHBEBEEEEREENNRK
carrying amount of the equity of Polyfair HK prior to the AEMEREEEBRBEEHDE
Reorganisation and the issued share capital of Polyfair HK TRAZHEHZEEE -

pursuant to the Reorganisation.
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Financial Summary

MBREBE

RESULTS &
For the four years ended 31 March 2016, 2017, 2018 and 2019 B £2016%F 20174 - 20184 K& 201943 H
318 1k 1A F E
2019 2018 2017 2016
20194 20184 20175 20164
HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$000
FTHET FET FET FET
Revenue Wz 215,778 271,841 109,607 172,029
(Loss) profit before taxation B A5 AT (&5 18) Y& Al (6,883) 8,084 9,467 19,691
Taxation sl 302 (8,915) (2,285) (3,266)
(Loss) profit for the year FREE) R (6,581) 4,169 7,182 16,425
Other comprehensive (expense) FREMEE (F)
income for the year WA (58) 100 = =
(Loss) profit and total FA(EE)EF &
comprehensive (expense) 2E(A)BA
income for the year BB (6,639) 4,269 7,182 16,425
ASSETS AND LIABILITIES EEREE
At 31 March M3A31H
2019 2018 2017 2016
20194 20184 20174 20164
HK$’000 HK$°000 HK$°000 HK$°000
FExT FAT FAT FAT
Total assets BE®E 191,241 235,742 90,404 64,625
Total liabilities BEME (129,788) (165,944) (70,790) (52,193)
Net assets BEFE 61,453 69,798 19,614 12,432
Note: B 5% -
The summary above does not form part of the audited consolidated LB ET AN ERREZGES T BHRERE — I
financial statements. S o

No consolidated financial statements of the Group for the years ended 31

March 2015 have been published.

The financial information for the years ended 31 March 2017 and 2016 were
extracted from the prospectus of the Company dated 31 January 2018.

Such summary was prepared as if the current structure of the Group had
been in existence throughout these financial years and is presented on

BHBHE -

7N 62 B £ T 2 £ 2015938318 It F E &R

HE2017F %2016 FE3A31H IEFER B EE R T

Mk BEANRARHE A20185F1 ATHMW AR EZIE -

the basis as set out in note 1B to the consolidated financial statements. HEERZT o

Polyfair Holdings Limited ZE 3 R AR A A

ERAMENERAEERTRBENZSENREE
—HEHEEMGEE LG MBERRMZIBA



POLYFAIR

Polyfair Holdings Limited
BREZERERLT



	Cover
	Inside Front Cover 
	Contents
	Corporate Information
	Chairman's Statement
	Management Discussion and Analysis
	Biographical Details of Directors and Senior Management
	Corporate Governance Report
	Environmental, Social and Governance Report
	Directors' Report
	Independent Auditor's Report
	Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss and Other Comprehensive Income
	Consolidated Statement of Financial Position
	Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity
	Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows
	Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
	Financial Summary
	Back Cover

